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Board of Directors’ report

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director of Nordea 
Hypotek AB (publ) (corp. id no. 556091-5448), hereby present 
the Annual Report for 2025. The Company is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Nordea Bank Abp (corp. id no. 2858394-9).
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5 year overview
Income statement

SEKm 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

Net interest income 4,856 5,245 4,498 7,048 7,514

Net fee and commission income -227 -209 -141 -63 -62

Net result from items at fair value 51 118 59 246 -45

Total operating income 4,680 5,154 4,415 7,231 7,407

General administrative expenses:

  - Staff costs -39 -42 -35 -37 -36

  - Other expenses -1,864 -2,206 -2,409 -4,300 -4,089

  Regulatory fee1 -495 -481 -461 -425 -246

Total operating expenses -2,398 -2,729 -2,905 -4,762 -4,371

Profit before loan losses 2,282 2,425 1,510 2,469 3,036

Net loan losses 86 -129 -65 -120 -10

Operating profit 2,368 2,296 1,445 2,349 3,026

Income tax expense -488 -492 -267 -490 -630

Net profit for the year 1,880 1,804 1,178 1,859 2,396

1)  In 2022 Nordea began presenting resolution fees and the Swedish bank tax separately under the new line item “Regulatory fees” in the income statement. The earlier policy was to 
present similar expenses in the line item “Other expenses”. The new presentation provides a more transparent view of Nordea’s underlying performance and the impact of regulatory 
fees. Resolution fees will continue to be recognised in full in the first quarter, while the Swedish bank tax will be amortised linearly over the course of the year. Comparative figures 
have been restated accordingly.

Balance sheet

SEKm 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

Assets

Loans to credit institutions  11,933 8,723 10,788 4,304 6,554

Loans to the public  782,015 739,158 716,540 700,282 664,615

Interest-bearing securities  19,358 20,049 19,858 20,002 21,053

Derivatives  4,724 5,634 10,599 15,185 4,126

Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk  242 -316 -3,674 -10,852 -1,157

Deferred tax assets  1 1 – – 42

Current tax assets  92 68 2 16 380

Other assets  158 1,162 2,028 1,381 739

Prepaid expenses and accrued income  0 1 20 63 106

Total assets  818,523 774,480 756,161 730,381 696,458

Liabilities 

Deposits by credit institutions  381,253 321,845 293,904 294,980 274,306

Debt securities in issue  397,157 409,927 416,110 382,084 386,135

Derivatives  2,698 4,311 8,082 14,792 1,481

Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk1 – – – – –

Current tax liabilities  –  37 36 -1 –

Other liabilities  2,697 3,425 3,210 3,741 4,007

Accrued expenses and prepaid income  121 341 493 734 618

Deferred tax liabilities  –  – – 3 –

Provisions  6 5 4 8 11

Subordinated liabilities1  –  – 1,651 1,650 1,650

Equity  34,590 34,589 32,671 32,390 28,250

Total liabilities and equity  818,523 774,480 756,161 730,381 696,458

1) �� As of 2022 Nordea presents the fair value changes of hedged items under fair value hedge accounting at micro level in the same balance sheet line item as hedged items instead of, 
as earlier, in the balance sheet line item “Fair value changes of hedged items in hedges of interest rate risk”. Fair value changes of hedged items under fair value hedge accounting at 
macro level are, as earlier, presented on a separate balance sheet item , which from 2022 has been renamed from “Fair value changes of hedged items in hedges of interest rate risk” 
to “Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk”. The comparison figure for 2021 in the table above has been restated accordingly. 			
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Ratios and key figures

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

Return on average shareholders equity, %1  5.4 5.4 3.6 6.3 8.4

Return on assets, %  0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3

Investment margin, %  0.61 0.69 0.60 0.97 1.10

Cost/income ratio, %1  51.2 53.0 65.8 65.8 59.0

Risk-weighted exposure amount, SEKm  180,509 175,114 186,679 182,295 180,554

Capital base, SEKm  34,148 34,338 34,093 34,063 29,962

Total capital ratio, %  18.9 19.6 18.3 18.7 16.6

Tier 1 capital ratio, %  18.9 19.6 17.3 17.7 15.7

Average number of employees (recalculated to FTEs)  22 22 23 24 24

1) � In Sweden, a bank tax was introduced on 1 January 2022 in Sweden, which Nordea Hypotek is covered by. This tax has increased operating costs by SEK 186m, which has resulted in 
a higher K/I ratio in 2022 compared to 2021. Furthermore, this tax has also negatively affected the return on equity in 2022 compared to 2021.

Definitions

Return on average shareholders equity Net profit for the year as percentage of equity, quarterly average.

Return on assets Net profit for the year as a percentage of total assets at end of the year.

Investment margin Net interest income as a percentage of average total assets, monthly average.

Cost/income ratio Total operating expenses divided by total operating income

Risk-weighted amount Total assets as shown in balance sheet and off-balance-sheet items valued on the basis of credit 
and market risks in accordance with regulations governing capital adequacy.

Capital base The capital base consitutes the numerator in calculating the capital ratio. It consists of the sum of 
tier 1 capital (equity) and supplementary capital (subordinated debenture loans).

Total capital ratio Capital base as a percentage of risk-weighted amounts.

Tier 1 capital ratio Tier 1 capital as a percentage of risk-weighted amounts.
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Alternative Performance Measures

SEKm 2025 2024

Average equity, SEKm 35,101 33,329

Net profit attributable to shareholders (annualised); SEKm 1,880 1,804

Return on average shareholders equity, % 5.4 5.4

Total operating income, Tsek 4,679,881 5,154,455

Total operating expenses, Tsek -2,397,647 -2,729,322

Cost/income ratio, % 51.2 53.0

Net loan losses, Tsek 85,825 -129,003

Divide with loans to the public,Tsek 782,015,454 739,157,568

Loan loss ratio, bps -1.1 1.7

Impaired loans (+) Tsek 1,169,842 1,190,628

Divide with loans before allowances, Tsek 794,285,896 748,324,819

Impairment rate (stage 3), gross, bps 14.7 15.9

Impaired loans (+) Tsek 1,169,842 1,190,628

Deduct allowances for individually assessed impaired loans, Tsek -112,770 -140,443

Impaired loans after allowances, Tsek 1,057,073 1,050,185

Divide with loans before allowances, Tsek 794,285,896 748,324,819

Impairment rate (stage 3), net, bps 13.3 14.0

Total allowances, Tsek -337,216 -444,439

Divide with loans before allowances, Tsek 794,285,896 748,324,819

Total allowance ratio (stage 1, 2 and 3), bps 4.2 5.9

Allowances for individually assessed impaired loans, Tsek -112,770 -140,443

Divide with impaired loans (+), Tsek 1,169,842 1,190,628

Allowances in relation to impaired loans (stage 3), %  9.6 11.8

CET 1 capital 34.1 34.3

Risk exposure amount, SEKbn 180.5 175.1

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio %  18.9 19.6

Tier 1 capital, SEKbn 34.1 34.3

Risk exposure amount, SEKbn 180.5 175.1

Tier 1 capital ratio %  18.9 19.6

Total Own funds 34.1 34.3

Risk exposure amount, SEKbn 180.5 175.1

Total capital ratio %  18.9 19.6
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Alternative Performance Measures – Definitions
Nordea Hypotek’s Alternative Performance Measures 
(APMs) are presented to provide users of Nordea Hypotek’s 
financial reporting with relevant information and tools to be 
able to establish a view on Nordea Hypotek’s performance. 
APMs on capital adequacy are disclosed to give the user a 
view on Nordea Hypotek’s balance between capital and risk, 
while lending related APMs are disclosed to provide infor-
mation on Nordea Hypotek’s provisions in relation to credit 

risk. Return on equity (RoE) is intended to provide the user of 
financial statements with relevant information on Nordea 
Hypotek’s performance in relation to investment measure-
ment. The cost/income (C/I) ratio is finally disclosed to pro-
vide the user with information on the correlation between 
income and expense. The development compared with ear-
lier periods is, in order to better reflect the underlying busi-
ness performance, generally presented in local currencies.

Return on average shareholders equity Net profit for the year as percentage of equity, quarterly average.

Cost/income ratio Total operating expenses divided by total operating income.

Loan loss ratio (IFRS 9) Net loan losses (annualised) divided by quarterly closing balance of loans to the public (lending) 
measured at amortised cost.

Impairment rate (Stage 3), gross (IFRS 9) Impaired loans (Stage 3) before allowances divided by total loans measured at amortised cost 
before allowances.

Impairment rate (Stage 3), net (IFRS 9) Impaired loans (Stage 3) after allowances divided by total loans measured at amortised cost 
before allowances.

Total allowance ratio (Stage 1, 2 and 3) (IFRS 9) Total allowances divided by total loans measured at amortised cost before allowances.

Allowances in relation to credit impaired loans 
(stage 3) (IFRS 9)

Allowances for impaired loans (stage 3) divided by impaired loans measured at amortised cost 
(stage 3) before allowances.

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio The CET 1 ratio is total CET1 Capital divided by total Risk Exposure Amount calculated in 
accordance to the requirements in the CRR. 

Tier 1 capital ratio Tier 1 ratio is Tier 1 capital as a percentage of risk-weighted amounts. Tier 1 Capital consist of 
both CET 1 capital and Additional Tier 1 capital.

Total capital ratio Total capital ratio is total own funds divided by total Risk Exposure Amount. Total own funds is 
the sum of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital. 
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Operations in 2025
Operations
The Company operates in the Swedish market and grants 
loans, primarily long-term in nature, to households, sole busi-
ness proprietors, municipalities and other legal entities 
through the Parent Bank’s distribution network. The primary 
purpose of the lending is to finance properties, ten-
ant-owned apartments, condominiums, agriculture and for-
estry, and municipal operations. The key emphasis is on 
financing homes. The loans are secured mainly through liens 
on residential properties and tenant-owned apartments, or 
through municipal guarantees.

In 2025, the Swedish economy featured a continued reces-
sion with weak GDP growth, but with clear signs of improve-
ment in the latter part of the year. The inflation rate has sta-
bilised and is now close to the Riksbank’s target, and the pol-
icy rate has been gradually adjusted downwards from 
previous peak levels, with several cuts implemented during 
year from 2.75% to 1.75%. This has contributed to improved 
purchasing power for households and a recovery in the 
housing market. Activity has increased, reflected in the rise 
in loan promises and transaction volumes during the year.

The Swedish mortgage market grew by SEK 116bn during 
the year, corresponding to 2.8%. Nordea Hypotek has per-
formed very well and strengthened its position in the market. 
The market share for mortgages increased to 14.07% at year-
end (13.83) , which is a significant improvement compared to 
the previous year and means that Nordea has grown the 
most out of all participants in the Swedish mortgage market 
during the year. Nordea Hypotek’s total lending to the public 
at the end of the year amounted to SEK 782bn – an increase 
of 5.8%, driven by both the household and corporate 
segments.

An important milestone in the autumn was the relaunch of 
the interest-rate cap product, which provides customers with 
protection against rising interest rates, while enabling them 
to benefit from any rate cuts at the same time. The product 
has been positively received by customers and strengthens 
our mortgage offering with another flexible rate-fixing 
option.

The Company’s capital position remains very strong with a 
CET 1 ratio and a total capital ratio at the end of the year of 
18.9% (19.6), which comfortably exceeds regulatory require-
ments. Credit quality in the loan portfolio remains good. 
During the year, realised loan losses were SEK -21m (-9), and 
net loan losses, including the reversal of allowances, 
amounted to a positive SEK 86m (-129). 

In summary, 2025 has been a year of recovery and growth 
for Nordea Hypotek. The Company has strengthened its mar-
ket position, launched new innovative products and contin-
ued to deliver secure financing to customers. The Company 
is well equipped for the future with strong own funds, high 
credit quality and a competitive offering.

The housing market in Sweden
In 2025, house prices rose 0.3% according to Valueguard’s 
HOXSWE price index. The year started off with a price 
increase in the first three months, although prices subse-
quently fell back in the spring and summer. At 30 June, the 
index was up by 0.8% compared with the end of 2024. 
During the summer, price progression weakened further 
before prices recovered somewhat in the autumn and ended 
the year up slightly. The price level was unchanged for 
houses (0.0%), while apartment prices increased by 0.8% for 
FY 2025.

Profit performance for FY 2025 compared with FY 2024 
Operating profit amounted to SEK 2,368m (2,296), which is 
an increase of 3% from the previous year. In a comparison 
with the previous year, particular account should be taken of 
the following items affecting the result:
•	 Net interest income amounted to SEK 4,856m (5,245) – a 

decline of 7%. The decrease is mainly explained by lower 
margins as a result of repricing effects and price pressure 
on the market. Higher lending volumes offset the decrease 
slightly and have a positive effect on net interest income.

•	 Net result from items at fair value amounted to SEK 51m 
(118) at the end of the year. The item is affected by the 
repurchase of issued bonds entered at amortised cost, 
early redemption charges and the ineffective portion of 
portfolio hedges.

•	 Net commission income decreased by SEK 19m, amounting 
to SEK -227m (-209) at the end of the year. 

•	 Operating expenses at the end of the year were SEK 
-2,398m (-2,729) – a decline of SEK 332m or 12% compared 
to 2024. This is mainly due to a decrease in distribution and 
selling expenses to the parent company. Otherwise, regula-
tory fees have increased by SEK 15m, the driving factor 
being the Riksbank’s new deposit requirement. As of 2025, 
Swedish banks provide free deposits to the Riksbank and 
the cost of this is entered under regulatory fees. 

•	 Loan losses improved by SEK 215m from SEK -129m in 2024 
to SEK 86m in 2025, driven by improved credit quality in 
the portfolio during the year.

•	 Return on equity after tax was unchanged at 5.4% (5.4). 
Reduced costs and improved loan losses were positive fac-
tors compared with the previous year, which were offset by 
poorer net interest income, among other factors. 

Performance of lending for FY 2025 
compared with FY 2024
Lending to the public increased during the year by 5.8% 
(3.2), amounting at the end of the year to SEK 782,015m 
(739,158). For corporate and public-sector lending, the 
increase as a percentage was particularly high at 10.5% (SEK 
15,523m), and 4.6% (SEK 27,335m) for private individuals. 
Lending is spread out across Sweden, with Greater 
Stockholm being the largest region at 37.5% followed by 
West Sweden at 15.7% and Greater Gothenburg at 13.7%.

Distribution of the loan portfolio
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Geographical distribution of loans in the covered pool
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Impaired loans and loan losses
Impaired loans, gross, amounted to SEK 1,170m (1,191). The 
volume of impaired loans remained stable during the year 
and the proportion of late payments also remained stable at 
a slightly reduced level. During the year, net loan losses were 
SEK +86m (-129), mainly attributable to decreased loan pro-
visions compared with the prior year. Realised loan losses 
increased by SEK 12m in 2025 and amounted to SEK -21m 
(-9) at the end of the year, corresponding to 0.003% of the 
lending portfolio. Developments are mainly explained by 
effects from previous years’ inflation and interest rates, 
which caused a higher proportion of late payments. Realised 
loan losses are at a very low level relative to the size of the 
portfolio. 

Hypotek continues to have a guarantee agreement with 
Nordea Bank Abp, entered into in 2024, containing credit 
cover for a benchmark portfolio of mortgages in a nominal 
amount of SEK 47bn at the end of 2025.

The total loan provision has decreased, amounting at the 
end of the year to SEK 344m (450).

Net loan losses in relation to lending
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Provisions as judged by management
The provisions, as judged by management, amounted to SEK 
229m at 31 December 2025 (288). The Company holds two 
reserves – a cyclical reserve because the Company sees an 
elevated risk of increased loan losses that have not yet been 
captured by the IFRS 9 models, and a structural reserve to 
cover identified development needs in the IFRS 9 models. 
The cyclical reserve has been reduced during the year as a 
result of improved economic activity and a reduced propor-
tion of customers with late payments.

Foreign exchange risk
The Company’s policy is to hedge foreign exchange risk 
exposure. Significant foreign exchange exposures are 
hedged through FX swaps.

Funding
In 2025, all long-term market funding was in the form of cov-
ered bonds. A covered bond is a funding instrument, regu-
lated under the Covered Bonds (Issuance) Act (SFS 
2003:1223), which gives investors special precedence in the 
event of the borrower’s bankruptcy. Covered bonds may only 
be issued upon special permission from the Swedish FSA 
and on the basis of high-quality assets. Covered bonds and 
assigned credit ratings provide the Company with access to 
a broader base of funding sources. Besides this funding, the 
Company also has long-term MREL loans. 

In 2025, the Company issued bonds with a nominal value 
of SEK 75bn (78). Issuances take place regularly in existing 
and new series, with the majority being benchmark bonds. In 
2025 the Company held agreements with five banks regard-
ing distribution of the bonds in the benchmark series. 
Covered bonds at year-end amounted to a nominal value of 
SEK 344bn (359). In addition, the Company had outstanding 
MREL loans of SEK 50bn (53). Besides long-term funding as 
described above, the Company regularly arranged short-
term funding with the Parent Company. At the end of the 
year, such funding was SEK 381bn (322).

In 2025, the Company issued its fourth green covered 
bond of SEK 7bn and now has an outstanding volume total-
ling SEK 25bn. Green covered bonds form part of Nordea 
Hypotek’s long-term funding and Nordea Hypotek intends to 
use the issue proceeds from the bond to directly or indirectly 
finance or refinance green assets in accordance with the 
Nordea Green Funding Framework, March 2025, published at 
www.nordea.com/en/investors/debt-and-rating/
sustainable-funding. 

Rating
Since June 2006, Nordea Hypotek has been rated Aaa by 
Moody’s Investor Service for the covered bonds that make 
up the Company’s main long-term funding. Since 1 April 
2020, Nordea Hypotek has only had Moody’s rating on the 
Company’s bond programme for covered bonds.

Counterparty risk and exposures
In total, risk-weighted assets for counterparty risk, which is 
entirely in relation to the Parent Company, were SEK 1,110m 
(1,289). The majority of counterparty risk is attributable to 
derivatives.

Derivatives
Derivative instruments primarily pertain to interest payment 
exchange contracts (rate swaps) and forward currency 
exchange contracts (FX swaps). The item “Derivative instru-
ments” in the balance sheet recognises derivative contracts 
at fair value. The nominal value of derivative contracts is pro-
vided in Note 13, “Derivatives and Hedge accounting”.

Capital adequacy
Nordea Hypotek uses the Internal Ratings-based (IRB) 
approach (internal risk classification) for calculating credit 
risk in the exposure classes corporate, institution and house-
hold. At the end of the year, the Company’s risk-weighted 
assets were SEK 180,509m (175,114), Common Equity Tier 1 
capital (CET 1) was SEK 34,140m (34,299), and own funds 
stood at SEK 34,148m (34,338). The calculated CET 1 capital 
ratio and the capital ratio were 18.9%, compared with 19.6% 
at the beginning of 2025. The change is mainly driven by 
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increased REA, which in turn is due to growth in the lending 
portfolio. For more information about capital adequacy, 
please refer to Note 23, “Capital adequacy”.

Sustainability
In accordance with the Nordea Group’s sustainability-related 
responsibility, Nordea Hypotek is committed to sustainable 
development by combining financial activity with responsi-
bility for sustainability. The objective is to develop and pro-
vide financial services and offerings that support sustainable 
development by enabling customers to make conscious and 
sustainable choices. (https://www.nordea.com/en/sustaina-
bility/sustainable-choice).

Nordea Hypotek offers green loans to households and 
corporate customers to finance energy-efficient buildings. 

For more information on how the Nordea Group works 
with sustainability, please see Nordea’s Annual Report, 
Sustainability Notes and other relevant sustainability report-
ing, published at www.nordea.com/en/sustainability/report-
ing/. These reports also cover the sustainability reporting 
requirements for Nordea Hypotek in accordance with the 
Annual Accounts Act 1995:1554, Chapter 7, section 31a.

Legal proceedings
There are no outstanding disputes or legal proceedings in 
which material claims have been lodged against the 
Company.

Financial outlook for 2026
Nordea Hypotek has decided not to publish any forecasts for 
2026.

Corporate governance
The corporate governance report is included as part of the 
administration report. See the section Corporate Governance 
Report 2025.

Changes in management and the Board of Directors
During the year Anders Nicander took office as new 
Chairman of the Board and Jessica Didrikson took office as 
new Board member. At the same time, the following three 
left the Board: Per Långsved (former Chairman), Maria 
Sahlén (former member) and Emma Henriksson (former 
member).

During the year, there were no changes in the executive 
management. 

For further information about personnel matters, see Note 
6 “Staff costs” and Note 29 “Related party transactions”.

Material changes after the end of the financial year
After the end of the year, Jessica Didrikson has left the 
Company’s Board of Directors. No other major events have 
occurred since 31 December 2025. However, there are risks 
associated with the heightened geopolitical tensions around 
the world that could have adverse effects on earnings 
through lower net interest income, increased loan losses and 
reduced business activity.

Distribution of earnings
After the Company paid group contributions of SEK 
2,369,915,065, profit for the year of SEK 1,880,447,996 and 
retained earnings of SEK 32,587,685,734, as well as other 
provisions of SEK 12,207,360 are available for distribution by 
the annual meeting of shareholders.

The proposed group contribution reflects Nordea 
Hypotek’s solid capital position.

The proposed distribution of earnings is provided in Note 
31, “Proposed distribution of earnings”.

https://www.nordea.com/en/sustainability/our-products-with-sustainable-focus
https://www.nordea.com/en/sustainability/our-products-with-sustainable-focus
http://www.nordea.com/en/sustainability/reporting/
http://www.nordea.com/en/sustainability/reporting/
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Risk, Liquidity and Capital management
Maintaining sound risk awareness in the organisation is an 
important part of Nordea Hypotek’s business strategy. The 
Nordea Group (hereinafter the Group) has defined a clear 
risk, liquidity and capital management framework, which has 
also been adopted by Nordea Hypotek (hereinafter Nordea 
Hypotek or NH). The framework includes guidelines and 
instructions for managing various types of risk, as well as 
capital adequacy and capital structure.

Internal Control Framework
Nordea Hypotek’s board of directors (board) has adopted 
Nordea’s Group Board Directive on Internal Governance, 
which describes the internal control framework. The frame-
work has been designed to ensure adequate identification, 
measurement and mitigation of risks, prudent conduct of 
business, reliability of financial and non-financial information 
(both internal and external) and compliance with laws, ordi-
nances, standards and the requirements of authorities. NH’s 
internal control process is conducted by the Company’s gov-
erning body, which consists of the board of directors, the 
managing director, senior management, the risk manage-
ment function and other Nordea Hypotek staff and, through 
intra-group agreements, by other units in the Group. The 
internal control process is based on five main components 
(control environment, risk assessment, control activities, 
information and communication as well as monitoring) and 
is designed to create the necessary fundamentals for the 
entire organisation to contribute to the effectiveness and 
high quality of internal controls through, for instance, clear 
assignment of roles and responsibilities and common tools 
and procedures.

Governing bodies for risk, liquidity 
and capital management
The board of directors, the board Risk Committee (BRIC) and 
the managing director are important decision-making bodies 
for Nordea Hypotek’s risk and capital management. 
Furthermore, the board has delegated credit decisions, in 
accordance with the Group’s internal risk management 
framework and through intra-group agreements.

Nordea Hypotek’s board of directors 
and the board risk committee
The board has the following overarching risk management 
responsibilities:
•	 Decides on the Company’s risk strategy and risk appetite 

framework, including related risk appetite limits with, at 
minimum, annual reviews and additional updates when 
needed.

•	 Decides and follows up on appropriate and effective risk 
management policy documents and periodically evaluates 
whether the Company has effective and appropriate risk 
management controls. 

The board has approved Nordea’s Group Board Directive on 
Capital, which ensures adequate capital levels within the 
Company on an ongoing and forward-looking basis, consist-
ent with the business model, risk appetite, regulatory 
requirements and expectations. BRIC assists the board in ful-
filling its oversight responsibilities concerning the Company’s 
risk management and related controls, encompassing credit, 
market, liquidity and business risk as well as non-financial 
risks such as operational risk and compliance. 

Nordea Hypotek’s managing director
The managing director is responsible to the board for the 
overall management of the Company’s operations and risks. 
The managing director’s responsibilities include ensuring 
that the risk strategy and risk management decided by the 
board are implemented and that risks are monitored and 
limited. The managing director is assisted in this task by 
Nordea Hypotek’s executive management.

Nordea Hypotek’s executive management
The executive management consists of the Managing 
Director, Chief Operating Officer (COO), Chief Credit Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Chief Risk Officer (CRO), 
Business Risk Manager, a Compliance Officer appointed for 
the Company and a Company Legal Counsel.

Credit decision-making bodies
The governing bodies for credit risk and the credit risk man-
agement policy documents are the board and BRIC.

The board has delegated credit decisions in accordance 
with the mandates described in the Group Board Directive 
on Risk, adopted by Nordea Hypotek. The Group has estab-
lished a number of committees that also deal with credit 
decisions for Nordea Hypotek.

According to the Group Board Directive on Risk, all limits 
in the Group are founded on credit decisions or authorisa-
tions from bodies bearing ultimate decision-making respon-
sibility for the limit concerned. A credit decision includes 
pricing, risk mitigation and terms and conditions related to 
the limit or expected utilisation. The credit decision also 
serves to delegate decision-making within the approved 
limit to lower-level decision-makers unless otherwise explic-
itly decided.

Governance of risk management and compliance
Risk information is sent from the business areas and group 
functions to the board via NH’s executive management and 
BRIC. The flow of information starts with the units that moni-
tor and analyse the relevant risk type in accordance with 
intra-group agreements. The information is presented, dis-
cussed and challenged firstly in executive management and 
in BRIC, prior to presentation to the board.

Group Compliance (GC) in Nordea Bank Abp is responsi-
ble for the compliance risks in NH, which encompasses mon-
itoring and control to ensure that the risks are managed by 
the relevant functions. GC performs this task within the 
bounds of an intra-group agreement. GC adds value to the 
Company and its stakeholders by conducting an independ-
ent evaluation of the bank’s and Nordea Hypotek’s compli-
ance with applicable laws, ordinances, standards and super-
visory requirements and by means of performing various 
controls. GC reports to BRIC and the board.

The risk management policy documents ensure consistent 
processes for identifying, assessing, measuring, mitigating 
and reporting risks to enable informed decisions on risk-tak-
ing. They encompass all risks to which the Company is or 
could be exposed, including off-balance sheet risks and risks 
in stressed scenarios. Detailed reports on risks and compli-
ance are sent to the managing director in the executive man-
agement, to BRIC and to the board. 

The Risk Identification and Materiality Assessment 
Process starts with identifying risks to which NH is or could 
be exposed. Risks are then assessed for relevance, 
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whereupon they are classified and registered in NH’s risk 
taxonomy, which is based on the Group taxonomy for risks.

All risks within the risk taxonomy need to be classified as 
material or not material for risk and capital management 
purposes. Material risks are those assessed as having a 
material impact on the Company’s current and/or future 
financial position, its customers and/or other stakeholders.

Risk appetite
The risk appetite policy documents contribute towards effec-
tive risk management and a sound risk culture by enabling 
well-founded decisions on risk-taking. The objective is to 
ensure that the risks in the operations are kept within NH’s 
risk appetite and that emerging risks are identified and miti-
gated in time.

Risk capacity is the maximum level of risk the Company is 
deemed able to assume given its capital (own funds), its risk 
management and control capabilities as well as applicable 
regulations. The risk appetite sets the aggregate level for all 
types of risks that NH is willing to assume within its risk 
capacity and in line with its business model to achieve its 
strategic objectives. The risk appetite limits are the board’s 
wording of the approved risk appetite and comprise qualita-
tive statements and quantitative limits and triggers by main 
risk type to ensure a conservative and adequate risk profile.

Risk appetite processes
The risk appetite policy documents contain all processes and 
controls for determining, monitoring and communicating risk 
appetite:
•	 Risk capacity-setting based on capital position: On an 

annual basis, the Company’s overall risk capacity is aligned 
with the financial and capital planning process, based on 
the risk strategy. The risk capacity is set in line with the cap-
ital position, including an appropriate shock-absorbing 
capacity.

•	 Risk appetite allocation by risk type: Risk appetite includes 
risk appetite limits for the main risk types to which NH is or 
could be exposed according to the Company’s risk taxon-
omy. Also, risk appetite triggers, which shall act as early 
indicators for decision-makers that the risk profile for a 
particular risk type is approaching its risk appetite limit.

•	 Risk limit-setting: Risk appetite limits, which are set by 
NH’s board, serve as a basis for risk limits that are set and 
approved at lower decision-making levels, including NH’s 
executive management. The risk limits are set in accord-
ance with Swedish regulatory requirements and in line 
with the risk limits of the Group.

•	 Controlling and monitoring risk exposures against risk lim-
its: Risk appetite limits and risk limits are subject to regular 
controls to ensure that risk-taking activity remains within 
the risk appetite.

•	 Risk appetite limit breach management process: The CRO 
ensures that any breaches of risk appetite limits are esca-
lated to executive management, BRIC and the board. The 
CRO reports at least once a quarter on any breaches to 
executive management, BRIC and the board and other rel-
evant governing bodies, including follow-up on the status 
of actions to be taken, until the relevant risk exposure is 
within risk appetite.

Embedding risk appetite in business processes
The risk appetite process is aligned with other strategic pro-
cesses, such as the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process (ICAAP), Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment 
Process (ILAAP) and NH’s recovery and resolution planning. 
Risk appetite is also embedded in business processes and 
communicated through the organisation with the aim of 
maintaining a healthy risk culture and to ensure strong align-
ment with the business plans and the Company’s capital and 
liquidity positions.

Disclosure requirements of the CRR – Nordea’s 
Capital and Risk Management Report 2025
Additional information on risk and capital management is pre-
sented in Nordea’s Capital and Risk Management Report 2025, 
in accordance with the Capital Requirements Regulation 
(CRR). The report is available at www.nordea.com.

Credit risk management
Credits granted must conform to the common principles 
established for the Nordea Group. Nordea Hypotek aims to 
have a well-diversified credit portfolio that is adapted to the 
structure of the domestic market. The key principles for man-
aging Nordea Hypotek’s credit risk are as follows:
•	 three lines of defence, as further described in the Group 

Board Directive on Internal Governance, adopted by the 
board.

•	 independence, i.e. the risk control function should be inde-
pendent of the business it controls.

•	 risk-based approach, i.e. the risk control functions shall be 
aligned with the nature, size and complexity of the busi-
ness, ensuring that efforts undertaken are proportionate to 
the risks in question.

The Chief Credit Officer in the first line of defence is respon-
sible for introducing the Nordea Group’s credit process, 
instructions and standard credit risk procedures into Nordea 
Hypotek. NH’s CRO in the second line of defence is responsi-
ble for introducing the Nordea Group credit risk framework, 
which consists of policies and instructions. The CRO and 
Chief Credit Officer are also responsible for controlling and 
monitoring the quality of the credit portfolio and the credit 
process and are supported in this work by resources in the 
Nordea Group, in accordance with intra-group agreements.

The basis of credit risk management is limits for custom-
ers and customer groups that are aggregated and assigned 
to units responsible for their continuous monitoring. In addi-
tion to the procedures for allocating customer and customer 
group limits, Nordea’s credit risk management framework 
also includes the credit risk appetite framework, which pro-
vides a comprehensive and risk-based portfolio perspective 
through relevant asset quality and concentration risk meas-
ures. Within the powers to act granted by the board, internal 
credit risk limits are determined by credit decision-making 
bodies at different levels in the Nordea Group. These credit 
risk limits equal the maximum risk appetite in relation to the 
customer concerned. Individual credit decisions within the 
approved internal credit risk limit are taken within the cus-
tomer responsible unit. The risk categorisation and the over-
all credit volume determine the level at which the decision 
will be made.

Responsibility for a credit risk rests with the CRU. 
Customers are classified according to risk and assigned a 
rating or a score in accordance with Nordea’s rating and 
scoring guidelines. The rating and scoring of customers aims 

www.nordea.com
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to predict their probability of default and consequently rank 
them according to their respective default risk. Rating and 
scoring are used as integrated parts of credit risk manage-
ment and the credit decision-making process. 
Representatives from the first line of defence credit organi-
sation approve the rating independently.

Credit risk definition and identification
Credit risk is defined as the potential for loss due to failure of 
a borrower(s) to meet its obligations to clear a debt in 
accordance with agreed terms and conditions. The potential 
for loss is lowered by credit risk mitigation techniques. 
Nordea Hypotek’s loan portfolio is broken down by segment 
and industry. Industry-specific credit policies are established 
for those industries that have a significant weight in the port-
folio and are either highly cyclical/volatile or assessed as vul-
nerable to climate-related risks or require special industry 
competencies.

Credit decisions are reached after a credit risk assessment, 
based on principles that are defined consistently across the 
entire Nordea Group, and regulated in the intra-group agree-
ment governing credit decisions. These principles emphasise 
the need to adjust the depth and scope of the assessment 
according to the risk. 

ESG-related credit risk
ESG risk factors are assessed as a material or potentially 
material driver of (further) credit risk. Nordea has a group-
wide taxonomy for climate and environmental risk factors 
(i.e. threats or hazards) and a list of transmission channels. 
Credit risk is the risk that is most affected by nature-related 
transition risks and physical risks, and arises primarily in 
Nordea’s lending activities. For nature-related risks Nordea 
has defined specific physical and transition risk drivers which 
could potentially (adversely) impact Nordea.

When lending to both existing and new corporate custom-
ers, ESG credit risk factors are investigated, depending on 
the size of the company and the segment to which the cus-
tomer belongs internally, and – for identified (ESG) risks – 
further assessments are made, either at the industry level 
(inherent risks) or at the customer level. Risks that are mate-
rial for the borrower’s credit risk are managed as credit risk 
factors and are included in the continuing credit risk assess-
ment. ESG-related risks identified as material at customer 
level provide input to the credit risk assessment to reach 
conclusions on the customer group’s risk level included in the 
credit memorandum.

The key components of the assessment include counter-
parties’ greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions intensity develop-
ments, the corresponding quality of their transition planning 
and the resulting impact of climate-related transition and 
physical risks on customer repayment capacity. This analysis 
is aligned with the Group targets on financed GHG emissions 
reductions and transition plan coverage.

Additionally, Nordea follows applicable valuation stand-
ards and regulatory requirements, which includes taking ESG 
factors into account in applying market values for collateral-
ised real estate assets, when available and/or relevant.

Credit risk mitigation
Credit risk mitigation is an inherent part of the credit deci-
sion process. Pledging of collateral is fundamental to risk 
mitigation technique, and collaterals are always sought to 
minimise the potential for credit losses. Independently of the 
strength of the collateral position, the repayment capacity is 

the starting point for the credit assessment and the assign-
ment of credit limits.

Collaterals consist chiefly of residential real estate, ten-
ant-owned homes and various types of municipal guaran-
tees. The collateral value should always be based on the 
market value. The market value is defined as the estimated 
amount for which the asset could be exchanged on the date 
of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in 
an arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing and 
where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently 
and without compulsion. A haircut is applied to the market 
value to derive the collateral value. The haircut is a percent-
age by which the market value of the asset is expected to 
decrease in the event of a forced sale of the collateral. The 
haircut shall reflect the volatility of market value, liquidity 
and liquidation cost. A minimum haircut is set for each collat-
eral type. The same principles of calculation must be used for 
all exposures. 

Collateral distribution
The diagram below shows the collateral distribution in 
Nordea Hypotek’s cover pool.

Lending distribution on collaterals

Single and 
two-family 
properties, 48%Multi-family 

properties, 4%

Business and 
office buildings, 4%
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guarantees, 5%

Other collateral, 11%

Tenant-owner 
apartments, 28%

Credit portfolio 
The total credit risk exposure, including on- and off-balance-
sheet items, amounted to SEK 829bn (786) at year end. 
Credit risk exposure in the balance sheet (lending to the 
public) was at SEK 782bn (739) at year end. See more infor-
mation on, and breakdown of exposure according to the CRR 
definition in Note 23 and in the “Capital Management” sec-
tion. Credit risk is measured, monitored and segmented in 
different ways. On-balance lending consists of amortised 
cost lending and constitutes the majority of the credit portfo-
lio. Amortised cost lending is the basis for impaired loans, 
allowances and loan losses. Credit risk in lending is meas-
ured and presented as the principal amount of on-bal-
ance-sheet claims, i.e. loans to credit institutions and to the 
public, and off-balance-sheet potential claims on customers, 
net after allowances.

Loans to corporate customers
Loans to corporate customers and the public sector at the 
end of 2025 amounted to SEK 162bn (147) – a 10.53% 
increase. The real estate portfolio is the single largest industry 
exposure. The real estate portfolio predominantly consists of 
relatively large and financially strong companies, with 98% 
(97%) of the lending in rating grades 4- and higher.

Loans to household customers
In 2025 loans to household customers increased by 4.6% to 
SEK 619bn (592). The household customer segment consists 
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of a great number of customers, with 96% (96) having a 
score equalling C– or higher.

Rating and scoring distribution
One way of assessing credit quality is through analysis of the 
distribution across rating grades, for rated corporate custom-
ers and institutions, as well as risk grades for scored house-
hold and small business customers, i.e. retail exposures. The 
progression of customers’ rating and scoring is shown in the 
graphs below.
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Forbearance
Forbearance is eased terms or restructuring due to the bor-
rower experiencing or being about to experience financial dif-
ficulties. The intention of granting forbearance for a limited 
time period is to ensure full repayment of the outstanding 
debt. Examples of forbearance are changes in amortisation 
profile, repayment schedule, customer margin as well as ease 
of covenants. Forbearance is undertaken on a selective and 
individual basis and is subject to individual impairment testing 
(corporate customers). Forborne exposures can be performing 
or non-performing.

Individual and collective assessment of impairment
Requirements for impairment are set forth in IFRS 9 and are 
based on an expected credit loss model. In impairment test-
ing (individual and collective), three forward-looking and 
weighted scenarios are applied. Assets to be tested for 
impairment are divided into three stages depending on the 
degree of credit deterioration. Stage 1 includes assets where 
there has been no significant deterioration in credit risk, 
stage 2 includes assets where there has been a significant 
deterioration and stage 3 includes defaulting assets. All 
assets are assessed individually for staging. For significant 
assets in stage 3, the impairment need is tested and 

calculated individually. Assets in stage 1, stage 2 and insignif-
icant assets in stage 3 are assessed for impairment 
collectively.

Throughout the process of identifying and mitigating 
credit impairments, Nordea Hypotek continuously reviews 
the quality of the credit exposures. Weak and impaired expo-
sures are monitored and reviewed at least on a quarterly 
basis in terms of current performance, business outlook, 
future debt service capacity and the possible need for 
provisions.

Nordea Hypotek only reports certain Specific Credit Risk 
Adjustments (SCRAs). Credit risk adjustments comprise indi-
vidually and collectively assessed provisions. Credit risk 
adjustments during the year are recognised as credit losses 
in the income statement. In the balance sheet, they are rec-
ognised as allowances and provisions.

Individual provisioning
A need for individual provisioning is recognised if, based on 
credit events and observable data, a negative impact is likely 
on the customer’s expected future cash flow to the extent 
that full repayment is unlikely (pledged collaterals taken into 
account).

Exposures with individually assigned provisions count as 
defaulted and belong to stage 3 according to IFRS 9. The size 
of the provision is equal to the estimated loss, which is the 
difference between the book value of the outstanding expo-
sure and the discounted value of the expected future cash 
flow, including the value of pledged collateral.

Collective provisioning
The collective model is executed quarterly. One important 
driver for provisions is the trigger for transferring assets from 
stage 1 to stage 2. For assets recognised from 1 January 2018, 
changes to the lifetime probability of default (PD) are used 
as the trigger. In addition, customers with forbearance meas-
ures and customers with payments more than 30 days past 
due are also transferred to stage 2. In stage 1, the provisions 
equal the 12-month expected losses. In stage 2 and 3, the 
provisions equal the lifetime expected loss. The output is 
complemented by an expert-based analysis process to 
ensure adequate provisioning. Defaulted customers without 
individual provisions have collective provisions. 

Further information on impairments and provisions is pro-
vided in Note 11.

Sensitivities and forward-looking information 
One important factor in estimating expected credit losses in 
accordance with IFRS 9 is to assess what constitutes a signif-
icant increase in credit risk. Nordea Hypotek uses a relative 
trigger and an absolute trigger. Forward-looking information 
is used both when judging a significant increase in credit risk 
and in calculating expected credit losses. Nordea Hypotek 
uses three macroeconomic scenarios: a base scenario, and a 
positive and negative scenario. Further information on sensi-
tivities and triggers, as well as a description of the scenarios, 
is provided in Note 30.

Impaired loans (stage 3)
Impaired loans (gross) fell slightly in 2025 to SEK 1,170m 
(1,191), equalling 14.7 bps (15.9) of total lending. Allowances 
for impaired loans in stage 3 are SEK 112.8m (140) and the 
ratio of allowances for the Company’s entire lending 
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portfolio was 4.2 bps (5.9). Further information on impaired 
loans is provided in Note 30.

Loans to the public and impaired loans
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Loans past due not impaired
The table in Note 30 shows loans past due six days or more 
that are not considered impaired, split by corporate and 
household customers. Past due is defined as a loan payment 
that has not been made as of its due date. Loans past due on 
the corporate side, which are not considered impaired, 
amounted to SEK 381m at the end of the year (274), and loans 
past due on the household side were at SEK 1,071m (943).

Net loan losses
Net loan losses in 2025 amounted to SEK +86m (-129), and 
are mainly attributable to decreased collective loan provi-
sions. Realised loan losses amounted to SEK -21m for the 
period (-9). The increase is mainly due to adjusted internal 
processes regarding write-offs of older loans past due. 
Actual loan losses remain at very low levels compared to the 
size of the portfolio.

Counterparty credit risk
Counterparty credit risk is the risk that a counterparty in an 
FX, interest, commodity, equity or credit derivative contract 
defaults prior to maturity of the contract and that Nordea 
Hypotek at that time has a claim on the counterparty. 
Counterparty credit risk can also exist in repurchasing agree-
ments and other securities financing transactions. Nordea 
Hypotek only conducts derivative transactions with the 
Nordea Group. In total, risk-weighted assets for counterparty 
risk, which is entirely in relation to the Parent Company, were 
SEK 1,110m (1,289). The majority of counterparty risk is 
attributable to derivatives.

Liquidity management
Nordea Hypotek has conservative liquidity risk management, 
with a focus on a strong funding base and a diversified 
liquidity buffer. Nordea Hypotek had a strong liquidity posi-
tion throughout the year, despite continued volatility in the 
global market. Nordea Hypotek had good access to the 
Swedish covered bond market and has issued long-term 
funding in line with the funding plan. In 2025 Nordea 
Hypotek issued covered bonds to a nominal value of SEK 
74.5bn (78). Throughout 2025 Nordea remained compliant 
with the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) requirement as well 
as the net stable funding ratio (NFSR).

Liquidity risk definition and identification
Liquidity risk is the risk of only being able to meet liquidity 
commitments at an unsustainably high cost or, ultimately, 

inability to meet obligations as they come due. Nordea 
Hypotek is exposed to liquidity risk in its lending, investment, 
funding, loan commitments and other activities that affect 
cash flow.

Management principles and control
The Company’s liquidity risk is managed through three lines 
of defence: 
•	 The first line of defence (Group Treasury, the business 

areas and CFO) is responsible for day-to-day management 
of the liquidity positions, liquidity buffer, funding and inter-
nal funds transfer pricing (FTP). Nordea Hypotek and 
Group Treasury have signed an intra-group agreement  
covering liquidity risk management. 

•	 The second line of defence (the CRO and Group Risk) per-
forms independent control and monitoring of the first line 
of defence. Nordea Hypotek and Group Risk have signed 
an intra-group agreement covering liquidity risk 
management.

•	 The third line of defence (Group Internal Audit) examines 
the independence of both lines of defence.

The board of directors determines the Company’s liquidity 
risk appetite by means of limits based on stress tests and 
prevailing regulations. The risk appetite is anchored to 
liquidity stress testing results over selected time horizons as 
well as regulatory requirements and has implications for the 
nature and scope of activities undertaken by the Company. 
The risk appetite framework and related limits and triggers 
for liquidity risk limit the overall liquidity risk in the Company.

Liquidity risk management strategy
Nordea Hypotek applies a conservative liquidity risk strategy 
with a focus on a strong diversified funding base and liquid-
ity buffer, as well as long-term funding through covered 
bonds. The Company publishes regular information on its 
liquidity and performs regular stress tests, and is also cov-
ered by the Group’s contingency plan for liquidity crisis 
management.

Liquidity risk measurement
Liquidity risk is measured using both short- and long-term 
indicators:
•	 LCR and internal liquidity risk metrics to ensure coverage of 

short-term outflows
•	 NSFR to measure structural long-term funding
•	 The liquidity buffer consists of highly liquid securities of 

high credit quality that can be sold or used as collateral 
when needed. The stress tests ensure that the buffer cov-
ers large outflows in both market-wide and company-spe-
cific stress scenarios.

Liquidity risk analysis
Nordea Hypotek maintains a clear and prudent liquidity risk 
profile with a strong funding base. At the end of 2025, the total 
nominal value within the covered bond programme was SEK 
344bn (359). More information on Nordea Hypotek’s funding 
sources is provided in the section “Operations in 2025”.
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The liquidity risk position remained stable throughout 2025. 
The internal survival horizon was 190 days (211) at the end of 
2025. The liquidity buffer has been sufficient to cover the 
stressed outflows longer than the Risk Appetite Framework 
(RAF) of 90 days or trigger of 120 days throughout 2025. The 
liquidity buffer amounted to SEK 19,358m at 31 December 
2025, and was stable with a quarterly average of SEK 19,529m 
during the year.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)
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The combined Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), according to 
EBA Delegated Act rules, has remained above the RAF limit 
of 105 percent throughout 2025. LCR amounted to 1,042 per-
cent at the end of 2025 (1,980 percent) and with a minimum 
during the year of 112 percent.

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)
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The net stable funding ratio (NSFR) has been above the Risk 
Appetite Framework (RAF) of 102% and the trigger of 104% 
throughout 2025. The lowest level reported for 2025 was in 
June when it was 108%.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss in Nordea Hypotek’s positions in 
the banking book as a result of changes in market rates and 
parameters that affect the market values or net interest 
income flows. Market risk exists irrespective of the account-
ing treatment of the positions. 

The board of directors determines market risk appetite 
levels using risk appetite limits, while Group Treasury is 
responsible for managing the market risk in accordance with 
internal agreements and set mandates.

As part of the overall risk appetite policy documents, 
holistic and bespoke stress tests are used to measure the 
market risk appetite and calibrate limits to monitor and con-
trol the full set of material market risk factors to which 
Nordea Hypotek is exposed.

Non-traded market risk
Non-traded market risk essentially arises from the core oper-
ations of Nordea Hypotek, related hedges and regulatory or 
other external requirements (e.g. liquid asset buffer). Group 
Treasury is responsible for the comprehensive risk manage-
ment of all non-traded market risk in the Nordea Group’s 
balance sheet, including Nordea Hypotek. 

For the sake of openness and a clear allocation of respon-
sibilities within Group Treasury, the comprehensive risk man-
agement has been divided into four parts, each with a clear 
risk mandate and specific limits and controls. The other mar-
ket risks to which Nordea Hypotek is exposed are economic 
value risk and net interest income risk. The interest-rate risk 
in the banking-book operations is the current or future risk in 
Nordea Hypotek’s capital and earnings attributable to unfa-
vourable changes in interest rates. Market risks are managed 
centrally by Group Treasury with respect to profitability and 
economic value. 

The majority of Nordea Hypotek’s lending consists of 
floating interest rates while the remainder consists of fixed 
interest rates with a fixation period of 1–8 years. Nordea 
Hypotek’s funding essentially carries a fixed rate. This is used 
in part to hedge fixed-rate lending, although for a substantial 
part of funding, swaps are used to switch the interest rate to 
the floating rate to make it consistent with the administrative 
rate used in lending. The remaining interest-rate risk is man-
aged on behalf of Nordea Hypotek by Group Treasury. The 
direct interest-rate risk, net, attributable to the repricing gap, 
together with the limited fixed-interest-rate risk, is hedged 
using interest-rate swaps (IRS) and overnight index swaps 
(OIS). 

Liquid assets are managed in accordance with the liquid-
ity buffer policy documents. The majority of the risk of 
changes in interest rates attributable to bond holdings is 
hedged using maturity-matched IRS agreements and, to a 
lesser extent, OIS agreements. 

Measurement of market risk 
IRRBB (interest-rate risk in the banking book) is measured, 
monitored and managed using three risk metrics: 
•	 economic value (EV risk) 
•	 fair value stress loss (FVSL risk) 
•	 net interest income (NII risk). 

These are used to assess differing aspects of the manifesta-
tion of interest-rate risk. These are described in more detail 
below. 

Stress tests of EV measure the change in the economic 
value of assets, liabilities and interest-bearing derivatives in 
banking-book operations ensuing from changes in interest 
rates, independently of the accounting classification and 
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without reference to credit spreads and business margins. 
The model calculation is performed on the basis of a ‘run-off 
balance sheet’ and includes behavioural modelling for 
prepayments. 

FSVL takes account of the potential revaluation risk with 
respect to positions held below fair value accounting 
classifications. 

The earnings risk metric measures the change in net inter-
est income relative to a base scenario, creating a Net Interest 
Income Risk (NII Risk) value over a one-year horizon. The 
model uses a constant balance sheet assumption, implied 
forward rates and behavioural modelling for prepayments.

FVSL, EV and NII risk sensitivities are measured using 
internal scenarios determined according to the risk appetite 
policy documents, the six standard scenarios adopted by the 
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and a number of 
parallel and non-parallel shock scenarios. The exposure limit 
is measured in relation to the worst outcome from the inter-
nal scenarios according to the risk appetite policy docu-
ments. The RAF scenarios are calibrated to reflect severe but 
plausible events and are designed to test specific exposures 
that are, or may be held, under the approved mandate. 

The fair-value risk appetite scenarios are applied to the 
banking-book portfolios, and the board risk appetite limit 
considers the combined impact. The fair-value stress metric 
is monitored daily. A range of EV scenarios are estimated 
daily for management information purposes, but fully calcu-
lated and monitored monthly against risk appetite limits. The 
NII risk earnings metric is monitored monthly. 

The measurement of IRRBB is dependent on key assump-
tions applied in the models. The most material assumptions 
relate to the modelling of embedded behavioural options in 
both assets and liabilities. The behavioural option held by 
Nordea Hypotek’s lending customers to execute early loan 
prepayments is estimated using prepayment models. 

The Pillar 2 IRRBB capital allocations consist of a Fair 
Value Risk component and an Earnings Risk component. The 
Fair Value Risk component covers the impact on Nordea 
Hypotek’s equity due to adverse movements of positions 
accounted for at Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVTPL) 
or Fair Value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 
The Earnings Risk component concerns the impact of rate 
changes on future earnings capacity, and the resulting impli-
cations for internal capital buffer levels. 

Analysis of market risk 

Progression of structural interest income risk (NII-risk)  
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Looking at the net interest income risk, Hypotek benefits from 
higher interest rates because the interest-bearing assets side 
is larger than the interest-bearing liabilities side. For the struc-
tural interest-rate risk, net interest income is calculated over 
the next 12 months and based on a constant balance sheet. 
Hypotek’s structural interest-rate risk follows a seasonal pat-
tern due to a concentration of interest-rate adjustments in 

March, June, September and December driven by the funding 
hedged for interest-rate risk through mortgage bonds.

The NII risk for each balance sheet item is at its highest in 
the month before changes to interest-rate terms, because 
the parallel shift is then applied to all months in the risk hori-
zon. In the same month in which the change to interest-rate 
terms is made, risk utilisation is at its lowest level and then 
gradually increases until the change to interest-rate terms is 
made three months later. 

In 2025, NII risk was measured on the basis of a parallel 
shift in the yield curve of 200 bps. Risk appetite is set at SEK 
1,200m and in 2025 risk was within this limit throughout the 
year. 

Change in economic value 
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In terms of economic value, Hypotek benefits from falling 
interest rates because part of the fixed-rate credit portfolio is 
not hedged against changes in interest rates. 

In 2025, EV risk has been within the risk appetite limit of 
SEK 2,500m. 

Floating interest-rate risk, 3-month 
change to interest-rate terms 
Floating interest-rate risk drives the seasonal pattern in risk 
utilisation due to a concentration of changes to interest-rate 
terms in March, June, September and December, driven by the 
funding hedged for interest-rate risk through mortgage bonds. 
EV risk for each balance sheet item is at its highest in connec-
tion with changes to interest-rate terms, because the EV met-
ric discounts the present value until the next change to inter-
est-rate terms. The EV risk for each balance sheet item is thus 
at its lowest in the month before the change to interest-rate 
terms – a substantial difference to the NII risk metric.

Interest-rate risk 1–8 years 
The proportion of fixed-rate lending continued to decline in 
2025 and went from 30% at the start of the year to 24% at 
the end of the year. Due to high volatility in financial markets, 
most fixed-rate lending was hedged for interest-rate risk 
continually over the year.

Other market risks – pension risk 
Pension risk (including market and longevity risks) arises 
from Nordea Hypotek-sponsored defined benefit pension 
plans for past and current employees. The ability of the pen-
sion plans to meet the projected pension payments is main-
tained through investments and ongoing plan contributions. 

The pension risk in Nordea Hypotek is limited because the 
Company has relatively few employees with defined benefit 
pension plans, and new, externally recruited employees are 
not covered by these plans. 
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Operational risk 
Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from 
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems 
or from external events, and includes legal risk. Operational 
risks are inherent in all of Nordea Hypotek’s business and 
operations. This means that all managers are accountable for 
the operational risks related to their mandate and for man-
aging these risks within the risk appetite in accordance with 
the operational risk management framework. 

NH’s CRO is, supported by the risk control functions in the 
Nordea Group, the second line of defence for operational risk 
control and is responsible for developing and maintaining 
the overall operational risk management framework as well 
as for monitoring and controlling the operational risk man-
agement of the first line of defence. The second line of 
defence is responsible for monitoring and overseeing that 
operational risks are appropriately identified, assessed and 
mitigated, and following up on risk exposures towards risk 
appetite and assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the operational risk management framework and the imple-
mentation of the framework. 

Staff in the second line of defence are responsible for pre-
paring and submitting regular risk reports on all material risk 
exposures including risk appetite limit utilisation and opera-
tional risk incidents to NH’s CRO, who then reports to NH’s 
executive management, NH’s BRIC and NH’s board. 

The Risk Appetite Statement for operational risk sets the 
tone for effective risk management. Risk appetite is specified 
as limits for (a) different types of operational risk, with 
numerical values, and (b) total loss amount from operational 
risk and compliance risk incidents. 

Management of operational risk 
Management of operational risk includes all activities aimed 
at identifying, assessing and measuring, responding to and 
mitigating, controlling and monitoring as well as reporting 
on risks. Risk management is supported by various processes 
and instructions including Risk and Control Self-Assessment, 
Change Risk Management and Approval, Issue Management, 
Incident Management, Scenario Analysis, Business 
Continuity and Crisis Management, Information Security 
Management, Technology and Data Risk Management, Third 
Party Risk Management, insurance-related risk diversifica-
tion and Significant Operating Processes. Some of these pro-
cesses are described below.

Risk and Control Self-Assessment
The Risk and Control Self-Assessment process ensures an 
overview and assessment of operational and compliance 
risks at Nordea Hypotek. The process improves risk aware-
ness and enables the effective assessment, control and miti-
gation of identified risks. The results of the process also form 
the basis for risk reporting at Nordea Hypotek.

Change Risk Management and Approval
The Change Risk Management and Approval process 
ensures that risks arising from a change are identified, 
assessed and managed before a change is approved or 
implemented. The aim is to ensure that no unexpected inci-
dents occur when the change is implemented. The Change 
Risk Management and Approval process must be applied to 
all relevant types of change and development initiatives, 
including but not limited to new or changed processes, 
organisational changes, information and communication 
technology changes and new outsourcing arrangements.

Issue Management
Issues are defined as deficiencies in the control environment, 
i.e. defects and/or quality matters within the internal control 
environment for managing risk. When such deficiencies are 
discovered, they must be reported as issues. The Issue 
Management Framework consists of multiple processes 
across all three lines of defence identified in different risk 
management processes, and they together fall under the 
purpose of issues and action management.

Incident Management
The Incident Management Framework ensures appropriate 
handling and reporting of detected incidents to minimise the 
impact on Nordea Hypotek and its customers, prevent recur-
rence and reduce the impact of future incidents. When inci-
dents occur, they are immediately assessed to determine 
their severity. Depending on the nature of the incident and 
the severity assessed, different requirements on stakeholder 
involvement and external reporting apply, including incident 
notification to relevant authorities.

Third Party Risk Management 
The objective of Third Party Risk Management is to ensure 
that risks related to third parties and third party activities, 
including but not limited to outsourcing, are appropriately 
identified, assessed and managed before entering into, dur-
ing as well as when exiting a third party arrangement. Third 
Party Risk Management ensures that risks associated with 
third parties and third party activities are kept within risk 
appetite and risk limits.

Business Continuity and Crisis Management 
The Business Continuity and Crisis Management framework 
at Nordea Hypotek ensures the capability to handle extraor-
dinary events and crises and assures recovery and continued 
delivery to predefined acceptable levels. The capabilities are 
validated by testing and exercising the organisation and 
established plans to ensure to protect Nordea Hypotek’s 
resources (e.g. people, premises, technology and informa-
tion), supply chain, interested parties and reputation, before 
a disruptive incident occurs. This includes ensuring that roles 
and responsibilities are clear, known and communicated to 
all involved.

Information and Communication 
Technology Risk Management 
The objective of ICT risk management is to ensure that infor-
mation and communication technology and data manage-
ment risks are appropriately identified, assessed and 
managed.

The Nordea Group’s Information Security Management 
System aims to maintain the confidentiality, integrity and 
availability of information, and information entrusted to 
Nordea Hypotek.

Cyber security
The Nordea Group focuses not only on maintaining effective 
basic information security controls but also on enhancing its 
cyber defence with new tools and functions for security, 
detection and response. The Group develops innovative 
security practices to meet new business demands, such as 
robust mobile banking applications and proactive customer 
support for fraud detection and prevention. Nordea Hypotek 
must comply with financial industry legislation, for example 
European Banking Authority guidelines and other Swedish 
and European legislation introducing specific information 
security requirements. In addition, the Nordea Group has 
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teamed up with partners from governmental organisations, 
law enforcement agencies, intelligence networks, peers in 
the industry and others to share intelligence and experience.

Reputational risk 
The objective of the reputational risk management frame-
work is to protect the reputation of the Nordea Group and 
Nordea Hypotek. Reputational risk can arise due to failure to 
deliver on internal and external promises and expectations. 
Negative attention from customers and the media, claims 
and lawsuits can ultimately have adverse financial 
implications. 

Reputational risk often results from, or causes, other types 
of risks inherent in the operations, such as credit, liquidity, 
market, operational, compliance and legal risks. 

Financial reporting risk 
Financial reporting risk is defined as the risk of misstate-
ments or deficiencies in financial reporting, regulatory 
reporting and disclosures, tax reporting and reporting of ESG 
disclosures. An internal control system is in place for manag-
ing financial reporting risk. The system provides structure 
and contains standards for designing, operating and evaluat-
ing the system of internal control over financial reporting. 
The framework is the mechanism through which manage-
ment expresses its financial statement assertions. The con-
trol function in the second line of defence is responsible for 
the independent monitoring, assessment and oversight of 
the risks and the Company’s implementation of policy docu-
ments. Group Risk reports to the board on a quarterly basis.

Compliance risk 
The Nordea Group defines compliance risk as the risk of fail-
ing to comply with statutes, laws, regulations, business prin-
ciples, ethical standards, sound business practice and equiv-
alent internal provisions governing the bank in a country in 
which Nordea operates. 

The key principle for the management of compliance risk 
is the three lines of defence. The first line of defence consists 
of Nordea Hypotek employees, who are risk owners and 
responsible for their own daily risk management and control 
of compliance risks. Management on all levels is responsible 
for operating the business within defined limits for risk expo-
sure and in accordance with decided directives, instructions 
and risk management processes. Group Compliance consti-
tutes the second line of defence at Nordea Hypotek. The unit 
coordinates, promotes and monitors the efficiency and integ-
rity of compliance risk management. Group Compliance per-
forms an independent evaluation of Nordea Hypotek’s com-
pliance with prevailing rules and regulations, and also 
advises, supports and trains the first line on various ways to 
effectively and efficiently handle compliance obligations. 

On a quarterly basis, Group Compliance reports on all sig-
nificant compliance risks to management, the Board and rel-
evant committees such as the Nordea Hypotek Board Risk 
Committee (BRIC) in order to inform of Nordea Hypotek’s 
current risk exposure in relation to the predefined risk 
appetite. 

Group Internal Audit constitutes the third line of defence 
and performs audits and provides assurance to stakeholders 
on internal controls and risk management processes. It is 
important that prevailing laws and provisions are adhered to, 
and that controls are carried out to ensure this, partly 
because Nordea Hypotek is a responsible corporate citizen, 
and partly to prevent the banking system from being used 
for criminal activity. Through the classification of Nordea 
Hypotek into the category “other systemically important 

institutions” (O-SII) and the fact that the Parent Company is 
domiciled in Finland, Nordea Hypotek is subject to a set of 
stringent standards, under the supervision of both 
Finansinspektionen (the Swedish FSA) and the European 
Central Bank. 

Compliance independent risk assessment (CIRA) 
The CIRA process is an independent risk assessment per-
formed by Group Compliance in the second line of defence. 
The purpose of the CIRA process is to assess Nordea 
Hypotek’s compliance risk. The assessment is performed 
based on the Risk Taxonomy for Compliance Risks and cov-
ers both external and internal rules. The assessment results 
in a picture of Nordea Hypotek’s compliance risk and the 
outcome is used as a basis in devising the annual plan.

Ethical guidelines and corporate values 
The ethical guidelines and the corporate values reinforce 
Nordea Hypotek’s corporate culture and establish how 
employees shall act. The overarching principles, which gov-
ern how Nordea Hypotek runs its business, how Nordea 
Hypotek acts towards its customers and the conduct that is 
expected of its employees, are stipulated in the Nordea 
Group Ethical Guidelines. Acting the right way does not just 
mean that Nordea Hypotek asks itself “can we do it?”, but 
also “should we do it?”. In connection with this, employees 
shall consider the consequences of their decisions for all 
stakeholders. Each year, all employees must attend a com-
pulsory course on the ethical guidelines, thus ensuring requi-
site awareness and knowledge of the ethical principles.

Customer protection
The objective of customer protection is to ensure that cus-
tomers are treated fairly, with a fair outcome. Fair treatment 
means having open and clear communication, meeting the 
customer’s needs (outcome-centric), awareness among 
employees, responding to customer complaints and commu-
nicating honestly and openly as well as developing accurate, 
relevant and timely management information.

Important customer protection areas are financial advice 
(for instance within mortgages), product governance, 
employees’ knowledge and competence, and management 
of customer complaints. Customer protection within the 
advisory field shall ensure that the advice is adapted to the 
customer’s needs and circumstances, that it concerns appro-
priate products and that lending is responsible.

Customer protection with respect to products and services 
concerns delivering good and valuable products and services 
of high quality, that meet the customer’s needs. This involves 
defining and targeting a specific market, offering value for 
money and providing accurate product material and cus-
tomer communication. It is also important to manage con-
flicts of interest concerning products and services.

Customer complaints are an important part of following 
up on customer protection. In the past two years, complaints 
management has been developed and a new process has 
been introduced, with clear and regular reporting, a strong 
feedback culture, analysis of underlying causes and imple-
mentation of measures.

Managing business ethics
Conduct risk, or the risk of deficient business ethics, is 
defined as risks associated with an inappropriate corporate 
culture or inappropriate behaviour among employees, or the 
risk of somebody acting, intentionally or unintentionally, in a 
way that could lead to unfair outcomes and detriment to cus-
tomers, or undermine market integrity.
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The methods for managing conduct risk are continually 
developed to ensure that corporate culture and employee 
behaviour are consistent with the values and that fair out-
comes are delivered for customers throughout all stages of 
the customer lifecycle. This means that customers shall be 
given top priority in the business strategy, in devising and 
developing products, in sales and in the ongoing servicing of 
Nordea Hypotek’s customers.

Reporting suspicious activity (whistleblowing) 
The purpose of the whistleblowing process (reporting suspi-
cious activity) is to enable the staff and customers of the 
Nordea Group to feel safe in the knowledge that they can 
raise the alarm if they detect or suspect professional miscon-
duct or unethical behaviour. 

There are different ways of reporting suspected unethical 
behaviour or suspected breaches of internal or external rules. 
Concerns can be raised openly, in confidence or anony-
mously. There are also rules and procedures for investigating 
such matters. 

Complaints management 
The objective of complaints management is to improve cus-
tomer satisfaction and identify deficiencies that can be rem-
edied through IT development or altered processes. 
Complaints management is attended to by the customer 
responsible units together with the customer ombudsman, in 
accordance with an intra-group agreement. The number of 
complaints and types of complaint are reported each quarter 
to the members of NH’s executive management, together 
with information on current and proposed measures per area 
of complaint.

Environmental, social and governance (ESG) risks 
Nordea defines ESG risk as the risk of an adverse financial 
and non-financial impact deriving from the transpired or 
potential impact of ESG factors in the short, medium, long 
and very long term. These risks manifest themselves across 
existing risk categories; the impact of ESG factors may be 
direct or indirect, through third parties and counterparties. It 
is important for Nordea to integrate ESG evaluations into our 
risk management framework.

Financial crime
Financial crime poses a serious threat to the security and 
integrity of the global financial system, and combating it 
calls for cooperation between banks and authorities. 
Improving security in the global financial system is a joint 
responsibility.

The Nordea Group is obliged to follow prevailing laws and 
regulations concerning combating money laundering and 
terrorist financing, sanctions, bribes and corruption in the 
bank’s countries of operation. Nordea Hypotek refutes being 
used for money laundering or any other type of financial 
crime. The Nordea Group therefore has guidelines that stipu-
late effective and uniform standards for compliance. These 
have been adopted by NH’s board and support the customer 
strategy, vision and values, and provide a uniform set of risk 
management principles and compulsory standards for 
Nordea Hypotek and the Nordea Group as a whole. It is 
important for Nordea Hypotek to have thorough risk-based 
customer due diligence procedures when new customers are 
welcomed, and continually throughout the customer rela-
tionship. A high level of familiarity with customers and coun-
terparties can enable the bank, using screening and monitor-
ing, to detect suspicious or illegal transactions and report 
them to the authorities for further investigation. Nordea 
Hypotek has outsourced the work on performing all cus-
tomer due diligence procedures to customer responsible 
units in the Nordea Group, and this is regulated in an intra-
group agreement.

Nordea Hypotek also has an obligation to follow all inter-
national and national sanctions programmes. Nordea 
Hypotek’s customers and their transactions are therefore 
screened against prevailing sanctions lists to ensure compli-
ance with the sanctions requirements. Since mid-2015, exten-
sive investments have been made in technology, capacity 
and more advanced assessment methods to reduce the risks 
associated with financial crime.

Capital management
Nordea Hypotek strives to be efficient in its use of capital 
and therefore actively manages its balance sheet with 
respect to different assets, liabilities and risks. The goal is to 
enhance returns to shareholders while maintaining a pru-
dent capital structure, with due consideration for regulatory 
requirements and internal targets. The board of directors 
ultimately decides on the targets for capital ratios, capital 
policy and the overall capital management framework at 
Nordea Hypotek. The ability to fulfil objectives and minimum 
capital adequacy requirements is regularly inspected by 
management.
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Minimum requirements for capital adequacy and risk exposure amount

31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

SEKm
Minimum Capital 

requirement REA
Minimum Capital 

requirement REA

Credit risk 7,269 90,864 7,882 98,521

 - of which counterparty credit risk 89 1,110 103 1,289

IRB 6,248 78,098 6,749 84,364

- sovereign – – – –

- corporate 1,835 22,932 1,696 21,203

     - advanced 1,682 21,022 1,696 21,203

     - foundation 153 1,910 – –

- institutions 30 369 40 500

- retail 4,383 54,791 5,012 62,654

     - secured by immovable property collateral 3,977 49,708 4,641 58,018

     - other retail 407 5,083 371 4,636

- other 1 6 1 7

Standardised 1,021 12,765 1,133 14,158

- central governments or central banks 0 2 0 2

- regional governments or local authorities – – – –

- public sector entities – – – –

- multilateral development banks – – – –

- international organisations – – – –

- institutions 1,021 12,763 1,133 14,156

- corporate – – – –

- retail – – – –

- secured by mortgages on immovable properties – – – –

- in default – – – –

- associated with particularly high risk – – – –

- covered bonds – – – –

- institutions and corporates with a short-term credit assessment – – – –

- collective investments undertakings (CIU) – – – –

- equity – – – –

- other items – – – –

Credit Value Adjustment Risk – – – –

Market risk – – – –

- trading book, Internal Approach – – – –

- trading book, Standardised Approach – – – –

- banking book, Standardised Approach – – – –

Settlement risk – – – –

Operational risk 715 8,934 770 9,620

Standardised 715 8,934 770 9,620

Additional risk exposure amount related to Swedish RW floor  
due to Article 458 CRR 6,442 80,520 5,358 66,972

Additional risk exposure amount due to Article 3 CRR 15 191 – –

Total 14,441 180,509 14,009 175,114
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Summary of items included in own funds  

SEKm 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Equity 34,592 34,675

Proposed/actual dividend – –

Common Equity Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments 34,592 34,675

Deferred tax assets – –

Intangible assets – –

IRB provisions shortfall (-)  -417 -349

Pension assets in excess of related liabilities  -11 -12

Other items, net  -23 -15

Total regulatory adjustments to Common Equity Tier 1 capital  -451 -376

Common Equity Tier 1 capital (net after deduction) 34,140 34,299

Additional Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments – –

Total regulatory adjustments to Additional Tier 1 capital – –

Additional Tier 1 capital – –

Tier 1 capital (net after deduction) 34,140 34,299

Tier 2 capital before regulatory adjustments – –

IRB provisions excess (+) 8 39

Pension assets in excess of related liabilities – –

Other items, net – –

Total regulatory adjustments to Tier 2 capital 8 39

Tier 2 capital 8 39

Own funds (net after deduction) 34,148 34,338

Own Funds, including profit

SEKm 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Common Equity Tier 1 capital 34,140 34,299

Tier 1 capital (net after deduction) 34,140 34,299

Total Own Funds 34,148 34,338

Capital requirements
The capital requirement and the own funds described in this 
section follow the CRR rules and not accounting standards, 
see Note 23 “Capital adequacy” for details.

Capital policy
The current capital policy states that Nordea Hypotek under 
normal business conditions should have minimum levels for 
common equity tier 1 (CET1) capital ratio, tier 1 ratio and 
total capital ratio that exceeds the capital requirements set 
out by the competent authorities. Nordea Hypotek shall 
additionally hold a capital buffer.

Minimum capital requirements
Risk exposure amount (REA) is calculated in accordance 
with the requirements in the Capital Requirements 
Regulation.

Nordea Hypotek had the majority of the credit risk expo-
sure amount covered by the internal ratings based (IRB) 
approach at the end of 2025. The Nordea Group is authorised 
to use internal VaR models for calculating the capital 
requirement for the majority of the market risk in the trading 
book; Nordea Hypotek has no such risk, however. 

Internal capital requirement
The internal capital requirement is calculated based on 
Nordea Hypotek’s internal Pillar 1 equivalent, plus an addi-
tional amount for other risks, and includes an economic 
stress buffer.

In addition, supervisors require Nordea Hypotek to hold 
capital for other risks which are identified and communi-
cated as part of the Supervisory Review and Evaluation 
Process (SREP).

Allocated equity
Allocated equity (AE) is an internal measure of the capital 
that, in Nordea’s opinion, may be required to cover unforeseen 
losses in the operations, with a certain degree of probability. 
Allocated equity is calculated using internal models that pro-
vide a consistent assessment of the credit risk, market risk, 
operational risk, business risk and life insurance risk arising in 
the operations conducted by Nordea’s business areas. The 
models also take account of national capital requirements and 
tax rates. Goodwill and other key deductions are also included.
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Own funds
Own funds are the sum of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital. Tier 1 cap-
ital consists of both Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) and 
Additional Tier 1 capital. CET1 capital is considered to be 
capital of the highest quality with ultimate loss-absorbance 
characteristics and consists predominately of paid-in capital 
and retained earnings.

New regulations on capital requirements  
This section highlights recent news and updates on regulatory 
developments and capital requirements, mainly related to the 
Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD), the Capital 
Requirements Directive (CRD) and the Capital Requirements 
Regulation (CRR). The current version of CRR is called CRR3 
and it introduces the Basel IV standards in the EU. CRR3 
entails a major regulatory change from 1 January 2025 for 
credit risk, market risk and operational risk.

Finansinspektionen (the Swedish FSA) has decided to 
keep the countercyclical capital buffer at 2% – the same 
level that has been in place since the second quarter of 2023.

In 2022, Nordea Hypotek was categorised into “other sys-
temically important institutions” (O-SII) and, as such, shall 
hold a O-SII buffer of 1%. This requirement was confirmed by 
Finansinspektionen on 10 September 2025.

On 30 April 2025, Finansinspektionen informed the 
European Commission and the European Systemic Risk 
Board (ESRB) of its intention to extend the existing risk 
weight floor for Swedish mortgages by two more years. On 
24 June, the European Commission approved 
Finansinspektionen’s intention to extend the risk weight 
floors for commercial and residential properties. Following 

the EU approval, on 15 September 2025 Finansinspektionen 
decided to extend the existing risk weight floors by two 
years from 31 December 2025 to 30 December 2027 for 
Swedish mortgages, and from 30 September 2025 to 29 
September 2027 for Swedish commercial properties.

In March 2025, the Swedish National Debt Office commu-
nicated the Minimum Requirement for Eligible Liabilities 
(MREL) for Nordea Hypotek. The MREL requirements for 
Nordea Hypotek are 23.20% of the risk exposure amount 
(REA) plus the combined buffer requirement (CBR) and 6% 
of the leverage ratio exposure (LRE). The requirements came 
into force on 30 June 2025. 

CRR3 – transitional arrangements
CRR3 introduces, an output floor of 72.5% of the standard-
ised approaches on an aggregate level. This means that the 
capital requirement amounts to 72.5% of the total Pillar 1 
REA calculated using the standardised approaches for credit, 
market and operational risk. The floor was phased in at 50% 
from 1 January 2025 to be fully implemented at 72.5% from 1 
January 2030 with transitional rules for the calculation of the 
REA for the output floor extending to end-2032. 

Disclosure requirements of the CRR – The Nordea 
Hypotek Capital and Risk Management Report 2025
Further disclosures concerning risk and capital management 
are available in the Nordea Hypotek Capital and Risk 
Management Report 2025. 
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Corporate governance statement 2025
Corporate governance refers to relations between a compa-
ny’s senior management, its board of directors, its sharehold-
ers and other stakeholders, such as employees and their rep-
resentatives. It also determines the structure used to define a 
company’s objectives as well as the means of achieving them 
and of monitoring the results obtained. Strong corporate 
governance is thus about companies having clear and sys-
tematic decision-making processes, providing clarity about 
responsibilities, avoiding conflicts of interest and ensuring 
satisfactory internal control, risk management, transparency 
and accountability. 

Corporate governance at Nordea Hypotek AB (publ) (the 
Company) follows generally adopted principles of corporate 
governance and relevant normative frameworks. 

This corporate governance statement was prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Swedish Annual 
Accounts Act.

1. Corporate Governance at Nordea Hypotek AB (publ)
The Company is a Swedish public limited company. It is a 
subsidiary of Nordea Bank Abp (in Finland) and thereby part 
of the Nordea Group. The Company has issued bonds that 
are listed on the Nasdaq stock exchange in Stockholm and 
bonds that are listed on Nasdaq First North Bond Market 
Finland, in Helsinki. The shares of the Parent Company, 
Nordea Bank Abp, are listed on the Nasdaq stock exchanges 
in Helsinki, Stockholm and Copenhagen, and its American 
Depository Receipts (ADR) are traded in the US in US dollars. 
Furthermore, as part of its funding operations, Nordea Bank 
Abp issues long-term debt instruments that are usually listed 
on various stock exchanges.

The corporate governance of the Company is comprehen-
sive and proportionate with respect to the nature, scope and 
diversity of the Company’s operations to ensure effective 
management in accordance with prudent conduct of busi-
ness principles. Furthermore, commitment to the Company’s 
purpose, values and vision requires integration of sound cor-
porate governance practices into regular business activities.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the 
administration and appropriate organisation of the 
Company’s operations, while the President and Group CEO is 
responsible for the executive management of the Company. 
The main emphasis is on the Board undertaking its role in 
the corporate governance structure and the interaction with 
the other governing bodies to ensure sound corporate gov-
ernance, including systems for internal control and risk man-
agement regarding financial reporting. 

Corporate governance and the duties of the governing 
bodies of the Company are defined by the applicable exter-
nal and internal frameworks. The external framework that 
regulates corporate governance work includes EU law, such 
as the directive 2013/36/EU (CRD IV), and regulation (EU) 
No 575/2013 (CRR), as well as rules and guidelines issued by 
relevant financial supervisory authorities, such as the EBA 
Guidelines on Internal Governance and Joint ESMA and EBA 
Guidelines on the assessment of the suitability of members 
of the management body and key function holders, as well 
as national-level laws, such as the Companies Act, the 
Banking and Financing Business Act, the Annual Accounts 
Act, the Annual Accounts Act of Credit Institutions and 
Investment Firms, Covered Bond Issuance Act. The Company 
also complies with rules and guidelines issued by other rele-
vant supervisory authorities, as well as EU regulations for the 

financial industry and Nasdaq’s rules for the exchanges in 
Stockholm and Helsinki.

The Board has adopted instructions for the CEO specifying 
the latter’s responsibilities as well as other charters, policies 
and instructions for the operations of the Company. 
Furthermore, the Company’s Code of Conduct provides an 
ethical framework for the conduct of all members of govern-
ing bodies and employees. These mechanisms, together with 
the Articles of Association, the Charter and the Committee 
Charters (see section 6.3 below for a description of these 
charters) as well as applicable directives, instructions and 
policies, constitute the internal framework that regulates cor-
porate governance at the Company. 

The internal framework is designed to enable the prudent 
conduct of business by defining the powers and responsibili-
ties of the corporate bodies and employees.

Environmental, social and governance (ESG) governance: 
The Board has a leading role in driving the sustainability 
strategy and is assisted by its committees. At management 
level, the ESG area is organisationally integrated into the 
existing processes for decision-making, risk management 
and control as well as escalation, including management 
committee structures. The first line of defence is responsible 
for managing sustainability and financial impacts, while the 
second line of defence is responsible for developing the 
ESG-related risk management framework.

2. Division of Powers and Responsibilities
The management and control of the Company is divided 
among the shareholders (at general meetings), the Board 
and the CEO, pursuant to the provisions of the external 
framework, the Articles of Association and the internal 
framework set forth by the Board and/or the CEO.

The Company’s business is conducted in close integration 
with its parent company Nordea Bank Abp and the Bank’s 
branch business in Sweden. The Company and the Bank 
have agreed, in a number of Intra Group Agreements, that 
the Bank’s business areas and Group functions shall provide 
various services to the Company, including in the following 
areas: Sale of mortgages including credit decisions, combat-
ing financial crime, liquidity and capital management, com-
pliance and risk management, internal audit, funding, 
accounting and reporting, and administration of IT systems.

3. General Meetings 
The general meeting is the Company’s highest decision-mak-
ing body, at which shareholders participate in the supervi-
sion and control of the Company through their voting rights 
and right to speak. 

Applicable regulation and the Articles of Association of 
the Company determine the matters that have to be dealt 
with at a general meeting. At the general meeting, decisions 
are taken regarding matters such as the financial statements, 
dividend, election of Board members and auditor as well as 
remuneration for Board members and the auditor. 

The general meetings are held in Stockholm.
The AGM 2026 will be held on 26 March 2026.

4. Voting Rights
The Company’s Articles of Association do not contain any pro-
visions on share classes or voting rights. This means that all 
shares issued in the Company are ordinary shares and carry 
equal voting rights. Each share corresponds to one vote at the 
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general meeting. At the AGM, each shareholder is entitled to 
vote his/her full number of shares owned or represented. All 
shares in the Company are held by Nordea Bank Abp.

5. Articles of Association
The Articles of Association are available at www.nordea.com. 
Amendments to the Articles of Association are resolved by 
the General Meeting pursuant to Swedish law and are sub-
ject to the approval of the Swedish Financial Supervisory 
Authority.

6. The Board 
6.1 Composition and competence of the Board 
According to the Articles of Association, the Board shall con-
sist of at least five and no more than twelve members 
elected by the shareholders at the general meeting. The 
term of office for Board members is one year and expires at 
the end of the AGM following election. The Company has 
neither a specific retirement age for Board members nor a 
time limit for how long a Board member may serve on the 
Board. There are no such requirements in the external frame-
work. However, the number of consecutive years a person 
has served as board member shall be considered when con-
ducting the overall evaluation of independence. 
Furthermore, account is taken of applicable European regu-
latory requirements of the banking sector in the evaluation.

The Company has a diversity policy adopted by the Board 
that establishes the principles of diversity. According to the 
diversity policy, all Board member nominations must be 
based on merit with the prime consideration being to main-
tain and enhance the Board’s overall effectiveness. Within 
this, a broad set of qualities and competencies is sought, and 
it is recognised that diversity, including age, gender, geo-
graphical provenance and educational and professional back-
ground, is an important factor to take into consideration. The 
objective is to have a fair, equal and balanced representation 
of genders and other diversifying factors in the Board 
collectively.

The composition of the Board must reflect the require-
ments of the Company’s operations and current development 
stage. A Board member must have the competencies required 
by the position and the possibility to devote sufficient time to 
attend to the Board duties. The number of Board members 
and the composition of the Board must be such that they 
enable the Board to undertake its duties efficiently. 

The Board annually conducts a self-evaluation process, 
whereupon results achieved and the work of the Board are 
evaluated for the purpose of continuously improving Board 
work. The evaluation is based on methodology that includes 
questionnaires to evaluate the Board as a whole, the Chair 
and the individual Board members. The result of the 
self-evaluation process is, furthermore, discussed by the 
Board.

In accordance with applicable European regulatory 
requirements, a suitability assessment of the individual Board 
members and of the Board as a whole is completed annually 
and in connection with the selection process for new Board 
members. The annual suitability assessment concluded that 
the Board members individually and collectively were consid-
ered suitable and in possession of the requisite knowledge, 
skills and experience concerning the social, business and cul-
tural conditions of the regions and markets in which the main 
activities of the Company are carried out, exhibiting adequate 
diversity and breadth of qualities and competencies, and that 
the gender distribution is well-balanced.

To enable a good understanding of the Company’s organi-
sation and structure, business model, risk profile and govern-
ance arrangements, new Board members participate in an 
introduction programme, generally covering areas related to 
aspects such as the Company’s governance, financials and 
risk management. Board members may at any time request 
further training on a specific subject and are continuously 
provided with opportunities to maintain and deepen their 
knowledge.

In addition, Board members receive annual training based 
on their individual and collective needs as well as regulatory 
and supervisory requirements. The annual training plan is 
designed to cover the key risk areas of Nordea and ensure 
up-to-date knowledge of identified relevant knowledge 
areas. The training activities also take account of the results 
of the annual self-evaluation, suitability assessments of the 
Board as well as input on identified training needs from sen-
ior management.

The Board currently has five members (three men and two 
women), Anders Nicander (Chair), Peter Dalmalm (Deputy 
Chair), Elisabeth Olin, Tina Sandvik and Adam Wastå. Jessica 
Didriksson was elected as a new board member at an 
extraordinary general meeting on 14 February 2025. Per 
Långsved, Emma Henriksson and Maria Sahlén left the Board 
on 12 March 2025. Anders Nicander was elected as a new 
Board member and Chair on 12 March 2025. Jessica 
Didriksson left the Board on 14 January 2026.

The CEO is not a member of the Board. Board composition 
is shown in the table below.

6.2 Independence of the Board
The Company complies with applicable requirements 
regarding independence of the Board according to European 
regulations and Swedish laws and regulations. The Board 
considers all the members to be independent of the 
Company. Elisabeth Ohlin, chair of the Risk Committee, is 
independent in relation to the Company’s only shareholder, 
Nordea Bank Abp. 

Name Year of birth Position Other relevant assignments

Anders Nicander 1980 Chair Head of Personal Banking Sweden, Nordea Bank Abp; board member, GetSwish AB

Peter Dalmalm 1968 Deputy Chair Head of Personal Banking, Sweden, Nordea Bank Abp

Elisabeth Olin 1961 Board member No current assignment

Tina Sandvik 1967 Board member Head of Products & Development Personal Banking, Nordea Bank Abp

Adam Wastå 1983 Board member Chief Financial Officer for Personal Banking, Nordea Bank Abp

http://www.nordea.com
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6.3 The Work of the Board 
The Board has adopted written work procedures governing 
its work that also set forth the management and risk report-
ing to the Board (the Charter) and separate work procedures 
for its work carried out in the Board Committee (the 
Committee Charter). For example, the Charter determines 
the Board’s and the Chair’s respective areas of responsibility, 
documentation and quorum as well as the frequency of 
meetings. It also contains rules regarding conflicts of inter-
est, confidentiality and the Board secretary. 

The Board is charged with the organisation of the 
Company and the administration of the Company’s opera-
tions in accordance with the external and internal framework 
and its Charter. The Board shall ensure that the Company’s 
legal and organisational structure is appropriate and trans-
parent with a clear allocation of functions and areas of 
responsibility that ensure sound and efficient governance by 
the Company, avoids the creation of complex structures and 
enables supervisors to conduct efficient supervision.

The Board regularly follows up on the Company’s strategy, 
business development as well as its financial position and 
performance. Furthermore, the Board regularly updates the 
policies and internal rules on governance and control on 
which the Board has decided. The Board also reviews the 
risk appetite and regularly follows up on the Company’s rele-
vant risks, capital and liquidity. Significant organisational 
changes, appointments for certain senior management and 
other resolutions of material significance are other matters 
dealt with by the Board. In 2025, the Board identified and 
addressed, among other matters, macroeconomic and geo-
political events, interest rate adjustments, financial and 
non-financial risks, follow-up of late loan payments, fol-
low-up of internal outsourcing and other matters pertaining 
to internal control and compliance, with a heightened focus 
on combating financial crime.

The Board must also ensure that the Company’s organisa-
tion in respect of accounting, management of funds and the 
Company’s financial position in general include satisfactory 
controls. The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring 
that an adequate and effective system of internal control is 
established and maintained. The Company’s internal audit 
function, supported by its own risk assessment and activity 
plan, examines and evaluates whether the Company’s organ-
isation, governance, risk management and internal control 
are appropriate and effective. See also below in section 8.4.

In 2025 the Board held 20 meetings, six of which were 
held per capsulam.

6.4 Chair
The Board’s Chair and Deputy Chair are elected by the share-
holder at the general meeting. The Board meets according to 
its annual meeting schedule and as necessary. The Chair 
ensures that the Board’s work is conducted efficiently and 
that the Board fulfils its duties. The Chair leads and organ-
ises the Board’s work, maintains regular contact with the 
CEO, ensures that the Board receives sufficient information 
and documentation, and ensures that the Board annually 
performs a self-evaluation of its work.

6.5 The Board Committees 
In accordance with the external framework and in order to 
increase the effectiveness of Board work, the Board has 
established a separate working committee to assist the 
Board in preparing matters falling within the competence of 
the Board and in making decisions in matters delegated by 
the Board. 

The duties of the Board Committee, as well as the working 
procedures, are defined in the Committee Charter. In general, 
the Board Committee does not have autonomous 

decision-making powers and regularly reports on its work to 
the Board. 

In 2025, the Company decided to discontinue the Audit 
Committee and transfer its duties and responsibilities to the 
Board.

6.5.1 The Risk Committee
The Risk Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its over-
sight responsibilities concerning management and control of 
the risks, risk frameworks, controls and processes associated 
with the Company’s operations, including credit, market, 
liquidity, operational, compliance, model, ESG (environmen-
tal, social and governance) and business model risk as well 
as related frameworks and processes. 

The duties of the Risk Committee include to review and 
where required make recommendations on the Company’s 
risk and compliance governance and examine the develop-
ment of the Internal Control Framework, including the Risk 
Management Framework, in reference to the development of 
the Company’s risk profile, and changes in the regulatory 
framework. In addition, the Risk Committee shall review and 
make recommendations concerning the Company’s risk 
appetite and risk strategy. 

The members of the Risk Committee are Elisabeth Olin 
(Chair) and Adam Wastå. Jessica Didriksson left the 
Company’s Board and Risk Committee on 14 January 2026. 
The Company’s CEO, Chief Risk Officer, Chief Compliance 
Officer, Chief Internal Auditor, Chief Financial Officer, Chief 
Credit Officer and Business Risk Manager are generally pres-
ent at meetings, with the right to participate in discussions 
but not in decisions. The Risk Committee held six meetings in 
2025.

The Board annually appoints the members and the chair 
of the Risk Committee. The Committee must have at least 
three committee members who are also members of the 
Board. The chair of the Risk Committee may not be the chair 
of the Board or of any other Board Committee. The Risk 
Committee shall be composed of members of the Board who 
are not part of the Company’s executive management. 
Members of the Risk Committee shall have, individually and 
collectively, appropriate knowledge, skills and expertise con-
cerning risk management and control practices.

7. CEO and Executive Management
The CEO is charged with the day-to-day management of the 
Company and the Company’s affairs in accordance with the 
external and internal framework. The internal framework 
adopted by the Company further regulates the division of 
responsibilities and the interaction between the CEO and the 
Board. The CEO works closely with the Chair of the Board in 
relation to planning Board meetings. 

The CEO is accountable to the Board for managing the 
Company’s operations and organisation. 

The CEO works together with certain senior managers in 
Nordea Hypotek’s Executive Management (hereinafter the 
management or NHEM). NHEM meets regularly and when-
ever necessary upon request by the CEO. These meetings are 
chaired by the CEO, who takes decisions after consulting 
with the other members of NHEM. Minutes of meetings, veri-
fied by the CEO, are recorded. 

At the end of 2025 NHEM members were: Pia Tverin 
(CEO), Maria Stolpe (Chief Operating Officer), Magnus 
Svensson (Chief Financial Officer), Malin Fransson (Chief 
Credit Officer), Ida Näslund (Business Risk Manager), Emma 
Söderberg (Chief Risk Officer) and Sinda Lanz (Chief 
Compliance Officer).

The CEO and senior executives in NHEM are presented in 
the table below (seven people in total).
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Name Year of birth Position

Pia Tverin 1976 CEO 

Maria Stolpe 1969 Chief Operating Officer 

Magnus Svensson 1979 Chief Financial Officer

Malin Fransson 1992 Chief Credit Officer

Ida Näslund 1991 Business Risk Manager

Emma Söderberg 1978 Chief Risk Officer1

Sinda Lanz 1984 Chief Compliance Officer1

1)  �NHEM member without voting rights.

8. Internal Control Framework
8.1  General provisions
The Board is responsible for setting and overseeing an 
appropriate and effective Internal Control Framework. The 
framework sets out the responsibilities of the Board and the 
senior management regarding internal control, all Group 
functions and business areas, including outsourced activities 
and distribution channels. Under the Internal Control 
Framework, all business areas, Group functions and units are 
responsible for managing the risks they incur in conducting 
their activities and for having controls in place that aim to 
ensure compliance with internal and external requirements. 
As part of the Internal Control Framework, the Company has 
established independent control functions with appropriate 
and sufficient authority, stature and access to the Board to 
perform their task. This also includes the Risk Management 
Framework.

The Internal Control Framework ensures effective and 
efficient operations, adequate identification, measurement 
and mitigation of risks, prudent conduct of business, sound 
administrative and accounting procedures, reliability of 
financial and non-financial information (both internal and 
external) and compliance with applicable laws, regulations, 
supervisory requirements and internal rules.

The Internal Control Process is carried out by the 
Company’s executive management and other personnel, and 
also by the personnel of Nordea Bank Abp who act in 
accordance with Intra Group Agreements between the com-
panies, and by the Bank’s and the Company’s respective 
boards of directors. The Internal Control Process is based on 
five main components: (i) control environment, (ii) risk 
assessment, (iii) control activities, (iv) information and com-
munication, as well as (v) monitoring. The internal control 
process aims to create the necessary fundamentals for the 
entire organisation to contribute to the effectiveness and 
high quality of internal controls through, for instance, clear 
definitions, assignment of roles and responsibilities and com-
mon tools and procedures.

Roles and responsibilities with respect to internal control 
and risk management are divided into three lines of defence. 

8.2  The First Line of Defence
The first line of defence refers to all units and employees – 
including employees in Nordea Bank Abp acting in accord-
ance with Intra Group Agreements between the Company 
and Nordea Bank Abp – who are neither in the second or 
third lines of defence. These are risk owners and are thus 
responsible for conducting the business within risk exposure 
limits and risk appetite, and in accordance with the adopted 
Internal Control Framework.

8.3  The Second Line of Defence
The Company has two separate and independent functions 
in the second line of defence: (i) the Risk Control Function, 
which is responsible for maintaining and monitoring the 

implementation of the Risk Management Framework as a 
fundamental part of the Internal Control Framework, and (ii) 
the compliance function, which is responsible for maintain-
ing and monitoring the implementation of the Compliance 
Risk Management Framework. 

To ensure effective risk management, the second line of 
defence has access to all business lines and other internal 
units that have the potential to generate risk as well as to 
relevant subsidiaries and branches and outsourced activities.

8.3.1  The Risk Control Function
The Company’s Risk Control Function – including employees 
in Nordea Bank Abp’s risk function acting in accordance with 
Intra Group Agreements – is responsible for maintaining the 
Risk Management Framework as part of the Internal Control 
Framework, and for monitoring the implementation of poli-
cies and procedures within that framework. The Risk Control 
Function oversees the implementation of the financial and 
the non-financial risk policies and, according to a risk-based 
approach, monitors and controls the Risk Management 
Framework and must, among other things, ensure that all 
risks to which the Company is or could become exposed are 
identified, assessed, monitored, managed and reported. 

The Risk Control Function is headed by the Company’s 
Chief Risk Officer, who is a member of the Company man-
agement. The Chief Risk Officer is appointed, suspended or 
dismissed by the Board. The Chief Risk Officer regularly 
reports to the Risk Committee and the Board. 

8.3.2  The Compliance Function
The compliance function is responsible for the monitoring 
and control of compliance risks to which the Company is or 
could become exposed. The function is headed by an 
appointed Compliance Officer, who is employed by the 
Company and covers all compliance risks and compliance 
processes in the Company in accordance with an Intra Group 
Agreement between the Company and the Bank. 

The function is also responsible for developing and main-
taining the Compliance Risk Management Framework, which 
ensures effective and efficient identification and manage-
ment of compliance risks in accordance with regulatory 
requirements and supervisory expectations. The compliance 
risk management lifecycle covers key compliance processes 
for risk identification, independent risk assessment, oversight 
planning, testing and monitoring, training, advice and 
reporting. 

The Board of Directors approves or rejects appointments 
and dismissals of the Compliance Officer. The Compliance 
Officer regularly reports to the Risk Committee and the 
Board.

8.4  The Third Line of Defence
GIA – i.e., employees in Nordea Bank Abp acting in accord-
ance with Intra Group Agreements – which is the third line of 
defence, examines and evaluates whether the Company’s 
organisation, governance, risk management and internal 
control are appropriate and effective. See the next section 
for further information on the internal audit.

9. Internal Audit
GIA is an independent audit function in the Nordea Group. 
The Board of Directors of Nordea Bank Abp has issued a 
“Group Board Directive for Group Internal Audit”. This Group 
Directive sets out the purpose of the internal audit, its scope, 
GIA’s powers and reporting procedures. The Company has 
issued an equivalent directive (Company Directive for Group 
Internal Audit), setting out the purpose, scope, powers and 
reporting procedures of its internal audit function. 
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As explained above, the Company’s internal audit function 
is performed by GIA in accordance with an Intra Group 
Agreement between the Company and Nordea Bank Abp. 
One person in GIA is appointed to be the Company’s Chief 
Internal Auditor (CIA). The Company’s Board approves the 
appointment and dismissal of the CIA in consultation with 
the GIA.

In relation to the Company, the purpose of GIA is to sup-
port the Company’s Board and executive management in 
protecting the Company’s assets, reputation and sustainabil-
ity. GIA does this by assessing whether all significant risks 
are identified and appropriately reported by management 
and the risk functions to the Board, the Board Committees 
and the executive management, by assessing whether all 
significant risks are adequately controlled; and by challeng-
ing the executive management to improve the effectiveness 
of governance, risk management and internal controls.

GIA does not engage in consulting activities unless other-
wise instructed by the Board Audit Committee of Nordea 
Bank Abp or the Board of the Company. Consulting activities 
are the range of services, beyond audit services, performed 
specifically at the request of management for a pre-defined 
scope and provided to assist management in meeting its 
objectives.

All activities of the Company – including any outsourced 
activities, for example to Nordea Bank Abp – fall within the 
scope of GIA. GIA makes a risk-based decision as to which 
areas within its scope should be included in the audit plan 
approved by the Board. 

GIA must operate free from interference in determining 
the scope of internal auditing, in performing its audit work 
and in communicating its results. This means for example 
that GIA is authorised to inform the financial supervisory 
authorities on any matter without further approval. The CIA 
has unrestricted access to the Company’s CEO, the Chair of 
the Risk Committee and the Chair of the Board. GIA is 
authorised to conduct all investigations and obtain all infor-
mation required to discharge its duties. This includes the 
right to sufficient and timely access to the Company’s 
records, systems, premises and staff. GIA has the right to 
attend and observe Board committees, executive manage-
ment, and other key management decision-making fora 
when relevant and necessary.

10. External Audit 
According to the Articles of Association, one or two auditors 
must be elected by the Annual General Meeting for a term of 
one year. At the AGM 2025, BDO Mälardalen AB was elected 
auditor until the end of the AGM 2026.

11. Report on Internal Control and Risk 
Management regarding Financial Reporting
The Company’s and the Nordea Group’s systems for internal 
control and risk management of financial reporting are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance about the reliabil-
ity of external financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, applicable laws and regulations, and 
other requirements. The internal control and risk manage-
ment activities are included in the planning and resource 
allocation processes. The Company’s internal control and risk 
management of financial reporting is described below.

11.1 Control Environment
The control environment is comprised of the Company’s 
internal control and centres around the established culture 
and values, and the organisational structure, with clear roles 
and responsibilities. 

The primary governance principle is the adherence to the 
three-lines-of-defence model, which provides the foundation 
for a decisive and clear division of roles and responsibilities 
in the organisation. The Company’s three-lines-of-defence 
model is described in section 8 above. 

The first line of defence is responsible for the ongoing risk 
management and for compliance with applicable rules. Risk 
owners in the first line of defence are responsible for the risk 
management activities. A central function supports the Chief 
Financial Officer in defining standards that apply to relevant 
controls. Appropriate controls are implemented, maintained 
and monitored within significant processes. 

11.2 Risk Assessment
Risk assessment in relation to reliable financial reporting 
involves the identification and assessment of risks of mate-
rial misstatements or deficiencies. Financial reporting risk 
(FRR) is defined as the risk of misstatements or deficiencies 
in financial reporting, regulatory reporting, disclosures, tax 
reporting and reporting of environment, social and govern-
ance (ESG) information. 

Risk management is considered to be an integral part of 
running the business and the main responsibility for per-
forming risk assessments regarding financial reporting rests 
with the Company’s business organisation including relevant 
parts of Nordea Bank Abp in accordance with Intra Group 
Agreements. Performing risk assessments close to the busi-
ness increases the possibility of identifying risks that are rel-
evant for the Company. In order to govern the quality, control 
functions stipulate in governing documents when and how 
these assessments are to be performed. Examples of risk 
assessments are the recurring Risk and Control Self-
Assessments (RCSA) and the event-driven Change Risk 
Management and Approval process.

11.3 Control Activities
The scope of the control framework for FRR is designed to 
focus on areas where risk of material financial misstatements 
could exist, i.e. where the judgement of a reasonable person 
relying on the report would have been changed or influ-
enced by the inclusion or correction of the misstated item.

Each unit in the Company (and/or in the Bank, acting on 
behalf of the Company in accordance with an Intra Group 
Agreement) is primarily responsible for managing risks asso-
ciated with its operations and financial reporting processes. 
Internal rules stipulate how the Company’s operations and 
organisation are governed and managed (including compli-
ance with regulatory requirements), such as the Group 
Accounting Manual, the Company’s instructions on financial 
control and the financial reporting risk protocol. The Group 
Accounting Manual (GAM) holds information on the 
accounting policies to be used in the Nordea Group, includ-
ing the Company, and contains detailed reporting instruc-
tions and the tools needed for producing the financial 
statements.
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The control structure for FRR has been based on one or a 
group of controls identified as principal controls that may be 
relied on to prevent, detect or mitigate high and critical 
financial reporting risks. This involves the identification and 
assessment of risks of financial reporting misstatements or 
deficiencies based on process flows with an end-to-end pro-
cess focus. In a parallel analysis, it is determined which sys-
tems are relied on in financial reporting and the correspond-
ing IT general controls.

The quality assurance achieved through the management 
reporting process, where a detailed analysis of the financial 
outcome is performed, constitutes an important control 
mechanism associated with the reporting process. 

11.4 Information and Communication
Group Finance is responsible for ensuring that reporting ful-
fils the requirements of accounting standards and/or appli-
cable regulations and that changes are communicated to the 
responsible units. This is supported by detailed guidelines 
and standard operating procedures in the responsible units.

Management at different levels in the organisation is pro-
vided with information related to the performance, self-as-
sessment, testing and mutual oversight of the identified 
internal controls in their processes.

The Company, directly or through the Nordea Group, inter-
acts with relevant subject-matter experts externally to keep 
up to date with changes in reporting expectations and 
ensure fulfilment of financial reporting objectives. The 
Company, directly or through the Nordea Group, actively par-
ticipates in relevant national and international forums, such 
as those established by the financial supervisory authorities, 
central banks and associations for financial institutions.

11.5 Monitoring 
The Company has access to a process that the Nordea Group 
has established for regular evaluation of risk metrics, such as 
risk exposure metrics, with the purpose of ensuring proper 
monitoring of the quality of the financial reporting. The Chief 
Financial Officer reports on the management of FRR to the 
Board each quarter. 

An independent risk control function resides in the second 
line of defence and is responsible for identifying, controlling 
and reporting on FRR. In addition, GIA provides the Board 
with an assessment of the general effectiveness of the gov-
ernance, risk management and control processes throughout 
the organisation, including financial reporting. 

The Board, the Risk Committee, the Risk Control Function, 
the Compliance Function and GIA have important roles in 
respect of governance and oversight of the internal control 
of financial reporting. For further information, see “Board of 
Directors” (section 6), “The Risk Committee” (section 6.5.2), 
“The second line of defence” (section 8.3) and “Internal 
audit” (section 9) above.
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Income statement

SEK (000s) Note 2025 2024

Operating income

Interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method  23,704,297 33,221,287

Other interest income  249,556 422,642

Interest expense -19,097,702 -28,398,935

Net interest income 3  4,856,151 5,244,994

Fee and commission income  32,281 29,986

Fee and commission expense -259,459 -238,594

Net fee and commission income 4 -227,178 -208,608

Net result from items at fair value 5  50,908 118,069

Total operating income  4,679,881 5,154,455

Operating expenses

General administrative expenses:

Staff costs 6 -39,280 -42,207

Other expenses 7 -1,862,997 -2,206,248

Regulatory fees 8 -495,370 -480,867

Total operating expenses -2,397,647 -2,729,322

Profit before loan losses  2,282,234 2,425,133

Net loan losses 9  85,825 -129,003

Operating profit  2,368,059 2,296,129

Income tax expense 10 -487,611 -491,696

Net profit for the year  1,880,448 1,804,433

Statement of comprehensive income

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Net profit for the year  1,880,448 1,804,433

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement

Cash flow hedges:

Valuation gains/losses -238,500 546,820

Tax on valuation gains/losses  49,131 -112,645

Transferred to the income statement  238,746 -553,343

Tax on transfers to the income statement -49,182 113,989

Available for sale investments1

Valuation gains/losses  2,869 -1,671

Tax on valuation gains/losses -591 344

Other comprehensive income, net of tax  2,473 -6,506

Total comprehensive income  1,882,921 1,797,927

1)  Valuation gains/losses related to hedged risks under fair value hedge accounting are accounted for directly in the income statement.
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Balance sheet

SEK (000s) Note 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Assets

Loans to credit institutions 11  11,933,226 8,722,812

Loans to the public 11  782,015,454 739,157,568

Interest-bearing securities 12  19,358,264 20,048,614

Derivatives 13  4,724,084 5,633,936

Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk 13  242,016 -315,506

Deferred tax assets 10  893 944

Current tax assets 10  91,626 68,091

Other assets 14  156,671 1,162,698

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 15  287 1,218

Total assets  818,522,521 774,480,375

Liabilities 

Deposits by credit institutions 16  381,253,391 321,845,275

Debt securities in issue 17  397,157,381 409,927,170

Derivatives 13  2,697,625 4,310,996

Current tax liabilities  –   36,692

Other liabilities 18  2,695,942 3,424,219

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 19  121,359 341,329

Provisions 20  6,482 5,455

Total liabilities  783,932,180 739,891,136

Equity

Share capital  110,000 110,000

Fair value reserves  12,207 9,734

Retained earnings  32,587,686 32,665,072

Net profit for the year  1,880,448 1,804,433

Total equity  34,590,341 34,589,239

Total liabilities and equity  818,522,521 774,480,375

Other notes
Note 1	 Accounting policies
Note 2	 Segment reporting
Note 21	 Assets pledged as security for own liabilities
Note 22	 Commitments
Note 23	 Capital adequacy
Note 24	 Classification of financial instruments
Note 25	 Fair value
Note 26	 Financial instruments set off on balance or subject to netting agreements
Note 27	 Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
Note 28	 Maturity analysis for assets and liabilities
Note 29	 Related-party transactions
Note 30	 Credit risk disclosures
Note 31	 Proposed distribution of earnings
Note 32	 Sustainability report
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Statement of changes in equity

Restricted equity Unrestricted equity

SEK (000s) Share capital1 Cash flow hedges

Fair value through 
other comprehen

sive income:
Retained 
earnings Total equity

Balance at 1 Jan 2025 110,000 -3,638 13,372 34,469,505 34,589,239

Net profit for the year – – – 1,880,448 1,880,448

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to  
the income statement – – – – –

Fair value through other comprehensive income:

Valuation gains/losses – – 2,869 – 2,869

Tax on valuation gains/losses – – -591 – -591

Cash flow hedges:

Valuation gains/losses – -238,500 – – -238,500

Tax on valuation gains/losses – 49,131 – – 49,131

Transferred to the income statement – 238,746 – – 238,746

Tax on transfers to the income statement – -49,182 – – -49,182

Other comprehensive income, net of tax – 195 2,278 – 2,473

Total comprehensive income – 195 2,278 1,880,448 1,882,921

Shareholders’ contribution received – – – – –

Group contribution paid – – – -2,369,915 -2,369,915

Tax on Group contribution – – – 488,203 488,203

Share-based payments – – – -107 -107

Dividend – – – – –

Balance at 31 Dec 2025 110,000 -3,443 15,650 34,468,134 34,590,341

1)  Total number of shares registered were 100,000.

Restricted equity Unrestricted equity

SEK (000s) Share capital1 Cash flow hedges

Fair value through 
other comprehen

sive income:
Retained 
earnings Total equity

Balance at 1 Jan 2024 110,000 1,541 14,699 32,544,685 32,670,925

Net profit for the year – – – 1,804,433 1,804,433

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to  
the income statement – – – – –

Fair value through other comprehensive income:

Valuation gains/losses – – -1,671 – -1,671

Tax on valuation gains/losses – – 344 – 344

Cash flow hedges:

Valuation gains/losses – 546,820 – – 546,820

Tax on valuation gains/losses – -112,645 – – -112,645

Transferred to the income statement – -553,343 – – -553,343

Tax on transfers to the income statement – 113,989 – – 113,989

Other comprehensive income, net of tax – -5,179 -1,327 – -6,506

Total comprehensive income – -5,179 -1,327 1,804,433 1,797,927

Shareholders’ contribution received – – – 2,300,000 2,300,000

Group contribution paid – – – -2,380,723 -2,380,723

Tax on Group contribution – – – 490,429 490,429

Share-based payments – – – -85 -85

Dividend – – – -289,234 -289,234

Balance at 31 Dec 2024 110,000 -3,638 13,372 34,469,505 34,589,239

1)  Total number of shares registered were 100,000.
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Cash flow statement

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Operating activities

Operating profit 2,368,059 2,296,129

Adjustment for items not included in cash flow -229,684 423,549

Income taxes paid -59,635 -66,450

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities 2,078,740 2,653,228

Changes in operating assets

Change in loans to credit institutions -3,074,683 -10,056

Change in loans to the public -42,772,903 -22,747,290

Change in interest-bearing securities 695,236 -191,074

Change in derivatives, net 187,673 2,389,705

Change in other assets 1,006,027 865,107

Changes in operating liabilities

Change in deposits by credit institutions 59,498,000 27,704,000

Change in debt securities in issue -14,384,166 -10,932,713

Change in other liabilities -3,098,193 -2,166,619

Cash flow from operating activities -1,943,009 -5,088,940

Financing activities

Shareholder contribution – 2,300,000

Paid dividend – -289,234

Repaid subordinated liabilities – -1,650,000

Cash flow from financing activities – 360,766

Cash flow for the year 135,731 -2,074,945

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 8,712,756 10,787,701

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 8,848,487 8,712,756

Change 135,731 -2,074,945

Comments on the cash flow statement
The cash flow statement shows inflows and outflows of cash 
and cash equivalents during the year for total operations. 
Nordea Hypotek’s cash flow has been prepared in accord-
ance with the indirect method, whereby operating profit is 
adjusted for effects of non-cash transactions such as depre-
ciation and loan losses. The cash flows are classified by oper-
ating and financing activities.

Operating activities
Operating activities are the principal revenue-producing 
activities and cash flows are mainly derived from the operat-
ing profit for the year with adjustment for items not included 
in cash flow and income taxes paid. Adjustment for non-cash 
items includes:

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Loan losses -84,983 129,682

Unrealised gains/losses -893,134 -1,195,647

Change in accruals and provisions -140,539 183,745

Change in fair value of the hedge items, 
assets/liabilities (net) 886,606 1,312,359

Other 2,366 -6,590

Total -229,684 423,549

Changes in operating assets and liabilities consist of assets 
and liabilities that are part of normal business activities, such 
as loans and debt securities in issue. Changes in derivatives 
are reported net.

Cash flow from operating activities includes interest  
payments received and interest expenses paid with the  
following amounts:

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Interest payments received 24,101,552 33,677,533

Interest expenses paid -19,017,554 -28,330,045

Financing activities
Financing activities are activities that result in changes in 
equity and subordinated liabilities, such as issued/amortised 
subordinated liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents
The following items are included in Cash and cash equivalents: 

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Loans to credit institutions,  
payable on demand 8,848,487 8,712,756

Loans to credit institutions, payable on demand include 
liquid assets not represented by bonds or other interest-
bearing securities.
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1. Basis of presentation 
The financial statements for Nordea Hypotek AB (publ) are 
prepared in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts 
Act for Credit Institutions and Investment Firms (1995:1559), 
the accounting regulations of Finansinspektionen (the 
Swedish financial supervisory authority) (FFFS 2008:25 
including amendments) and the accounting recommenda-
tion RFR 2 Accounting for legal entities issued by the 
Swedish Corporate Reporting Board. This means that Nordea 
Hypotek AB (publ) applies International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by the European Commission 
to the extent possible within the framework of Swedish 
accounting legislation and with due consideration for the 
close tie between financial reporting and taxation. 

The disclosures, required in the standards, recommenda-
tions and legislation above, have been included in the notes, 
the Risk, Liquidity and Capital management section or in 
other parts of the financial statements.

On 20 February 2026, the Board of Directors approved the 
Annual Report and the Annual General Meeting will be held 
on 26 March 2026.

The accounting policies and methods of computation are 
unchanged from Note 1 in the Annual Report

2024, except for those relating to the items presented in 
the section “Changed accounting policies” below. 

2. Changed accounting policies
New accounting policies were introduced by Nordea 
Hypotek in 2025. Their effect on Nordea Hypotek’s financial 
statements is described below.

The changes made to the Swedish Annual Accounts Act 
for Credit Institutions and Investment Firms (1995:1559) dur-
ing the year have not had any significant impact on Nordea 
Hypotek’s financial statements. Neither has the Swedish FSA 
published any changes applicable during the year regarding 
the regulation FFFS 2008:25. Furthermore, the Swedish 
Corporate Reporting Board has not published any notifica-
tions to amend RFR 2 “Accounting for legal entities” that 
have had any significant impact on Nordea Hypotek’s finan-
cial statements for 2025.

The following amended standard issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) was imple-
mented by Nordea Hypotek on 1 January 2025, but has not 
had any significant impact on its financial statements.
•	 Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Lack of 

Exchangeability.

3. Changes to IFRSs not yet applied  
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure 
in Financial Statements 
In April 2024, the IASB published the new standard, IFRS 18 
Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which 
will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. IFRS 
18 introduces new requirements for the presentation of and 
disclosures in financial statements. In addition, IFRS 18 intro-
duces requirements for aggregation and disaggregation of 
financial information in financial statements. It is currently 
unclear to what extent RFR 2 and FFFS 2008:25 will dero-
gate from these rules and thus how they will affect Nordea 
Hypotek. However, as the standard format for the profit and 
loss account and balance sheet is governed by the Swedish 
Annual Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Investment 
Firms, no significant impact on the financial statements or 
capital adequacy is anticipated.

Amendments to the classification and measurement of 
financial instruments (amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7) 
In May 2024, the IASB published amendments to the classifi-
cation and measurement of financial instruments (amend-
ments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7). 

The amendments clarify whether contractual cash flows 
from financial instruments with contractual terms, linked to 
the achievement of environment, social and governance 
(ESG) targets, for example, meet the solely payments of prin-
cipal and interest (SPPI) criterion, which is a condition for 
measurement at amortised cost. The amendments allow cer-
tain financial assets, including those linked to the achieve-
ment of ESG targets, to meet the solely payments of princi-
pal and interest (SPPI) criterion at initial recognition, pro-
vided that cash flows do not deviate substantially from cash 
flows from identical financial assets without such terms. In 
addition, further disclosures on financial assets and financial 
liabilities with contractual terms are required. The new 
requirements are not expected to have any significant impact 
on Nordea Hypotek’s financial statements or capital ade-
quacy upon initial application, apart from the disclosures. 

The amendments also clarify the characteristics of con-
tractually-linked instruments (CLIs) and non-recourse fea-
tures. These clarifications will not have any significant impact 
on the classification of financial assets or capital adequacy 
upon initial application. 
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Note 1  Accounting policies, cont.

The amendments also include the recognition and 
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
including an optional discharge regarding derecognition of 
financial liabilities settled through an electronic payment 
system. This amendment will not have any significant impact 
on Nordea Hypotek’s financial statements or capital ade-
quacy upon initial application, 

The new standard is effective for annual periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2026.

Other amendments
The following changes in IFRSs not yet applied by Nordea 
Hypotek are not assessed to have any significant impact on 
the Company’s financial statements or capital adequacy in 
the period of their initial application. 
•	 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity 

(amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7). 
•	 Annual Improvements – Volume 11. 
•	 Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates: Translation 

to a Hyperinflationary Presentation Currency (amend-
ments to IAS 21). 

4. Critical judgements and estimation uncertainty 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires, in some 
cases, the use of judgements and estimates by management. 
The actual outcome can later, to some extent, differ from the 
estimates and the assumptions made. In this section Nordea 
Hypotek describes: 
•	 the sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, which involve a significant risk of a mate-
rial adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabil-
ities within the next financial year, and

•	 the judgements made when applying accounting policies 
(apart from those involving estimations) that have the 
most significant impact on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

Critical judgements and estimates are in particular associ-
ated with:
•	 Net result from items at fair value (Note 5.) 
•	 Fair value (Note 25.)
•	 Recognition and derecognition on the balance sheet (Note 

26.)
•	 Impairment testing of loans to the public (Note 11.)
•	 Hedge accounting (Note 13.)
•	 Taxes (Note 10.)
•	 Classification and measurement (Note 24.)  

Net result from items at fair value
There is estimation uncertainty in the valuation of financial 
instruments, in particular for instruments that lack quoted 
prices or where recently observed market prices are not 
available (level 3 instruments). See Note 26 “Fair value”.

Fair value
Critical judgements that have a significant impact on the rec-
ognised amounts for financial instruments are exercised 
when determining the fair value of OTC derivatives and other 
financial instruments that lack quoted prices or where 
recently observed market prices are not available, such as 
unlisted equities.

The judgements relate to the following areas:
•	 The choice of valuation techniques.
•	 The determination of when quoted prices fail to represent 

fair value (including the judgement of whether markets are 
active).

•	 The calculation of fair value adjustments in order to incor-
porate relevant risk factors such as credit risk, model risk 
and liquidity risk.

•	 The judgement of which market parameters are 
observable.

The critical judgements required when determining the fair 
value of financial instruments that lack quoted prices or 
where recently observed market prices are not available also 
introduce a high degree of estimation uncertainty.

In all of these instances, decisions are based upon profes-
sional judgement in accordance with Nordea Hypotek’s 
accounting and valuation policies. The fair value of financial 
assets and liabilities measured at fair value using a valuation 
technique, level 2 and 3 in the fair value hierarchy, was SEK 
26,779m (29,994) and SEK 2m (0), respectively, at the end of 
the year. For further information, see Note 26 “Assets and lia-
bilities at fair value”.

Recognition and derecognition in the balance sheet 
Loans and other financial assets where cash flows are modi-
fied, or part of a restructuring, are derecognised and a new 
loan recognised if the terms and conditions of the new loan 
are substantially different from the old loan. Nordea Hypotek 
applies judgements to determine if the terms and conditions 
of the new loan are substantially different from those of the 
old loan. It is generally Nordea Hypotek’s judgement that if a 
new credit assessment results in a change in the interest rate 
and/or maturity, this is considered a substantial change and 
as such qualifies as a derecognition event.

The carrying amount of loans and interest-bearing securi-
ties on the assets side of the balance sheet at the end of 
2025 amounted to SEK 813,307 m (767,929). For more infor-
mation, see section 6 “Recognition and derecognition of 
financial instruments on the balance sheet”.

Impairment testing of loans to the public 
Management is required to exercise critical judgements and 
estimates when calculating loan impairment allowances. 
Nordea Hypotek’s total amortised cost lending before 
impairment allowances was SEK 794,286m (748,325) at the 
end of the year.  

When calculating allowances for individually significant 
impaired loans, judgement is exercised to estimate the 
amount and timing of the expected cash flows to be received 
from the customers under different scenarios, including the 
valuation of any collateral received. Judgement is also 
applied when assigning the likelihood of the different sce-
narios occurring.

Judgement is exercised to assess when an exposure has 
experienced a significant increase in credit risk. If this is the 
case, the provision should reflect the lifetime expected losses 
as opposed to a 12-month expected loss amount for expo-
sures that have not increased significantly in credit risk. 
Judgement is also exercised in the choice of modelling 
approaches covering other parameters used when calculat-
ing the expected losses, such as the expected lifetime used 
in stage 2, as well as in the assessment of whether the 
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parameters based on historical experience are relevant for 
estimating future losses.

The statistical models used to calculate provisions are 
based on macroeconomic scenarios, which requires manage-
ment to exercise judgement when identifying such scenarios 
and when assigning the likelihood of the different scenarios 
occurring. Judgement is also exercised in the assessment of 
to what extent the parameters for the different scenarios, 
based on historical experience, are relevant for estimating 
future losses. Nordea adjusts its collectively calculated provi-
sions if the historical data does not adequately reflect man-
agement’s view regarding expected credit losses. Estimating 
post-model adjustments requires management to exercise 
critical judgements.

Hedge accounting
One important judgement in connection with cash flow 
hedge accounting is the choice of method used for effective-
ness testing.

Where Nordea Hypotek applies cash flow hedge account-
ing, the hedging instruments used are predominantly 
cross-currency interest rate swaps, which are always held at 
fair value. The currency component is designated as a cash 
flow hedge of the currency risk and the interest component 
as a fair value hedge of the interest rate risk. The hypotheti-
cal derivative method is used when measuring the effective-
ness of these cash flow hedges, meaning that the change in 
a perfect hypothetical swap is used as proxy for the present 
value of the cumulative change in expected future cash 
flows on the hedged transaction (the currency component). 
Critical judgement has to be exercised when defining the 
characteristics of the perfect hypothetical swap. Further 
information on hedge accounting is presented in section 8. 
“Hedge accounting”. 

Taxes 
Tax positions are regularly reviewed to identify situations 
where it is not probable that the relevant tax authorities will 
accept the treatment used in the tax filings. Uncertain tax 
positions are considered independently or as a group, 
depending on which approach better predicts the resolution 
of the uncertainty. If Nordea Hypotek concludes that it is not 
probable that the taxation authority will accept an uncertain 
tax treatment, the effect of uncertainty is reflected when 
determining the related taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, 
unused tax losses, unused tax credits or tax rates. This is 
done by using either the most likely amount or the expected 
value, depending on which method better predicts the out-
come of the uncertainty. Uncertain tax treatment can affect 
both current tax and deferred tax.

The valuation of deferred tax assets is influenced by man-
agement’s assessment of Nordea Hypotek’s future profitabil-
ity and sufficiency of future taxable profits and future rever-
sals of existing taxable temporary differences. These assess-
ments are updated and reviewed at each balance sheet date 
and are, if necessary, revised to reflect the current situation. 
Further information on Taxes is presented in section 12 
“Taxes” and in Note 10 “Taxes”.  

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets was SEK 1m 
(1) at the end of the year.

Classification and measurement 
The classification of a financial asset is dependent on the 
business model for the portfolio in which the instrument is 
included and on whether the cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest (SPPI).   

Contractual cash flows that meet the solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI) criterion are consistent with a 
basic lending arrangement. In a basic lending arrangement, 
interest can include compensation for the time value of 
money, credit risk, liquidity risk, costs and a profit margin.

Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. All other assets 
are classified based on the business model. Instruments 
included in a portfolio with a business model where the 
intention is to keep the instruments and collect contractual 
cash flows are measured at amortised cost. Instruments 
included in a business model where the intention is both to 
keep the instruments to collect the contractual cash flows 
and to sell the instruments are measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income.

5. Recognition of operating income and impairment 
Net interest income 
Interest consists of compensation for time value of money 
plus a margin. The effective interest rate equals the rate that 
discounts the estimated future cash flows to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability at initial.
recognition.

Interest income and expense are calculated and recog-
nised using the effective interest rate method or, if consid-
ered appropriate, a method that provides a reasonable 
approximation in line with the effective interest rate method 
as the basis for the calculation. The effective interest rate 
includes fees considered to be an integral part of the effec-
tive interest rate of a financial instrument (generally fees 
received as compensation for risk). 

Interest income and expenses from financial instruments 
are, with the exceptions described below, classified as “Net 
interest income”.

The interest component of derivatives is classified as “Net 
result from items at fair value”, except for derivatives used for 
hedging purposes. In accounting hedges the interest compo-
nent of derivatives is classified as “Interest income calculated 
using the effective interest rate method” if the derivative is 
used to hedge an asset and as “Interest expense” if the 
derivative is used to hedge a liability. In economic hedges the 
interest component of derivatives is classified as “Other 
interest income” if the derivative is used to hedge an asset 
and as “Interest expense” if the derivative is used to hedge a 
liability. 

The yield on financial assets is presented in two line items 
in the income statement: “Interest income calculated using 
the effective interest rate method” and “Other interest 
income” In the line item “Interest income calculated using 
the effective interest rate method”, Nordea Hypotek presents 
interest income from financial assets measured at amortised 
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
This line item also includes the effect from hedge accounting 
relating to these assets. All other interest income is disclosed 
in the income statement under the item “Other interest 
income”. Further information on net interest income is pre-
sented in Note 3 “Net interest income”.
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Net fee and commission income 
Nordea Hypotek earns commission income from services 
related to lending to customers. Commission income and 
commission expenses are normally transaction-based and 
recognised in the period when the services were provided 
and obtained. For more information on different types of 
commission income and commission expense, see Note 4 
“Net fee and commission income”. 

Net result from items at fair value 
Realised and unrealised gains and losses on financial instru-
ments measured at fair value through profit or loss are usu-
ally recognised in the item “Net result from items at fair 
value”. 

The following items are in addition presented in “Net 
result from items at fair value”:
•	 Realised gains/losses from assets and liabilities measured 

at amortised cost such as early redemption charges 
received and realised gains/losses on buy-backs of issued 
own debt.

•	 The revaluation of the hedged risks in hedged items under 
hedge accounting.   

The following items are not presented as “Net result from 
items at fair value”:
•	 The interest component of derivatives used for hedge 

accounting and economic hedges. These components are 
presented in “Net interest income” to ensure consistent 
accounting treatment with the hedged items.   

Other operating income and other expenses  
Other operating income, not related to any other income line, 
is generally recognised when it is probable that the benefits 
associated with the transaction will accrue to Nordea 
Hypotek and if the significant risks and rewards have been 
transferred to the buyer (generally when the transaction is 
finalised).

Transactions not related to any other expense line are 
generally presented in “Other expenses”.

Regulatory fees
Regulatory fees consist of fees charged by authorities. Costs 
for such fees are recognised when the actual event that 
gives rise to an obligation to pay a fee has occurred. 
Resolution fees are not refundable if Nordea Hypotek discon-
tinues its operations and the obligating event is conse-
quently assessed to occur on the first day of the year. The 
Swedish bank tax is refundable for the period during which 
Nordea Hypotek does not operate, and the obligating event 
is therefore assessed to occur continuously over the year. 
Resolution fees are thus recognised in full in the first quarter, 
while the Swedish bank tax is amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the course of the year. 

Starting from 2025 the Swedish Central Bank may each 
year require interest-free deposits from credit institutions 
with operations in Sweden. Nordea Hypotek recognises a 
regulatory fee representing the interest that would otherwise 
have been received on the deposit over its lifetime (usually 
one year). The regulatory fee is recognised in full on the date 
of the deposit that is assessed to constitute the obligating 

event. The regulatory fee is amortised as interest income 
over the lifetime of the deposit as part of the effective inter-
est on the deposit which is presented under “Loans to credit 
institutions”.

Net loan losses 
Impairment losses from financial assets classified as amor-
tised cost (see section 10 “Financial instruments”), in the 
items “Loans to credit institutions”, “Loans to the public” and 
“Interest-bearing securities” on the balance sheet, are 
reported as “Net loan losses”. Losses are reported net of any 
collateral and other credit enhancements. The accounting 
policies for the calculation of impairment losses on loans can 
be found in section 11 “Loans to the public/credit institu-
tions”. Counterparty losses attributable to financial instru-
ments classified into the category Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are reported under “Net result 
from items at fair value”.

6. Recognition and derecognition of financial 
instruments on the balance sheet
Derivative instruments, quoted securities and foreign 
exchange spot transactions are recognised on and derecog-
nised from the balance sheet on the trade date. Other finan-
cial instruments are recognised on the balance sheet on the 
settlement date. An asset or a liability is recognised in “Other 
assets” or “Other liabilities” on the balance sheet between 
the trade date and the settlement date.

Financial assets, other than those for which trade date 
accounting is applied, are derecognised from the balance 
sheet when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial assets expire or are transferred to another party. 
The rights to the cash flows normally expire or are trans-
ferred when the counterparty has performed by e.g. repaying 
a loan to Nordea Hypotek, i.e. on the settlement date. Rights 
to cash flows may also expire when loans are rolled over or 
modified. The rights to cash flows are generally considered 
to have expired if the change is at market rates and no pay-
ment-related concession has been provided.

In some cases, Nordea Hypotek enters into transactions in 
which it transfers assets that are recognised on the balance 
sheet, but retains either all or a portion of the risk and 
rewards from the transferred assets. If all or substantially all 
risks and rewards are retained, the transferred assets are not 
derecognised from the balance sheet. Transfers of assets 
with retention of all risks and rewards include reversed 
repurchase agreements. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised from the balance 
sheet when the liability is extinguished. Normally this occurs 
when Nordea Hypotek performs its part of the agreement, 
for example when Nordea Hypotek returns a deposit to the 
counterparty, i.e. on the settlement date. Financial liabilities, 
for which cash flows have been modified or extended, are 
also derecognised if the new terms and conditions differ 
materially from those for the original liabilities. This is the 
case if the present value of the cash flows under the new 
terms discounted by the original interest rate differs by 10% 
or more from the discounted present value of the remaining 
expected cash flows of the original financial liability. 
Qualitative factors are also taken into consideration.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nordea Hypotek AB (publ) 556091-5448 Annual Report 2025 39

Note 1  Accounting policies, cont.

7. Translation of assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies  
Nordea Hypotek’s functional currency and presentation cur-
rency is Swedish kronor (SEK).

Foreign currency is defined as any currency other than the 
functional currency of the entity. Foreign currency transac-
tions are recorded at the exchange rate on the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate on the 
balance sheet date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of transac-
tions at rates different from those on the date of the transac-
tions, and unrealised translation differences on unsettled for-
eign currency monetary assets and liabilities, are recognised 
in the income statement in the line item “Net result from 
items at fair value”.

8. Hedge accounting 
When a hedging relationship meets the specified hedge 
accounting criteria set out in IAS 39, Nordea Hypotek applies 
one of three types of hedge accounting: 
•	 Fair value hedge accounting 
•	 Cash flow hedge accounting 
•	 Hedges of net investments   

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations do not occur 
at Nordea Hypotek. 

Nordea Hypotek has elected, as a policy choice permitted 
under IFRS 9, to continue to apply hedge accounting in 
accordance with the carve-out version of IAS 39.

Under the EU carve-out version of IAS 39, fair value macro 
hedge accounting may for instance, in comparison with IAS 
39 as issued by the IASB, be applied to on-demand (core) 
deposits, and hedge ineffectiveness in a hedge of assets with 
prepayment options is only recognised when the revised 
estimate of the amount of cash flows falls below the desig-
nated bottom layer.

At inception, Nordea Hypotek formally documents how 
the hedging relationship meets the hedge accounting crite-
ria, including the economic relationship between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument, the nature of the risk, the 
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the 
hedge and the method that will be used to assess the effec-
tiveness of the hedging relationship on an ongoing basis.

The application of hedge accounting requires the hedge 
to be highly effective. A hedge is regarded as highly effective 
if, at inception and throughout its life, changes in the fair 
value of the hedged item, as regards the hedged risk, can be 
expected to be essentially offset by changes in the fair value 
of the hedging instrument. The result should be within a 
range of 80–125%.

Transactions that are entered into in accordance with 
Nordea’s hedging objectives but do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are economic hedge relationships.

Fair value hedges 
Fair value hedge accounting is applied when derivatives are 
hedging changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or 
liability attributable to a specific risk. Fair value hedge 
accounting can be performed at both micro level (single 
assets/liabilities or closed portfolios of assets/liabilities 
where one or more hedged items are hedged using one or 
more hedging instruments) and macro level (open portfolios 

where groups of items are hedged using multiple hedging 
instruments).

The risk of changes in fair value of assets and liabilities in 
Nordea Hypotek’s financial statements originates mainly 
from loans, securities and fixed-rate borrowings, causing 
interest rate risk. Changes in fair value from derivatives as 
well as changes in fair value of the hedged item attributable 
to the risks being hedged are recognised separately in the 
income statement in the item “Net result from items at fair 
value”. Given an effective hedge, the two changes in fair 
value will more or less balance, meaning the net result is 
close to zero.

The changes in the fair value of the hedged item, attribut-
able to the risks being hedged with the derivative instru-
ment, are reflected in an adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the hedged item, which is also recognised in the income 
statement. The fair value changes of the hedged items held 
at amortised cost in hedges of interest rate risks in macro 
hedges are reported separately in the balance sheet item 
“Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedges of 
interest rate risk”.

Any ineffectiveness is recognised in the income statement 
under the item “Net result from items at fair value”.

Hedged items 
A hedged item in a fair value hedge can be a recognised sin-
gle asset or liability, an unrecognised firm commitment, or a 
portion thereof. The hedged item can also be a group of 
assets, liabilities or firm commitments with similar risk char-
acteristics. Hedged items in Nordea Hypotek consist of both 
individual assets or liabilities and portfolios of assets and/or 
liabilities.

Hedging instruments 
The hedging instruments used in Nordea Hypotek are inter-
est rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps, which 
are always held at fair value. If the hedging relationship does 
not meet the hedge accounting requirements, hedge 
accounting is discontinued. For fair value hedges, the hedg-
ing instrument is measured at fair value through profit and 
loss and the change in the fair value of the hedged item, up 
to the point when the hedge relationship is terminated, is 
amortised to the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the remaining maturity of the hedged item. 

Hedge effectiveness 
When assessing hedge effectiveness retrospectively, Nordea 
Hypotek measures the fair value of the hedging instruments 
and compares the change in fair value of the hedging instru-
ment to the change in fair value of the hedged item. The 
effectiveness measurement is made on a cumulative basis. 
Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from: 
•	 Differences in timing of cash flows of hedged items and 

hedging instruments 
•	 Different interest rate curves applied to discount the 

hedged items and hedging instruments 
•	 The effect of changes in Nordea Hypotek’s or a counterpar-

ty’s credit risk on the fair value of the hedging instrument or 
hedged items 

•	 Disparity between expected and actual prepayments of the 
loan portfolio 
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Cash flow hedge accounting 
Cash flow hedge accounting can be used for the hedging of 
exposure to variations in future interest payments on instru-
ments with floating interest rates and for the hedging of cur-
rency exposures. The portion of the gain or loss on the hedg-
ing instrument, which is determined to be an effective 
hedge, is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the fair value reserve in equity. The ineffec-
tive portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is 
recycled to the item “Net result from items at fair value” in 
the income statement. 

Gains or losses on hedging instruments recognised in the 
fair value reserve in equity through other comprehensive 
income are recycled and recognised in the income statement 
in the same period as the hedged item affects profit or loss, 
normally in the period that interest income or interest 
expense is recognised.

Hedged items 
A hedged item in a cash flow hedge can be highly probable 
floating interest rate cash flows from recognised assets or 
liabilities or from future assets or liabilities. Nordea Hypotek 
uses cash flow hedges when hedging currency risk on future 
payments of interest and principal (both from issued debt in 
foreign currency and/or intra-group lending) and when 
hedging interest rate risk on lending at floating interest rates. 

Hedging instruments  
The hedging instruments used in Nordea Hypotek are pre-
dominantly cross currency interest rate swaps, which are 
always held at fair value, where the currency component is 
designated as a cash flow hedge of currency risk and the 
interest component as a fair value hedge of interest rate risk. 
When hedging interest-rate risk in floating-rate lending, 
Nordea Hypotek uses interest-rate derivatives as hedging 
instruments, which are always held at fair value.

Hedge effectiveness 
The hypothetical derivative method is used when measuring 
the effectiveness retrospectively of cash flow hedges, mean-
ing that the change in a perfect hypothetical swap is used as 
a proxy for the present value of the cumulative change in 
expected future cash flows from the hedged transaction (the 
currency component).

If the hedging relationship does not meet the hedge 
accounting requirements, hedge accounting is discontinued. 
Changes in the unrealised value of the hedging instrument 
will prospectively from the last time it was proven effective 
be accounted for in the income statement. The cumulative 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been recog-
nised in the cash flow hedge reserve in equity through other 
comprehensive income from the period when the hedge was 
effective is reclassified from equity to “Net result from items 
at fair value” in the income statement if the expected trans-
action is no longer expected to occur. 

If the expected transaction is no longer highly probable 
but is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss on 
the hedging instrument that has been recognised in other 
comprehensive income from the period when the hedge was 
effective will remain in other comprehensive income until the 
transaction occurs or is no longer expected to occur.

The possible sources of ineffectiveness for cash flow 
hedges are generally the same as for those for fair value 

hedges described above. However, for cash flow hedges, 
prepayment risk is less relevant. and the causes of hedging 
ineffectiveness arise from the changes in the timing and the 
amount of forecast future cash flows.

9. Determination of fair value of financial instruments 
Fair value is defined as the price that, at the measurement 
date, would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market partici-
pants under current market conditions in the principal mar-
ket for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal 
market, in the most favourable market for the asset or 
liability.

The existence of published price quotations in an active 
market is the best evidence of fair value and when they exist, 
they are used to measure financial assets and financial liabil-
ities. An active market for the asset or liability is a market in 
which transactions for the asset or liability occur with suffi-
cient frequency and volume to provide pricing information 
on an ongoing basis. The absolute level of liquidity and vol-
ume required for a market to be considered active varies 
depending on the class of instruments. 

The trade frequency and volume are monitored regularly 
in order to assess if markets are active or not active. Nordea 
Hypotek predominantly uses published price quotations to 
establish fair value for items disclosed under the following 
balance sheet items: 
•	 Interest-bearing securities 
•	 Derivatives (listed) 
•	 Debt securities in issue (mortgage bonds). 

If quoted prices for a financial instrument fail to represent 
actual and regularly occurring market transactions or if 
quoted prices are not available, fair value is established by 
using an appropriate valuation technique. The adequacy of 
the valuation technique, including an assessment of whether 
to use quoted prices or theoretical prices, is monitored on a 
regular basis.

Valuation models are designed to apply observable mar-
ket prices and rates as input whenever possible but can also 
make use of unobservable model parameters. Nordea 
Hypotek predominantly uses valuation techniques to deter-
mine the fair value of derivative instruments (OTC 
derivatives).

For financial instruments, for which fair value is estimated 
by a valuation technique, it is investigated whether the varia-
bles used in the valuation model are predominantly based on 
data from observable markets. By data from observable mar-
kets, Nordea Hypotek considers data that can be collected 
from generally available external sources and where this 
data is judged to represent realistic market prices.

If unobservable data has a significant impact on the valu-
ation, the instrument cannot be recognised initially at the fair 
value estimated by the valuation technique and any upfront 
gains are thereby deferred and amortised through the 
income statement over the contractual life of the instrument. 
The deferred upfront gains are subsequently released to 
income if the unobservable data becomes observable.

A breakdown of fair values of financial instruments meas-
ured on the basis of quoted prices in active markets for the 
same instrument (level 1), valuation technique using observ-
able data (level 2), and valuation technique using non-ob-
servable data (level 3), is provided in Note 25 “Fair value”. 
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The valuation models applied by Nordea Hypotek are con-
sistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing 
financial instruments and incorporate the factors that market 
participants consider when setting a price.

New valuation models are subject to approval by the 
Model Risk Committee at Nordea Bank Abp and all models 
are reviewed on a regular basis.

For further information, see Note 25 “Fair value”.  

10. Financial instruments 
Classification of financial instruments 
Each financial instrument has been classified into one of the 
following categories: 

Financial assets: 
•	 Amortised cost 
•	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 

	- Mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss
•	 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 

Financial liabilities: 
•	 Amortised cost 
•	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: 

	- Mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 

The classification of a financial asset is dependent on the 
business model for the portfolio in which the instrument is 
included and on whether the cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest (SPPI). 

Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. All other assets 
are classified based on the business model. Instruments 
included in a portfolio with a business model where the 
intention is to keep the instruments and collect contractual 
cash flows are measured at amortised cost. Instruments 
included in a business model where the intention is both to 
keep the instruments to collect the contractual cash flows 
and to sell the instruments are measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. Financial assets 
included in any other business model are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.

In order to determine the business model, Nordea has 
divided its financial assets into portfolios and/or sub-portfo-
lios based on how groups of financial assets are managed 
together to achieve a particular business objective. When 
determining the right level for the portfolios, Nordea 
Hypotek has taken the current business area structure into 
account. When determining the business model for each 
portfolio, Nordea Hypotek has analysed the objective with 
the financial assets as well as for instance past sales behav-
iour and management compensation.

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at 
fair value. The classification of financial instruments into dif-
ferent categories forms the basis for how each instrument is 
subsequently measured on the balance sheet and how the 
change in its value is recognised. In Note 24 “Classification of 
financial instruments”, the classification of the financial 
instruments on Nordea Hypotek’s balance sheet into the dif-
ferent categories under IFRS 9 is presented.

Amortised cost 
Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost 
are initially recognised on the balance sheet at fair value, 
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
the instruments within this category are measured at amor-
tised cost. In an amortised cost measurement, the difference 
between acquisition cost and redemption value is amortised 
in the income statement over the remaining term using the 
effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is defined as 
the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at initial recognition minus the principal repay-
ments plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the 
effective interest rate method of any difference between that 
initial amount and the maturity amount and for financial 
assets, adjusted for any loss allowance. For more information 
on the effective interest rate method, see Note 3 “Net inter-
est income” and section 5 “Recognition of operating income 
and impairment”. Information about impairment under IFRS 
9 is provided in section 11 below, under “Impairment testing 
of individually/collectively assessed loans”.

Interest on assets and liabilities classified at amortised 
cost is recognised in the items “Interest income calculated 
using the effective interest rate method” and “Interest 
expense” in the income statement.

This category mainly consists of all lending and deposits, 
with the exception of reverse repurchase agreements.

Financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are measured at fair value, excluding transac-
tion costs. All changes in fair values are recognised directly in 
the income statement in the item “Net result from items at 
fair value”.

The category consists of two sub-categories: “Mandatorily 
measured at fair value through profit and loss”, and 
“Designated at fair value through profit or loss” (fair value 
option); the latter subcategory does not occur at Nordea 
Hypotek. The subcategory “Mandatorily measured at fair 
value through profit and loss” mainly contains interest-bear-
ing securities included in part of the liquidity buffer and 
derivatives.

Financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are measured initially at fair value plus transaction 
costs. This category mainly consists of the interest-bearing 
securities included in part of the liquidity buffer. Changes in 
fair value, except for interest, foreign exchange effects and 
impairment losses, are recognised in the fair value reserve in 
equity through other comprehensive income. Interest is rec-
ognised in the income statement in the item “Interest income 
calculated using the effective interest rate method” or “Other 
interest income”, foreign exchange effects in the item “Net 
result from items at fair value” and impairments in the item 
“Net loan losses”. When an instrument is disposed of, the fair 
value changes previously accumulated in the fair value 
reserve in other comprehensive income are removed from 
equity and recognised in the income statement in the item 
“Net result from items at fair value”. Information about 
impairment under IFRS 9 is provided in section 11 below, 
under “Loans to the public/credit institutions”.
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Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 
Interest on Other financial liabilities is recognised in the item 
“Interest expense” in the income statement.

Reverse repurchase agreements  
Securities received under reverse repurchase agreements are 
not recognised in the balance sheet. Cash delivered under 
reverse repurchase agreements is recognised on the balance 
sheet as “Loans to credit institutions” or as “Loans to the 
public”.

Derivatives 
All derivatives are recognised on the balance sheet and 
measured at fair value. Derivatives with a positive fair value, 
including any accrued interest, are recognised as assets in 
the item “Derivatives” on the asset side. Derivatives with a 
negative fair value, including any accrued interest, are recog-
nised as liabilities in the item “Derivatives” on the liability 
side.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses from derivatives 
are recognised in the income statement under “Net result 
from items at fair value”. 

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 
Nordea Hypotek offsets financial assets and liabilities on the 
balance sheet if there is a legal right to offset, in the ordinary 
course of business and in case of bankruptcy, if the intent is 
to settle the items net or realise the asset and settle the lia-
bility simultaneously. This is generally achieved through the 
central counterparty clearing houses with which Nordea 
Hypotek has agreements.

Exchange-traded derivatives are derecognised from the 
balance sheet on a daily basis when settlement is paid or 
received and the instrument is reset to prevailing market 
terms.

Issued debt and equity instruments  
A financial instrument issued by Nordea Hypotek is either 
classified as a financial liability or equity. Issued financial 
instruments are classified as a financial liability if the con-
tractual arrangement results in Nordea Hypotek having a 
present obligation to either deliver cash or another financial 
asset, or a variable number of equity instruments to the 
holder of the instrument. If this is not the case, the instru-
ment is generally an equity instrument and classified as 
equity, net of transaction costs. Where issued financial 
instruments contain both liability and equity components, 
these are accounted for separately.

11. Loans to the public/credit institutions  
Scope 
Loans are financial instruments with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not readily transferable without the debt-
or’s consent. Loans are classified in accordance with the 
description in Note 24 “Classification of financial 
instruments”.

Financial instruments classified as “Amortised cost” or 
“Fair value through other comprehensive income” are sub-
ject to impairment testing due to credit risk. This includes 
assets recognised on the balance sheet as “Loans to credit 
institutions”, “Loans to the public” and “Interest-bearing 
securities”. These balance sheet lines also include assets 
classified as Fair value through profit or loss, which are not 
subject to impairment testing. See section 6 “Recognition 

and derecognition of financial instruments on the balance 
sheet” above and Note 24 “Classification of financial 
instruments”.

Off-balance sheet commitments, contingent liabilities and 
loan commitments are also subject to impairment testing.

Recognition and presentation 
Amortised cost assets are recognised gross with an offset-
ting allowance for the expected credit losses if the loss is not 
regarded as final. The allowances are disclosed net on the 
face of the balance sheet, but are disclosed separately in the 
notes. Changes in the allowance account are recognised in 
the income statement and classified as “Net loan losses”.

If the impairment loss is regarded as final, it is reported as 
a realised loss and the carrying amount of the loan and the 
related allowance for impairment loss are derecognised. An 
impairment loss is regarded as final when the obligor is filed 
for bankruptcy and the administrator has declared the eco-
nomic outcome of the bankruptcy procedure, or when 
Nordea Hypotek forgives its claims either through a legal-
based or voluntary reconstruction, or when Nordea Hypotek, 
for other reasons, deems it unlikely that the claim will be 
recovered. See also section “Write-offs” below. 

Provisions for off-balance sheet exposures are classified 
as “Provisions” on the balance sheet, with changes in provi-
sions classified as “Net loan losses”.

Assets classified as “Fair value through other comprehen-
sive income” are recognised at fair value on the balance 
sheet. Impairment losses calculated in accordance with IFRS 
9 are recognised in the income statement and classified as 
“Net loan losses”. Any fair value adjustments are recognised 
in “Other comprehensive income”.

Impairment testing  
Nordea Hypotek classifies all exposures into stages on an 
individual basis. Stage 1 includes assets where there has 
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recog-
nition, stage 2 includes assets where there has been a signifi-
cant increase in credit risk and stage 3 (impaired loans) 
includes defaulted assets. Nordea Hypotek monitors whether 
there are indicators of exposures being credit-impaired 
(stage 3) by identifying events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows (loss event). 
Nordea Hypotek applies the same definition of default as the 
Capital Requirements Regulation. More information on the 
identification of loss events can be found in the “Risk, 
Liquidity and Capital Management” section. Exposures with-
out individually calculated allowances will be covered by the 
model-based impairment calculation.

For significant exposures where a credit event has been 
identified, the exposure is tested for impairment on an indi-
vidual basis. If the exposure is considered impaired, an indi-
vidual provision is recognised. The carrying amount of the 
exposure is compared with the sum of the net present value 
of expected future cash flows. If the carrying amount is 
higher, the difference is recognised as an impairment loss. 
The expected cash flows are discounted at the original effec-
tive interest rate and include the fair value of the collateral 
and other credit enhancements. The estimate is based on 
three different forward-looking scenarios that are probability 
weighted to derive the net present value.

For insignificant exposures that have been individually 
identified as credit impaired, the impairment loss is meas-
ured using the model described below but based on the fact 
that the exposures are already in default.
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Note 1  Accounting policies, cont.

Nordea Hypotek uses the “low credit risk exemption” for 
exposures on the retail and corporate side issued before 
transition to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018. Such exposures with a 
12-month probability of default (PD) below 0.3% are classi-
fied as stage 1.

Model-based allowance calculation
For exposures not impaired on an individual basis, a collec-
tive model is used for calculating impairment losses. The 
provisions are calculated as the exposure at default times the 
PD times the loss given default. 

The provisions for exposures for which there has been no 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition are 
based on the 12-month expected loss (stage 1). The provi-
sions for exposures for which there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, but which are 
not credit impaired, are based on the lifetime expected 
losses (stage 2). This is also the case for the insignificant 
credit impaired exposures in stage 3.

Nordea Hypotek uses different models to identify whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk or not. For 
assets on the corporate side held on transition to IFRS 9, the 
change in internal rating and scoring data is used to deter-
mine whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk or not. Internal rating/scoring information is used to 
assess the risk of the customers and a deterioration in rating/
scoring indicates an increase in the credit risk of the cus-
tomer. Nordea Hypotek has concluded it is not possible to 
calculate the lifetime PDs at origination without the use of 
hindsight for assets on the corporate side already recognised 
on the balance sheet at transition. Changes to the lifetime 
PD are used as the trigger for assets on the corporate side 
recognised after transition, and for assets on the retail side 
recognised both before and after transition. 

For assets evaluated based on lifetime PDs, Nordea 
Hypotek uses a mix of absolute and relative changes in PD 
as the transfer criterion.
•	 Retail customers with a relative increase in lifetime PD 

above 200% are transferred to stage 2.
•	 Corporate customers with an initial 12-month PD below 

0.5%: Exposures with a relative increase in lifetime PD 
above 150% and an absolute increase in 12-month PD 
above 20bp are transferred to stage 2. 

•	 Corporate customers with an initial 12-month PD above or 
equal to 0.5%: Exposures with a relative increase in lifetime 
PD above 150% or an absolute increase in 12-month PD 
above 400bp are transferred to stage 2.   

For assets on the corporate side that are recognised in the 
balance sheet before the transition to IFRS9, the number of 
stages in the change in rating/scoring notches is used as the 
criterion for transferring between stages. The number of 
stages is calibrated to match the significant increase in credit 
risk based on lifetime PD.

In addition, Nordea Hypotek performs transfers between 
stages for the following reasons:
•	 Customers with forbearance measures and customers with 

payments more than thirty days past due are also trans-
ferred to stage 2 unless already identified as credit 
impaired (stage 3). Exposures with forbearance measures 
will stay in stage 2 for a probation period of 24 months from 
when the measures were introduced. Once transferred 
back to stage 1, after the probation period, the exposures 

are treated as any other stage 1 exposure on the assess-
ment of significant increase in credit risk.

•	 Exposures more than 90 days past due are normally classi-
fied as stage 3, but this classification will be rebutted if 
there is evidence that the customer is not in default. Such 
exposures are classified as stage 2. 

•	 Exposures on the corporate side with a relative change in 
annualised lifetime PD exceeding 200% and with at least 
one rating grade of deterioration are transferred to stage 2.

•	 Exposures on the retail side classified as “high risk” – that 
is, with a PD of over 5.83% – are transferred to stage 2.

•	 Exposures on the corporate side classified as “high risk” 
– i.e. with a rating grade of 2 or poorer – are transferred to 
stage 2. 

•	 Exposures on the retail and corporate side with a 12-month 
PD of below 0.3% use a “low credit risk exemption” that 
prevents transfer to stage 2 due to absolute or relative 
changes in PD. The exemption does not prevent transfer 
between stages as a result of the other included factors.

When calculating provisions, including the staging assess-
ment, the calculation is based on both historical data and 
probability-weighted forward-looking information. 

Nordea Hypotek applies three macroeconomic scenarios 
to address the non-linearity in expected credit losses. The 
different scenarios are used to adjust the relevant parame-
ters for calculating expected losses and a probabili-
ty-weighted average of the expected losses under each sce-
nario is recognised as provisions. 

The model is based on data collected before the reporting 
date, requiring Nordea Hypotek to identify events that could 
affect the provisions after the data is sourced to the model 
calculation. Management evaluates these events and adjusts 
the provisions if deemed necessary.

Write-offs 
A write-off is a derecognition of a loan or receivable from the 
balance sheet and a final realisation of a credit loss provi-
sion. When assets are considered uncollectable, they should 
be written off as soon as possible, regardless of whether the 
legal claim remains or not. A write-off can take place before 
legal actions against the borrower to recover the debt have 
been concluded in full. Although an uncollectible asset is 
removed or written off from the balance sheet, the customer 
remains legally obligated to pay the outstanding debt. When 
assessing the recoverability of non-performing loans and 
determining if write-offs are required, exposures with the 
following characteristics are in particular focus (the list is not 
exhaustive): 
•	 Exposures past due more than 90 days. If, following this 

assessment, an exposure or part of an exposure is deemed 
as unrecoverable, it is written off.

•	 Exposures under insolvency proceedings where the collat-
eralisation of the exposure is low.

•	 Exposures where legal expenses are expected to absorb 
the proceeds from the bankruptcy procedure and esti-
mated recoveries are therefore expected to be low.

•	 A partial write-off may be warranted where there is rea-
sonable financial evidence to demonstrate an inability of 
the borrower to repay the full amount, i.e. a significant level 
of debt which cannot be reasonably demonstrated to be 
recoverable following forbearance treatment and/or the 
execution of collateral.

•	 Restructuring cases.
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Note 1  Accounting policies, cont.

Discount rate 
The discount rate used to measure impairment is the original 
effective interest rate for loans attached to an individual cus-
tomer or, if applicable, to a group of loans. If considered 
appropriate, the discount rate can be based on a method 
that results in an impairment that is a reasonable approxima-
tion, calculated using the effective interest rate method.

Restructured loans and modifications 
In this context a restructured loan is defined as a loan where 
Nordea Hypotek has granted concessions to the obligor due 
to their financial difficulties and where such concessions 
have resulted in an impairment loss for Nordea Hypotek. 
After restructuring the loan is normally regarded as not 
impaired if it performs according to the new terms and con-
ditions. In the event of recovery, the payment is reported as 
recovery of loan losses. 

Modifications of the contractual cash flows of loans to 
customers in financial difficulties (forbearance) reduce the 
gross carrying amount of the loan. Normally this reduction is 
less than the existing provision and no loss is recognised in 
the income statement due to modifications. If significant, the 
gross amounts (loan and allowance) are reduced.

Assets taken over for protection of claims
In a financial reconstruction the creditor may concede loans 
to the obligor and in exchange for this concession acquires 
an asset pledged for the conceded loans. Assets taken over 
for protection of claims are reported on the same balance 
sheet line as similar assets already held by Nordea Hypotek. 

At initial recognition, all assets taken over for protection of 
claims are recognised at fair value and the possible differ-
ence between the carrying amount of the loan and the fair 
value of the assets taken over is recognised as “Net loan 
losses”. The fair value of the asset on the date of recognition 
becomes its cost or amortised cost value, as applicable. In 
subsequent periods, assets taken over for protection of 
claims are valued in accordance with the valuation principles 
for the appropriate type of asset. Investment properties are 
then measured at fair value. Financial assets that are fore-
closed are generally classified in the category “Fair value 
through profit or loss” and measured at fair value. Changes 
in fair value are recognised in the income statement under 
“Net result from items at fair value”.

Any change in value, after the initial recognition of the 
asset taken over, is presented in the income statement in line 
with the Group’s presentation policies for the appropriate 
asset. The line item “Net loan losses” in the income state-
ment is, after the initial recognition of the asset taken over, 
consequently not affected by any subsequent remeasure-
ment of the asset.

12. Taxes 
The item “Income tax expense” in the income statement 
comprises current and deferred income tax. Income tax 
expense is recognised in the income statement, unless it 
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity, in which case the tax effect is also rec-
ognised in other comprehensive income or in equity, 
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax expense on the taxable 
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 

enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised, using 
the balance sheet method, for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxa-
tion purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognised for the 
carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits, if 
the relevant recognition criteria in IAS 12 are fulfilled.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to the temporary differences when 
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are not discounted. A deferred tax asset 
is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which temporary dif-
ferences, tax losses carried forward and unused tax credits 
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset when a 
statutory right to offset exists and Nordea Hypotek intends 
to either settle the tax asset and the tax liability net or to 
recover the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are generally 
offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and current tax liabilities.

Nordea Hypotek applies a temporary mandatory relief 
from deferred tax accounting under IAS 12 Income Taxes 
related to the Global Anti-Base Erosion (Pillar 2) Rules. When 
recognising deferred tax assets and liabilities, any Pillar 2 
jurisdictional impact is not taken into account but is 
accounted for as a current tax if incurred.

13. Provisions 
Provisions (which are presented as a liability) are recognised 
when Nordea Hypotek has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event if it is probable (i.e. 
more likely than not) that an outflow of resources embody-
ing economic benefits will be required to settle the obliga-
tion and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the pres-
ent obligation at the end of the reporting period.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised as liabilities on 
the balance sheet but disclosed in Note 21 “Obligations” 
unless the possibility of an outflow is remote. A contingent 
liability is a possible obligation whose existence will be con-
firmed only by future event(s) not wholly within Nordea 
Hypotek’s control, or a present obligation that is not recog-
nised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. The 
accounting policies for impairment provisions for loans to the 
public/credit institutions are presented in section 11. “Loans 
to the public/credit institutions”.  

14. Employee remuneration 
All forms of consideration given by Nordea to its employees as 
compensation for services performed are employee benefits. 
Employee benefits consist of short-term benefits, post-em-
ployment benefits and share-based payment programmes.
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Note 1  Accounting policies, cont.

Short-term benefits are to be settled within twelve 
months after the reporting period when the services have 
been performed. Post-employment benefits are benefits 
payable after the termination of employment. Post-
employment benefits in Nordea Hypotek consist only of 
pensions.

Termination benefits normally arise if employment is ter-
minated before the normal retirement date or if an employee 
accepts an offer of voluntary redundancy.

Short-term benefits 
Short-term benefits consist mainly of fixed salary. Fixed salary 
is expensed in the period when the employees have per-
formed services for Nordea Hypotek. Both fixed and variable 
salaries are expensed in the period when the employees have 
performed services to Nordea Hypotek. Nordea Hypotek has 
also issued share-based payment programmes, which are fur-
ther described in section 16 “Share-based payment”. More 
information can be found in Note 6 “Staff costs”. 

Post-employment benefits 
In 2025, pension costs comprise premiums and fees to insur-
ance companies as well as defined benefit pension costs for 
other commitments. The actuarial pension costs refer to com-
mitments guaranteed by a pension foundation. The account-
ing principles for defined benefit pension obligations in 
Sweden follow Swedish legislation (the Pension Obligations 
Vesting Act) and Finansinspektionen’s regulations. Costs for 
pensions are reported in the item “Staff costs”. Contributions 
received from the pension foundation and reported changes 
in pension provisions are also recognised in “Staff costs”. 
Special payroll tax and tax on returns referring to the Swedish 
pension system are also recognised in “Staff costs”.

For more information about benefits, please refer to Note 
6 “Staff costs”. 

15. Equity 
In accordance with Swedish law, shareholders’ equity is split 
into funds potentially available for distribution (unrestricted 
equity), and non-distributable funds (restricted equity).

The distribution of amounts of Nordea Hypotek’s equity 
into restricted equity and unrestricted equity is described in 
the “Statement of changes in equity”.

Fair value reserve 
The portion of the gain or loss on hedging instruments, 
which is determined to be an effective hedge, is recognised 
in the fair value reserve. Read more in section 8 “Hedge 
accounting”, under the subheading “Cash flow hedge 
accounting.”

Retained earnings 
Retained earnings comprise undistributed profits from previ-
ous years and shareholders’ contributions received.

Reporting of group contributions 
Group contributions paid or received are recognised as a 
reduction or an increase in unrestricted equity, adjusted 
for tax. 

16. Share-based remuneration  
Equity-settled plans   
Nordea has annually arranged programmes whereby partici-
pating employees are granted share-based equity-settled 
rights, i.e. rights to receive shares for free or to acquire shares 

in Nordea at a significant discount compared to the share 
price at grant date. 

An equity-settled share-based payment transaction occurs 
when Nordea receives goods or services and uses its own 
equity instruments as consideration. Such transactions are 
recognised in Nordea Hypotek as a staff expense and a cor-
responding increase in equity. The expense is measured at 
the fair value of the goods or services received unless that 
fair value cannot be estimated reliably. In such cases, the 
expense is measured by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments granted, which is the approach used by 
Nordea Hypotek.

The grant date fair value of these rights is expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period. The fair value per 
right is estimated at award date and not subsequently 
updated. The vesting period is the period that the employees 
have to remain in service in Nordea Hypotek in order for their 
rights to vest.

For rights with non-market performance conditions, the 
amount expensed is the grant date fair value per right multi-
plied by the best estimate of rights that will eventually vest, 
which is reassessed at each reporting date. For rights with 
market performance conditions, the total fair value is esti-
mated based on the fair value of each right times the maxi-
mum number of rights at award date. Market conditions are 
taken into account when estimating the fair value of the 
equity instruments awarded. Therefore, if all other vesting 
conditions (e.g. service conditions) are met, Nordea Hypotek 
recognises the expense for awards of equity instruments 
with market conditions over the vesting period irrespective 
of whether that market condition is satisfied.

Social security costs are also allocated over the vesting 
period. The provision for social security costs is reassessed 
on each reporting date to ensure that the provision is based 
on the rights’ fair value at the reporting date.  

Cash-settled plans
A cash-settled share-based payment transaction occurs 
when Nordea Hypotek acquires goods or services by incur-
ring a liability to transfer cash or other assets to the supplier 
of those goods or services for amounts that are based on the 
price of equity instruments of Nordea Hypotek. For cash-set-
tled share-based payment transactions, the goods or ser-
vices acquired and the liability incurred are measured at the 
fair value of the liability. The liability is remeasured at fair 
value at the end of each reporting period, with any changes 
in fair value recognised in the line item “Net result from 
items at fair value” in the income statement.   

Starting from the 2019 performance year, share-based 
variable pay plans are partly in the form of cash not linked to 
the Nordea share and partly in the form of Nordea shares, 
which makes the portion paid in Nordea shares equity-set-
tled share-based plans. Total shareholders’ return indexation 
may be used for share-based variable pay plans, subject to 
operational, administrative or tax issues as well as applicable 
regulation in certain legal entities.

More information can be found in Note 6 “Staff costs”.

17. Related party transactions 
Nordea Hypotek defines related parties as: 
•	 Group undertakings
•	 Key management personnel
•	 Other related parties
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Note 1  Accounting policies, cont.

Group undertakings
“Group undertakings” means undertakings with significant 
influence (Nordea Bank Abp, corp. id no. 2858394-9) and its 
subsidiaries.

Key management personnel 
Key management personnel includes the following: 
•	 Board of Directors 
•	 Managing Director
•	 Executive management 

For information about remuneration, pensions and loans to 
key management personnel, see Note 6 “Staff costs”. 
Information concerning other transactions between Nordea 
Hypotek and key management personnel is found in Note 29 
“Related party transactions”.

Other related parties 
Other related parties comprise close family members of key 
management personnel as well as undertakings controlled 
or jointly controlled by key management personnel or by 
close family members of key management personnel. 

Other related parties comprise associated undertakings 
and joint ventures of shareholders with significant influence 
(Nordea Bank Abp), as well as key management personnel 
at shareholders with significant influence (Nordea Bank 
Abp) and close family members of such key management 
personnel. Pension foundations of Nordea Hypotek are also 
included in other related parties.

Information concerning transactions between Nordea 
Hypotek and other related parties is found in Note 29 
“Related-party transactions”. 
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Note 2  Segment reporting
Basis of segmentation
Nordea Hypotek’s main business areas are Personal Banking 
and Business Banking which corresponds to approximately 
95% of Nordea Mortgage’s lending portfolio. Large Corporates 
& Institutions and Asset & Wealth Management constitute the 
other reportable segments. Group Treasury is responsible for 
Nordea Hypotek’s funding. Group functions as well as the 
result that is not fully allocated to any of the operating seg-
ments are shown separately as reconciling items. There have 
been no changes in the basis of segmentation during the year.

Reportable segments
Brief description of the business segments:
•	 Personal Banking helps Nordea Hypotek’s private custom-

ers through various channels with financing real estate for 
housing purposes. 

•	 Business Banking consists of Business Banking and Busi-
ness Banking Direct which also works with a relation-
ship-based service model with a customer-centric value 
offering for our corporate customers.

•	 Group Treasury is responsible for the day to day manage-
ment of the Group’s liquidity positions, liquidity buffers, 
external and internal funding including the mobilisation of 
cash around the Group, and Funds Transfer Pricing (FTP).

•	 Other operating segments mainly refer to Large Corporates 
& Institutions and Asset & Wealth Management. Large 
Corporates & Institutions is responsible for lending to large 
corporate customers. Private Banking (within Asset & 
Wealth Management) offers household loans to private 
customers.

Operating segments

Income statement, 
SEKm

Personal Banking
  

Business Banking Group Treasury
Other operating 

segments
Total operating 

segments Reconciliation Total

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

Net interest income 17,185 21,828 4,645 5,254 -18,089 -23,208 978 1,240 4,719 5,114 137 131 4,856 5,245

Net fee and 
commission income 31 27 2 2 -77 -67 -183 -171 -227 -209 – – -227 -209

Net result from items 
at fair value 21 13 1 1 28 104 1 0 51 118 – – 51 118

Total operating 
income 17,237 21,868 4,648 5,257 -18,138 -23,171 796 1,069 4,543 5,023 137 131 4,680 5,154

Other expenses -1,303 -1,582 -343 -417 0 0 -752 -730 -2,398 -2,729 – – -2,398 -2,729

Total operating 
expenses -1,303 -1,582 -343 -417 0 0 -752 -730 -2,398 -2,729 – – -2,398 -2,729

Net loan losses 74 -122 8 -20 -1 5 5 8 86 -129 0 0 86 -129

Operating profit 16,008 20,164 4,313 4,820 -18,139 -23,166 49 347 2,231 2,165 137 131 2,368 2,296

Balance sheet, SEKm

Loans to the public 583,007 558,745 163,005 147,165 0 – 36,004 33,248 782,016 739,158 0 – 782,016 739,158

Other assets – – – – 36,351 35,255 91 67 36,442 35,322 65 – 36,507 35,322

Total assets 583,007 558,745 163,005 147,165 36,351 35,255 36,095 33,315 818,458 774,480 65 – 818,523 774,480

Total liabilities 0 1 0 0 781,459 737,169 103 133 781,562 737,303 2,3701 2,5881 783,932 739,891

Equity 583,007 558,744 163,005 147,165 -745,108 -701,914 35,992 33,182 36,896 37,177 -2,305 -2,588 34,591 34,589

Total liabilities and 
equity 583,007 558,745 163,005 147,165 36,351 35,255 36,095 33,315 818,458 774,480 65 – 818,523 774,480

1) The amounts mainly refers to group contribution.

Reconciliation between total operating segments and financial statements 

2025 2024

SEKm Operating profit Total assets Operating profit Total assets

Total operating segments 2,231 818,458 2,165 774,480

Group functions and unallocated items 137 65 131 –

Total 2,368 818,523 2,296 774,480

Total operating income split on product groups
In the company, all operating income, in all reportable seg-
ments, is attributable to Banking products. 
Banking products is a product group consisting of three 
product types: account products, transaction products and 
financing products. Account products, including mortgages, 
comprise the entire product portfolio in the company.

Lending volume distribution in repotable 
segments by borrower domicile
The borrowers mainly have their tax residency in Sweden.
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Note 3  Net interest income
Net interest income

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Interest income calculated using the 
effective interest rate method 23,704,297 33,221,287

Other interest income 249,556 422,642

Interest expense -19,097,702 -28,398,935

Net interest income 4,856,151 5,244,994

.

Interest income calculated using the effective interest 
rate method

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Loans to credit institutions 161,000 266,608

Loans to the public 22,945,103 28,448,937

Interest-bearing securities 269,180 312,866

Yield fees 1,144 4,840

Net interest paid or received on derivatives 
in accounting hedges of assets 327,870 4,188,036

Interest income calculated using the 
effective interest rate method 23,704,297 33,221,287

Other interest income

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Interest-bearing securities measured at fair 
value 281,123 305,071

Net interest paid or received on derivatives 
in economic hedges of assets -31,567 117,571

Other Interest income 249,556 422,642

Interest expense

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Deposits by credit institutions -8,591,609 -11,876,678

Debt securities in issue -10,361,942 -9,700,501

Subordinated liabilities – -85,591

Other interest expense – –

Net interest paid or recevied on  
derivatives in hedges of liabilities -144,151 -6,736,165

Interest expense -19,097,702 -28,398,935

Net interest income from categories of financial  
instruments

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Financial assets at fair value through  
other comprehensive income 269,180 312,866

Financial assets at amortised cost 23,107,247 28,720,385

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss 577,426 4,610,678

Financial liabilities at amortised cost -18,953,551 -21,662,770

Financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit or loss -144,151 -6,736,165

Net interest income 4,856,151 5,244,994

Interest on impaired loans accounted for an insignificant 
portion of interest income.

Average interest rate, lending

Lending to the public 2025 2024

Average volume, SEKm 761,650 725,737

Average interest, % 3.74 3.92

Interest income from financial instruments not measured at 
fair value through profit and loss amounts to SEK 23,107m 
(28,720). Interest expenses from financial instruments not 
measured at fair value through profit and loss amounts to 
SEK 18,954m (21,663).
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Note 4  Net fee and 
commission income

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Issuer services1 -55,027 -48,186

- of which income – –

- of which expense -55,027 -48,186

Lending Products 32,281 29,984

- of which income3 32,281 29,984

- of which expense – –

Guarantees -17,953 -14,891

- of which income – –

- of which expense -17,953 -14,891

Other -186,479 -175,515

- of which income – –

- of which expense2 -186,479 -175,515

Total -227,178 -208,608

1) � Mainly market maker fees.
2) � Refers mainly to commission costs related to the funding.
3)  Mainly concerns notification fees and commissions for mortgaged properties.

Break down by business areas

SEKm 2025
 Personal  

Banking
Business  
Banking

Group  
Treasury Other Total

Issuer services – – -55 – -55

Lending Products 30 2 – – 32

Guarantees – – -18 – -18

Other – – -186 – -186

Total 30 2 -259 – -227

SEKm 2024
 Personal 

Banking
Business  
Banking

Group  
Treasury Other Total

Issuer services – – -48 – -48

Lending Products 27 2 – – 29

Guarantees – – -15 – -15

Other – – -175 – -175

Total 27 2 -238 – -209

Note 5  Total net result 
from items at fair value

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Interest-bearing securities and  
other interest-related instruments 50,908 118,069

Total 50,908 118,069

Net result from categories of financial instruments

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprensive income -1,778 23,169

Financial assets and liabilities mandatorily at 
fair value through profit or loss -606,719 -3,517,364

Financial assets at amortised cost 557,522 3,358,354

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 102,090 253,943

Foreign exchange gains/losses excluding 
currency hedges -207 -33

Total 50,908 118,069
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Note 6  Staff costs

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Salaries and remuneration1, (specification 
below) -23,216 -25,246

Pension costs (specification below) -6,396 -6,781

Social security contributions -9,165 -9,578

Other staff costs -503 -602

Total -39,280 -42,207

Salaries and remuneration

Senior executives2

Managing Director:

– �Fixed remuneration and benefits -1,565 -1,523

– �Variable remuneration -418 -584

External board members

Emma Henriksson (through 12/03/2025) -44 -225

Elisabeth Olin -225 -225

Maria Sahlén (through 12/03/2025) -44 -225

Total external board members -314 -675

Other senior executives -8,037 -6,259

Total for senior executives -10,334 -9,041

Other employees -12,882 -16,205

Total -23,216 -25,246

Pension costs:

Defined benefit pension plans -4,269 -4,618

Defined contribution plans -2,127 -2,163

Total -6,396 -6,781

1) Provision to the profit-sharing foundation in 2025: amounts to SEK -590k (-675) of 
which SEK -585k (-626) is a new provision and SEK -5k (-49) concerns prior years. 

2) Senior executives include the MD, deputy MD, interim MD, board members not 
employed in the group and company management. Senior executives amount to 
8 (10) positions.

No specific board fee has been paid to board members 
employed in the group. The employment contract of the 
managing director stipulates a notice period of six months 
from the managing director and six months from the 
Company. In accordance with the employment contract, the 
MD is entitled to six months’ salary during the notice period. 
A deduction shall be made for any salary disbursements 
from other employment during the payout period. After the 
end of the six months, the MD is subject to a three-month 
competition clause according to which he/she may not 
accept employment at any competing company in Sweden.

Lending to senior executives
Lending to board members, the MD or equivalent senior 
executives amounts to SEK 18,186k (16,358). Interest income 
on these loans amounts to SEK 405k (497). Credit commit-
ments were SEK 0k (0). Lending to other senior executives 
amounts to SEK 16,873k (8,349). Interest income on these 
loans is SEK 313k (275). Credit commitments to other senior 
executives amounts to SEK 0k (5,000).

Senior executives who are employed by Nordea Hypotek 
receive the same credit terms as employees of Nordea. In 
Sweden, loans approved with employee conditions are a 

maximum of SEK 3m for any type of loan and a maximum 
amount of SEK 0.4m for car loans. The interest rate for these 
loans is 215bp lower than the corresponding interest rate for 
external customers. For interest on loans above SEK 3m and 
SEK 0.4m respectively, the employees receive the same max-
imum discount as Nordea’s best external customers. Loans to 
family members of senior executives, who do not live in the 
same household and who are not employed by Nordea, are 
granted on normal market terms. 

Pension costs and pension obligations for the MD and 
senior executives 

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Pension costs for MD 375 412

Pension obligations for the MD 5,072 5,908

Pension costs for former MD 1,268 1,516

Pension obligations for former MD 15,851 16,414

Pension costs for former deputy MD 318 312

Pension obligations for former deputy MD 2,593 2,721

Pension costs for external board member 207 203

Pension obligations for external board member 2,090 2,184

Pension costs for other senior executives 1,566 1,185

Pension obligations for other senior executives 12,419 11,251

Upon retirement, pension is payable according to collective 
agreements. Fixed salary is pensionable income. 

The MD of Nordea Hypotek has a defined benefit pension 
plan, BTP2. 

People employed before 2013 and who have not chosen to 
switch to the BTP1 defined contribution pension plan, are 
covered by defined benefit pension obligations. Pension 
costs are classified as “Staff costs” in the income statement, 
and consist of disbursed pensions, contributions made to or 
received from the pension foundation and related special 
payroll tax. 

The company’s pension obligations are secured through 
provisions to the pension foundation of Nordea Bank 
Sweden.

Nordea’s Short Term Incentive Plan
Nordea Hypotek has operated Short Term Incentive Plans 
(STIPs). This includes the Nordea Incentive Plan (NIP). In 
2025, Nordea Hypotek had variable remuneration under the 
Nordea Incentive Plan (NIP) 2025. Thus, a provision has been 
made for NIP 2025 of SEK 564k (SEK 549k for NIP 2024), 
excluding social security contributions. Performance goals at 
Group level included financial goals measuring return on 
equity, income and cost-to-income ratio as well as non-finan-
cial goals measuring people focus and customer focus score-
cards. ESG performance goals were added in support of ful-
filling Nordea’s sustainability and climate objectives. The tar-
gets at business area/group function level encompassed 
specific financial targets for each business area/group func-
tion. At the individual level, performance was assessed in 
relation to the individually agreed targets, including risk 
management and compliance. Weighting of group targets, 
business area/group function targets and individual targets 
is established individually. Any awards were determined on 
the basis of achievement in relation to the agreed goals and 
targets following appropriate risk adjustments.
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Note 6  Staff costs, cont.

Disclosures related to the share-based plans in accord-
ance with IFRS2 are provided below.

Until the end of the performance year 2018, Nordea’s 
share-based variable pay programmes were partly in the 
form of cash-settled total shareholder return (TSR) indexa-
tion (excluding dividends) and partly in the form of cash. The 
programmes were consequently all settled in cash and the 
portion indexed with Nordea’s total shareholders’ return was 
accounted for as a cash-settled share-based payment pro-
gramme. Starting from the 2019 performance year, share-
based variable pay programmes are partly in the form of 

cash and partly in the form of Nordea shares, which makes 
the portion paid in Nordea shares an equity-settled share-
based programme. In 2025, 1,500 shares in Nordea were 
allotted to the participants in these programmes, corre-
sponding to SEK 196k based on the share price at grant date. 
No further shares were granted to the participants as 
deferred remunerations. The table below covers all plans 
with share-based plan expenses recognised in 2025 as well 
as the comparative figures for 2024. 	  

Figures for 2025 are based on the expected outcome and 
all figures are excluding social security expenses.

Share-based remuneration

Cost Liability

Programme year
Equity-settled  
or cash-settled Transfer period

2025 
(000s)

2024 
(000s)

31 Dec 2025 
(000s)

31 Dec 2024 
(000s)

Outstanding 
rights 

2025

- NIP Equity-settled 2026-2031 – – – – –

2024

- NIP Equity-settled 2025-2030 – – – – –

2023

- NIP Equity-settled 2024-2029 – – – – No

Previous years Cash-settled 1 -3 0 11 No

Equity-settled -93 -84 – – Yes

Total -92 -87 0 11

Share-based variable remuneration programmes	
This section covers the variable share-based programmes 
where the instruments’ TSR indexation (cash-settled pro-
gramme up until 2018) and shares (equity-settled pro-
gramme as from 2019) are used for deferral/retention.

The programmes were classified as: Executive Incentive 
Programme (EIP) and Variable Salary Part (VSP).

The programmes were annual plans with a service condi-
tion for the respective years and were fully expensed in the 
year when they were earned (one-year vesting period). The 
individual allocations were awarded at the beginning of the 
subsequent year.

For material risk-takers, forfeiture clauses and retention 
apply in line with relevant remuneration regulations. For 
material risk-takers, VSP awards are partly delivered in 
shares with subsequent retention. Parts of the awards for 
material risk-takers in VSP are subject to at least a four-year 
pro rata deferral period with forfeiture conditions applying 
during the deferral period.

The tables below show deferred remuneration from varia-
ble salary parts (EIP, VSP) that had not yet been paid out to 
participants. The table below shows the remaining liabilities 
for the cash-settled share-based programmes used in 2018.

2018 sharelinked deferrals (cash-settled)

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Opening balance 11 25

Deferred/vested during the year – –

TSR indexation during the year 1 -2

Payments during the year -12 -12

Translation differences – –

Closing balance 0 11

The closing balances are expected to be settled the  
following years:

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

2024 –  –

2025 – 11

2026 – –

2027 – –

Total 0 11
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Note 6  Staff costs, cont.

Starting from the 2019 performance year, share-based varia-
ble pay programmes are partly in the form of cash and partly 
in the form of Nordea shares, which makes the portion paid in 
Nordea shares an equity-settled share-based programme. 
The granting of shares in the programmes for 2025 is decided 
during the spring of 2026 and is thus not included in the 
tables below, but is in full recognised as an expense in the 
income statement in 2025. A provision of SEK 564k (SEK 549k 
in 2024) excl. social security contributions has been made for 
2025 for the cash-settled portion.

2019–2021 share-linked deferrals (equity-settled)

Number of shares 2025 2024

Outstanding at beginning of year 3,408 4,906

Granted – –

Forfeited – –

Allotted1 -1,500 -1,498

Outstanding at end of year 1,908 3,408

1) Allotted rights are subject to a one-year retention period after allotment to partici-
pants. Includes shares that have been allotted to participants but withheld to cover 
income taxes or social security contributions.

The outstanding rights are expected  
to be allotted the following years:

Number of shares 2025 2024

2025 – 1,500

2026 1,362 1,362

2027 546 546

Total 1,908 3,408

Average number of employees

Full-time equivalents (FTEs) 2025 2024

Male 6 6

Female 16 16

Total average 22 22

Total employees at the end of the year were 24 (23).

Gender distribution, senior executives, % 

% 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Board of directors – men 50 43

Board of directors – women 50 57

Other senior executives – men 14 17

Other senior executives – women 86 83

Note 7  Other  
expenses

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Postage, telephone and office expenses -202 -362

Distribution costs to Nordea -1,808,729 -2,146,406

Professional services1 -4,184 -4,152

Market data services -18,657 -27,454

Other -31,225 -27,874

Total -1,862,997 -2,206,248

1)  Including fees and remuneration to auditors distributed as follows.

Auditors’ fees

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

BDO Mälardalen AB

Auditing assignments -2,804 –

Audit-related services -213 –

Total -3,017 –

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Auditing assignments – -2,648

Audit-related services -92 -308

Total -92 -2,956

Note 8  Regulatory  
fees

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Resolution fee -266,654 -254,456

Risk tax -214,570 -226,411

Interest-free deposit in the Swedish  
Central Bank -14,146 –

Total -495,370 -480,867
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Note 9  Net loan  
losses

SEK (000s) 2025
Loans to  

the public
Interest-bearing 

securities
Off balance  
sheet items Total

Net loan losses, stage 1 19,907 70 -1,480 18,497

Net loan losses, stage 2 59,644 – -811 58,833

Net loan losses, non-defaulted 79,551 70 -2,291 77,330

Stage 3, defaulted

Net loan losses, individually asssed, collectively calculated1 27,673 – – 27,673

Realised loan losses -20,570 – – -20,570

Decrease of provisions to cover realised loan losses – – – –

Recoveries on previous realised loan losses 843 – – 843

Reimbursement rights – – 549 549

New/increase in provisions – – – –

Reversals of provisions – – – –

Net loan losses, defaulted 7,946 – 549 8,495

Net loan losses 87,497 70 -1,742 85,825

SEK (000s) 2024
Loans to  

the public
Interest-bearing 

securities
Off balance  
sheet items Total

Net loan losses, stage 1 -113,228 -47 2,458 -110,817

Net loan losses, stage 2 11,516 – 1,828 13,344

Net loan losses, non-defaulted -101,712 -47 4,286 -97,473

Stage 3, defaulted

Net loan losses, individually asssed, collectively calculated -27,398 – – -27,398

Realised loan losses -8,712 – – -8,712

Decrease of provisions to cover realised loan losses 2,289 – – 2,289

Recoveries on previous realised loan losses 679 – – 679

Reimbursement rights – – 901 901

New/increase in provisions – – – –

Reversals of provisions 711 – – 711

Net loan losses, defaulted -32,431 – 901 -31,530

Net loan losses -134,143 -47 5,187 -129,003

Key ratios

31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Loan loss ratio, basis points1 -1,1 1.7

- of which stage 1 -0,2 1.5

- of which stage 2 -0,8 -0.2

- of which stage 3 -0,1 0.4

1)  Based on IFRS 9.
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Note 10  Taxes
Income tax expenses

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Current tax1 -487,611 -491,696

1)  Related to tax on group contributions and booked directly to equity. 

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Profit before tax  2,368,059 2,296,129

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 20.6 per cent -487,820 -473,003

Tax-exempt income -130 228

Non-deductible expenses -10 -17,654

Adjustments relating to prior years 349 -1,267

Tax charge -487,611 -491,696

Average effective tax rate % 20,6% 21.4%

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

SEK (000s) 2025 2024

Deferred tax assets 893 944

Deferred tax liabilities  –   –

Net deferred tax assets 893 944

Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities

SEK (000s) 1 Jan 2025

Adjustments  
to opening 

balance

Charged to 
income 

statement

Charged to 
other 

comprehen-
sive income

Charged 
directly to 

equity
Acquisitions 

and disposals
 Foreign 

exchange
Other 

changes 31 Dec 2025

Deferred tax assets

Derivatives   944   –    –    -51  –    –    –    –     893  

Total   944   –    –    -51   –    –    –    –     893  

Deferred tax liabilities

Derivatives  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

Total  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

SEK (000s) 1 Jan 2024

Adjustments  
to opening 

balance

Charged to 
income 

statement

Charged to 
other 

comprehen-
sive income

Charged 
directly to 

equity
Acquisitions 

and disposals
 Foreign 

exchange
Other 

changes 31 Dec 2024

Deferred tax assets

Derivatives – – – 944 – – – – 944

Total – – – 944 – – – – 944

Deferred tax liabilities

Derivatives 400 – – -400 – – – – –

Total 400 – – -400 – – – – –
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Note 11  Loans and 
impairment

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Loans measured at amortised cost, not impaired (stage 1 and 2) 793,116,054 747,134,191

Impaired loans (stage 3) 1,169,842 1,190,628

- of which servicing 211,409 204,098

- of which non-servicing  958,433 986,530

Loans before allowances 794,285,896 748,324,819

- of which credit institutions 11,933,226 8,722,812

Allowances for individually assessed impaired loans (stage 3) -112,770 -140,443

- of which servicing -30,634 -58,558

- of which non-servicing -82,136 -81,885

Allowances for collectively assessed impaired loans (stage 1 and 2) -224,446 -303,996

Allowances -337,216 -444,439

Loans, carrying amount 793,948,680 747,880,380

Carrying amount of loans measured at amortised cost, before allowances
Credit institutions The Public Total

SEK (000s) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2025  8,722,813  –    –    8,722,813  725,481,610  12,929,768  1,190,628  739,602,006  734,204,423  12,929,768  1,190,628  748,324,819 

Changes due to origination and 
acquisition  –    –    –    –    213,458,732  1,218,071  66,700  214,743,503  213,458,732  1,218,071  66,700  214,743,503 

Changes due to transfers between 
Stage 1 and Stage 2, (net) – –  –    –    2,877,684 -2,877,684  –    –    2,877,684 -2,877,684 –  –   

Changes due to transfers between 
Stage 2 and Stage 3, (net)  –    –   – –  –    52,077 -52,077  –    –    52,077 -52,077  –   

Changes due to transfers between 
Stage 1 and Stage 3, (net)  –    –    –    –    85,245  –   -85,245  –    85,245  –   -85,245  –   

Changes due to repayments and 
disposals -24,892 –  –   -24,892 -183,339,050 -3,046,503 -681,230 -187,066,783 -183,363,942 -3,046,503 -681,230 -187,091,675 

Changes due to write-offs  –    –    –    –    –   – –  –    –   – –  –   

Other changes  3,235,313  –    –    3,235,313  13,529,571  813,298  731,067  15,073,936  16,764,884  813,298  731,067  18,309,249 

Closing balance  
at 31 Dec 2025  11,933,234  –    –    11,933,234  772,093,792  9,089,027 

 
1,169,843  782,352,662  784,027,026  9,089,027 

 
1,169,843 

 
794,285,896 

Credit institutions The Public Total

SEK (000s) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2024 10,787,701 – – 10,787,701 696,221,765 19,861,655 774,868 716,858,288 707,009,466 19,861,655 774,868 727,645,989

Changes due to origination and 
acquisition 10,056 – – 10,056 171,151,744 3,264,157 56,161 174,472,062 171,161,800 3,264,157 56,161 174,482,118

Changes due to transfers between 
Stage 1 and Stage 2, (net) – – – – 6,040,920 -6,040,920 – – 6,040,920 -6,040,920 – –

Changes due to transfers between 
Stage 2 and Stage 3, (net) – – – – – -88,577 88,577 – – -88,577 88,577 –

Changes due to transfers between 
Stage 1 and Stage 3, (net) – – – – -96,625 – 96,625 – -96,625 – 96,625 –

Changes due to repayments and 
disposals -2,881,772 – – -2,881,772 -163,160,598 -5,655,483 -354,253 -169,170,334 -166,042,370 -5,655,483 -354,253 -172,052,106

Changes due to write-offs – – – – – – -8,712 -8,712 – – -8,712 -8,712

Other changes 806,828 – – 806,828 15,324,404 1,588,936 537,362 17,450,702 16,131,232 1,588,936 537,362 18,257,530

Closing balance at  
31 Dec 2024 8,722,813 – – 8,722,813 725,481,610 12,929,768 1,190,628 739,602,006 734,204,423 12,929,768 1,190,628 748,324,819
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Movement of allowance accounts for loans measured at amortised cost
Credit institutions The Public Total

SEK (000s) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2025 – – – – -165,396 -138,600 -140,443 -444,439 -165,396 -138,600 -140,443 -444,439 

Changes due to origination and acquisition – – – – -49,697 -11,454 -3,708 -64,859 -49,697 -11,454 -3,708 -64,859 

Changes due to transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 – – – –  4,528 -34,781  –   -30,253  4,528 -34,781  –   -30,253 

Changes due to transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 – – – –  296  –   -14,947 -14,651  296  –   -14,947 -14,651 

Changes due to transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 – – – – -3,305  64,101  –    60,796 -3,305  64,101  –    60,796 

Changes due to transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 – – – –  –    7,091 -11,229 -4,138  –    7,091 -11,229 -4,138 

Changes due to transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 – – – – -53  –    10,907  10,854 -53  –    10,907  10,854 

Changes due to transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 – – – –  –   -1,149  12,541  11,392  –   -1,149  12,541  11,392 

Changes due to changes in credit risk without  
stage transfer -8 – – -8  34,300  9,836 -17,798  26,338  34,292  9,836 -17,798  26,330 

Changes due to repayments and disposals  –   – –  -    33,846  25,999  51,907  111,752  33,846  25,999  51,907  111,752 

Write-off through decrease in allowance account  –   – –  –   – –  –   – –  –   – –

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2025 -8 – – -8 -145,481 -78,957 -112,770 -337,208 -145,489 -78,957 -112,770 -337,216 

Credit institutions The Public Total

SEK (000s) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2024 – – – – -52,168 -150,116 -116,044 -318,328 -52,168 -150,116 -116,044 -318,328

Changes due to origination and acquisition – – – – -49,047 -17,085 -4,291 -70,423 -49,047 -17,085 -4,291 -70,423

Changes due to transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 – – – – 2,329 -69,456 – -67,127 2,329 -69,456 – -67,127

Changes due to transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 – – – – 162 – -34,748 -34,586 162 – -34,748 -34,586

Changes due to transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 – – – – -7,428 81,298, – 73,870 -7,428 81,298 – 73,870

Changes due to transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 – – – – – 7,443 -35,087 -27,644 – 7,443 -35,087 -27,644

Changes due to transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 – – – – -85 – 15,597 15,512 -85 – 15,597 15,512

Changes due to transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 – – – – – -5,163 16,957 11,794 – -5,163 16,957 11,794

Changes due to changes in credit risk without  
stage transfer – – – – -72,731 -17,556 -18,431 -108,718 -72,731 -17,556 -18,431 -108,718

Changes due to repayments and disposals – – – – 13,572 32,035 33,315 78,922 13,572 32,035 33,315 78,922

Write-off through decrease in allowance account – – – – – – 2,289 2,289 – – 2,289 2,289

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2024 – – – – -165,396 -138,600 -140,443 -444,439 -165,396 -138,600 -140,443 -444,439 

Assets subject to enforcement activities

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Amount outstanding on financial assets that were written off during the reporting period and are still subject  
to enforcement activities 16,926 4,328
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Rating/scoring information on loans measured at amortised cost

31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Gross carring amount, SEK (000s) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

7+  13,932,360  24,584  –  13,956,944  7,607,193  –    –    7,607,193 

7  9,523,882  –    –    9,523,882  4,440,492  –    –    4,440,492 

7–  –    –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

6+ / A+  103,768,357  89,259  –    103,857,616  105,931,727  227,917  1,652  106,161,296 

6 / A  404,728,028  709,197  8,527  405,445,752  247,132,706  643,883  –    247,776,589 

6– / A–  11,867,013  45,440  –    11,912,453  132,407,311  458,210  2,570  132,868,090 

5+ / B+  70,626,017  332,027  1,939  70,959,983  9,001,070  65,879  –    9,066,949 

5 / B  4,557,405  15,779  –    4,573,184  66,389,324  530,883  1,222  66,921,429 

5– / B–  7,420,648  58,198  –    7,478,846  46,662,448  463,708  90  47,126,246 

4+ / C+  66,425,936  390,830  5,266  66,822,032  15,591,702  2,853,678  –    18,445,379 

4 / C  36,154,945  468,974  3,207  36,627,126  45,290,774  556,278  –    45,847,052 

4– / C–  10,267,814  249,622  –    10,517,436  11,552,839  68,274  –    11,621,112 

3+ / D+  17,956,068  1,180,473  9,070  19,145,611  16,154,066  654,242  3,309  16,811,617 

3 / D  985,681  114,837 –  1,100,518  8,452,714  1,007,777  4,214  9,464,706 

3– / D–  7,040,996  982,488  –    8,023,484  457,439  40,522  –    497,961 

2+ / E+  573,583  203,247  –    776,830  4,160,775  2,042,714  10,772  6,214,261 

2 / E  3,262,765  1,400,965  1,651  4,665,381  53,163  30,189  –    83,352 

2– / E–  1,400,233  1,133,623  423  2,534,279  1,617,929  1,414,325  822  3,033,076 

1+ / F+  216,858  156,184  2,612  375,654  802,460  934,994  4,828  1,742,282 

1 / F  825,369  791,333  4,480  1,621,182  360,386  522,952  975  884,313 

1– / F–  483,493  610,355  –    1,093,848  161,628  259,482  12,627  433,738 

0+ / 0 / 0–  470,787  131,612  1,132,667  1,735,066  386,867  153,142  1,147,545  1,687,555 

Internal1  10,843,448  –    –    10,843,448  8,722,812  –    –    8,722,812 

Standardised/unrated  695,341  –    –    695,341  866,597  720  –    867,317 

Total  784,027,027  9,089,027  1,169,842  794,285,896  734,204,424  12,929,768  1,190,628  748,324,819 

1) This refers to exposures to Nordea Bank Abp filial in Sweden.

Key ratios

31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Impairment rate (stage 3), gross1, basis points  14.7 15.9

Impairment rate (stage 3), net2, basis points 13.3 14.0

Total allowance rate (stage 1, 2 and 3)3, basis points 4.2 5.9

Allowances in relation to impaired loans (stage 3)4, % 9.6 11.8

Allowances in relation to loans in stage 1 and 25, basis points 2.8 4.1

1)  Impaired loans (category 3) before allowances divided by total loans, measured at amortised cost, before allowances.
2)  Impaired loans (category 3) after allowances divided by total loans, measured at amortised cost, before allowances.
3)  Total allowances divided by total loans, measured at amortised cost, before allowances.
4)  Allowances for impaired loans (category 3) divided by impaired loans measured at amortised cost (category 3), before allowances.
5) � Allowances for performing loans (category 2) divided by performing loans measured at amortised cost (categories 1 and 2), before allowances.

Note 12  Interest-
bearing securities

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

States, municipalities and other public bodies 12,020,661 11,812,292

Mortgage institutions 5,310,053 6,213,034

Other credit institutions 2,027,550 2,023,288

Total 19,358,264 20,048,614

Provisions for credit risks amount to SEK 282k (352 k).
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Note 13  Derivatives 
and Hedge accounting
Nordea Hypotek enters into derivatives for trading and risk 
management purposes. Derivatives held for risk manage-
ment purposes include hedges that either meet the hedge 
accounting requirements or hedges that are economic 
hedges, but do not meet the hedge accounting requirements.

The fair value and nominal amount of derivatives in this 
note represent derivatives before offsetting between assets 
and liabilities on the balance sheet (gross amount) and not 
as earlier after offsetting. The reason is that the gross 
amount better reflects Nordea’s exposure.

The table below shows the fair values of derivative finan-
cial instruments together with their notional amounts. The 
notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions out-
standing at the year end and are not indicative of either the 
market or credit risk.

Fair value
Total nom. 

amount31 Dec 2025, SEKm Positive Negative

Derivatives not used for  
hedge accounting – 130 19,655

Derivatives used for  
hedge accounting 4,724 2,568 461,512

Total gross amount 4,724 2,698 481,167

Offset amount – – –

Total derivatives 4,724 2,698 481,167

Fair value
Total nom. 

amount31 Dec 2024, SEKm Positive Negative

Derivatives not used for  
hedge accounting 10 174 18,050

Derivatives used for  
hedge accounting 5,624 4,137 503,487

Total gross amount 5,634 4,311 521,537

Offset amount – – –

Total derivatives 5,634 4,311 521,537

Derivatives not used for hedge accounting

Fair value
Total nom. 

amount31 Dec 2025, SEKm Positive Negative

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps – 130 19,655

Options – – –

Total – 130 19,655

Fair value
Total nom. 

amount31 Dec 2024, SEKm Positive Negative

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 10 174 18,050

Options – – –

Total 10 174 18,050

Derivatives used for hedge accounting

Fair value
Total nom. 

amount31 Dec 2025, SEKm Positive Negative

Fair value hedges 4,698 2,433 457,668

Cash flow hedges 26 135 3,844

Total 4,724 2,568 461,512

Fair value
Total nom. 

amount31 Dec 2024, SEKm Positive Negative

Fair value hedges 5,447 4,128 499,501

Cash flow hedges 177 8 3,986

Total 5,624 4,136 503,487

Hedge Accounting
Interest rate risk 
As part of Nordea Hypotek’s risk management strategy, the 
Board has established limits on the interest rate sensitivities 
for the interest rate gaps in business, as set out in Risk, 
Liquidity and Capital Management. These limits are consist-
ent with the Nordea Hypotek’s risk appetite and Nordea 
Hypotek aligns its hedge accounting objectives to keep 
exposures within those limits. Nordea Hypotek’s policy is to 
monitor positions on a daily basis. For further information on 
measurement of risks and sensitivities, see Risk, Liquidity 
and Capital Management.

For hedge accounting relationships related to interest rate 
risk, the hedged risk is the change in the fair value of the 
hedged item due to changes in benchmark interest rates. 
The hedge ratio is established by matching the notional of 
the derivatives against the principal of the hedged items.

In order to hedge and manage the risk and limit the 
impact on Nordea Hypotek’s margins, profit or loss and 
equity, Nordea uses hedging instruments to swap interest 
rate exposures into either fixed or variable rates.

Nordea Hypotek has identified the following risk compo-
nents in hedged items:
•	 benchmark interest rate risk as a component of interest 

rate risk, for example Libor and Stibor. Benchmark interest 
rate risk as a component of interest rate risk, i.e. IBORs 
which also include new alternative reference rates (ARR) 
such as SOFR, ESTR or SONIA. Using the benchmark inter-
est rate risk can result in other risks, such as credit risk and 
liquidity risk, being excluded from the hedge accounting 
relationship; and

•	 components of cashflows of hedged items.

The benchmark interest rate risk is determined as a change 
in the present value of the future cash flows using bench-
mark discount curves. The benchmark interest rate risk is 
separately identifiable and reliably measurable and is typi-
cally the most significant component of the overall change in 
fair value or cash flows.

Fair vallue hedges
Nordea Hypotek enters into interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency interest rate swaps in order to reduce or elim-
inate changes in the fair value of the hedged items due to 
interest rate risk.

Hedged items are fixed rate financial assets and liabilities 
in both local and foreign currencies such as loans, FVOCI 
debt securities, deposits and debt securities in issue.
Hedging instruments are interest rate swaps and crosscur-
rency interest rate swaps (the portion related to interest rate 
risk is designated in fair value hedge relationships).
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Note 13  Derivatives and Hedge accounting, cont.

Nordea Hypotek applies fair value hedge accounting both 
at micro level at which one hedged item is hedged using one 
or several hedging instruments and at portfolio level where 
groups of items are hedged using multiple hedging instru-
ments. Nordea Hypotek applies fair value hedge accounting 
at micro level for hedging of fixed-rate FVOCI debt securities 
and fixed-rate debt securities in issue.	

Portfolio fair value hedge accounting is applied for hedg-
ing of loans and deposit, where fixed-rate loans and term 

deposits are initially offset and the residual exposure hedged 
using a portfolio of interest rate swaps up to the designated 
portion of either the net asset or liability in a given time 
bucket. For hedge effectiveness testing Nordea Hypotek 
uses both critical terms matching (for prospective effective-
ness testing) and regression analysis (for retrospective effec-
tiveness testing).

The table below presents the accumulated fair value adjustments arising from continuing hedge relationships, irrespective of 
whether or not there has been a change in hedge designation during the year. 

Hedged items 

Interest rate risk 2025 Interest rate risk 2024

SEKm

Carrying amount  
of hedged  

assets/liabilities

of which accumulated 
amount of fair value hedge 

adjustment1,2

Carrying amount  
of hedged  

assets/liabilities

of which accumulated 
amount of fair value hedge 

adjustment1,2

Fair value hedges

Loans to the public 129,320 242 164,620 -316

Interest-bearing securities2 7,402 – 6,437 –

Assets 136,722 242 171,057 -316

Debt securitites in issue 322,117 1,586 324,301 142

Liabilities 322,117 1,586 324,301 142

1) � The balance sheet row “Fair value changes of the hedged items in hedges of interest rate risk” has been split on the individual rows in this column.
2)  Of which is related to discontinued hedges of interest rate risk.

The following table provides information about the hedging instruments included in the line item Derivatives on the balance   
sheet:

Hedging instruments

Fair value
Total nom. 

amount31 Dec 2025, SEKm Positive Negative

Fair value hedges

Interest rate risk 4,699 2,432 457,668

Fair value
Total nom. 

amount31 Dec 2024, SEKm Positive Negative

Fair value hedges

Interest rate risk 5,447 4,128 499,501

The below table presents the changes in the fair value of the hedged items and the changes in the fair value of the hedging 
instruments used as the basis for recognising ineffectiveness. These changes are recognised on the row “Net result from items 
at fair value” in the income statement.

Hedge ineffectiveness

Interest rate risk

SEKm 2025 2024

Fair value hedges

Changes in fair value of hedging instruments 866 1,341

Changes in fair value of hedged items used as basis for recognising hedge ineffectiveness -886 -1,365

Hedge ineffectiveness recognised in the income statement1, 2 -20 -24

1)  Recognised on the row Net result from items at fair value.
2)  When disclosing the hedge ineffectiveness, the valuation adjustments (CVA, DVA, FFVA) has not been considered.
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Note 13  Derivatives and Hedge accounting, cont.

Source of ineffectiveness include the following:
•	 A mismatch between the reset frequency of the swap and the benchmark frequency.
•	 The fair value of the floating leg of the swap on a date other than the reset date.

The maturity profile of Nordea Hypotek’s hedging instruments used to hedge interest rate risk (both fair value and cash flow 
hedge accounting) follows below:

Maturity profile of the nominal amount of hedging instruments

31 Dec 2025, SEKm
Payable on 

demand
Maximum  
3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years

More than  
5 years Total

Instrument hedging interest rate risk, – 17,236 115,340 323,409 1,683 457,668

Total – 17,236 115,340 323,409 1,683 457,668

31 Dec 2024, SEKm
Payable on 

demand
Maximum  
3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years

More than  
5 years Total

Instrument hedging interest rate risk, – 24,080 134,939 337,107 3,375 499,501

Total – 24,080 134,939 337,107 3,375 499,501

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instru-
ment will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
Foreign exchange risk (FX risk) from trading activities is lim-
ited through a VaR limit while FX risk from structural expo-
sures as described below are limited through a stress loss 
limit for the CET1-ratio impact from FX fluctuations in a sev-
ered but plausible stress scenario, see the Market risk section 
in the chapter “Risk, Liquidity and Capital management”.

Nordea Hypotek’s issuance of credits and borrowing can 
be denominated in the currency of the borrower or investor. 
Borrowing, investing and lending are not always executed in 
the same currency and thus exposes Nordea Hypotek to a 
foreign exchange risk. Differences in exposures to individual 
currencies that exist between different transactions are 
matched by predominantly entering into cross currency 
interest rate swaps. The currency component is designated 
as a cash flow hedge of currency risk and the interest com-
ponent as a fair value hedge of interest rate risk. Further 
information regarding hedge accounting can be found in 
Note 1 “Accounting policies”, section 8. 

For hedge accounting relationships related to currency 
risk, the hedged item is a foreign currency component. The 
hedging ration is one-to-one and is stablished by matching 
the notional l of the derivatives against the principle of the 
hedged item.

Cash flow hedges
For Nordea Hypotek’s cash flow hedge of interest rate risk 
relate to exposures to the variability in future interest pay-
ments and receipts due to the movement of benchmark 
interest rates on forecast transactions and on recognised 
financial assets and financial liabilities. This variability in 
cash flows is hedged by interest rate swaps, fixing the 
hedged cashflows according to Nordea’s policies and risk 
management strategy described in Note 1, section 8, and in 
the Market risk section in “Risk, Liquidity and Capital 
management”. 

There is an economic relationship between the hedged 
items and the hedging instruments as the terms of the inter-
est rate swaps match the terms of the future interest cash 
flows (i.e. notional amount and expected payment date). 
Changes in the valuation of swaps that are part of effective 
cash flow hedge relationships are recognised in cash flow 
hedge reserves.

The below tables provide information about the hedging 
instruments as well as the outcome of the cash flow hedges 

addressing currency risks including the notional and the car-
rying amounts of the hedging instruments and the changes 
in fair values used for measuring hedge ineffectiveness sepa-
rately showing the effective and ineffective portions.

Hedging instruments

Fair value
Total nom. 

amount31 Dec 2025, SEKm Positive Negative

Cash flow hedges 

Foreign exchange risk 26 135 3,844

Total derivatives used for  
hedge accounting 26 135 3,844

Fair value
Total nom. 

amount31 Dec 2024, SEKm Positive Negative

Cash flow hedges 

Foreign exchange risk 177 – 3,986

Total derivatives used for  
hedge accounting 177 – 3,986

The table below specifies the fair value adjustments arising 
from continuing hedge relationships, irrespective of whether 
there has been a change in hedge designation during the 
year. The table also presents the changes in fair value used 
to measuring hedge ineffectiveness separately showing the 
effective and ineffective portions.

Hedge ineffectiveness

Foreign exchange risk

SEKm 2025 2024

Cash flow hedges 

Changes in fair value of hedging instruments -239 547

Changes in fair value of hedged items used 
as basis for recognising hedge 
ineffectiveness 239 -547

Hedge ineffectiveness recognised in  
the income statement1,2 – –

Hedging gains or losses recognised in OCI -239 547

1)  Recognised on the row “Net result from items at fair value”.
2) � When disclosing the hedge ineffectiveness, the valuation adjustments CVA,  

DVA and FFVA have not been considered.
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Cash flow hedge reserve

Foreign exchange risk

SEKm 2025 2024

Balance at 1 Jan -4 2

Cash flow hedges:

Valuation gains/losses -239 547

Tax on valuation gains/losses 49 -113

Transferred to the income statement 239 -553

Tax on transfers to the income statement -49 114

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 0 -5

Total comprehensive income 0 -5

Balance at 31 Dec -3 -4

- �of which relates to continuing hedges for 
which hedge accounting is applied -3 -4

- �of which relates to hedging relationships for 
which hedge accounting is no longer applied – –

The maturity profile of Nordea Hypotek’s hedging instruments used to hedge foreign exchange risk (both fair value and cash 
flow hedge accounting) follows below:

Maturity profile of the nominal amount of hedging instruments

31 Dec 2025, SEKm
Payable on 

demand
Maximum  
3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years

More than  
5 years Total

Instrument hedging foreign exchange risk – 1,549 – – 2,295 3,844

Total – 1,549 – – 2,295 3,844

31 Dec 2024, SEKm
Payable on 

demand
Maximum  
3 months 3–12 months 1–5 years

More than  
5 years Total

Instrument hedging foreign exchange risk – 188 – 1,504 2,295 3,986

Total – 188 – 1,504 2,295 3,986

Note 14  Other assets

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Other assets1 156,671 1,162,698

1) � Largely refers to a settlement acount at the parent company regarding transactions 
not yet entered. 

Note 15  Prepaid expenses 
and accrued income

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Prepaid expenses 287 1,218

Total 287 1,218

Note 16  Deposits by 
credit institutions

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Swedish banks 381,253,391 321,845,275

Note 17  Debt securities 
in issue1

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Swedish bonds 393,061,920 405,297,284

Foreign securities 4,095,461 4,629,886

Total 397,157,381 409,927,170

1)  See “Specification to Notes”. 
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Note 18  Other liabilities

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Accounts payable 63,674 5,145

Liabilities, group contribution 2,369,915 2,380,723

Other liabilites1 262,353 1,038,351

Total 2,695,942 3,424,219

1) � Largely refers to a settlement account at the parent company regarding transactions 
not yet entered. 

Note 19  Accrued expenses 
and prepaid income

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Other accrued expenses 120,774 340,380

Prepaid income 585 949

Total 121,359 341,329
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Note 20  Provisions

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Commitments1 6,482 5,455

1)  For more information regarding off balance commitments, see Note 22 “Commitments”. 

Movements in provisions for off balance sheet items

SEK (000s) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2025 5,420 35 – 5,455

Changes due to origination and acquisition – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 – – – –

Changes due to changes in credit risk without stage transfer 1,020 7 – 1,027

Changes due to repayments and disposals – – – –

Write-off through decrease in allowance account – – – –

Other changes – – – –

Translation differences – – – –

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2025 6,440 42 – 6,482

SEK (000s) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Opening balance at 1 Jan 2024 4,458 28 – 4,486

Changes due to origination and acquisition – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 – – – –

Changes due to transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 – – – –

Changes due to changes in credit risk without stage transfer 962 7 – 969

Changes due to repayments and disposals – – – –

Write-off through decrease in allowance account – – – –

Other changes – – – –

Translation differences – – – –

Closing balance at 31 Dec 2024 5,420 35 – 5,455
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Rating/scoring information on credit commitments

31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

SEKm Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

7+  –    –    –    –   – – – –

7  –    –    –    –   – – – –

7–  –    –    –    –   – – – –

6+ / A+  7,195  –    –    7,195 5,176 – – 5,176

6 / A  37,704  –    –    37,704 20,330 – – 20,330

6– / A–  29  –    –    29 10,046 – – 10,046

5+ / B+  5,380  –    –    5,380 46 – – 46

5 / B  30  –    –    30 4,747 – – 4,747

5– / B–  29  –    –    29 2,935 – – 2,935

4+ / C+  4,219  –    –    4,219 753 – – 753

4 / C  1,296  –    –    1,296 1,265 – – 1,265

4– / C–  40  –    –    40 14 – – 14

3+ / D+  1,145  –    –    1,145 847 – – 847

3 / D  7  –    –    7 427 – – 427

3– / D–  397  –    –    397 3 – – 3

2+ / E+  –    14  –    14 – 237 – 237

2 / E  –    236  –    236 – 1 – 1

2– / E–  –    118  –    118 – 124 – 124

1+ / F+  –    6  –    6 – 62 – 62

1 / F  –    65  –    65 – 30 – 30

1– / F–  –    31  –    31 – 7 – 7

0+ / 0 / 0–  –    –    –    –   – – – –

Internal1  –    –    –    –   – – – –

Standardised/unrated  –    –    –    –   – – – –

Total  57,471  470  –    57,941 46,589 461 – 47,050

Note 21  Assets pledged as 
security for own liabilities

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Assets pledged for own liabilities 

Loans to the public 752,282,937 709,910,046

The above pledges certain to the 
following liability

Debt securities in issue 345,526,055 356,925,748

Assets pledged for own liabilities contain loans to credit 
institutions and loans to the public that have been registered 
as collateral for issued covered bonds. In the event of the 
company’s insolvency, the holders of these bonds have prior-
ity to the assets registered as collateral. 

Note 22  Commitments

SEK (000s) (nom. Amount) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Credit commitments1 57,941,066 47,049,967

Other commitments2 3,805,689 3,248,331

Total 61,746,755 50,298,298

1)  Credit commitments consist of new credit commitments, and credit commitments 
that increase the customer´s existing borrowings in connection with homebuying.

2)  Refers to loans granted yet unpaid.
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Note 23  Capital adequacy
Capital adequacy is a measure of the financial strength of a 
bank, usually expressed as a ratio of capital to risk-weighted 
assets. There is an international capital adequacy framework 
drawn up by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. 
Within the EU, the capital adequacy requirements are out-
lined in the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD), the Bank 
Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD) and the Capital 
Requirements Regulation (CRR). 

The capital adequacy rules stand on three pillars: 
•	 Pillar I – requirements for the calculation of RWA and 

Capital 
•	 Pillar II – rules for the Supervisory Review Evaluation Pro-

cess (SREP) including the Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP) 

•	 Pillar III – rules for the disclosure on risk and capital man-
agement, including capital adequacy 

Nordea Hypotek performs an ICAAP with the purpose to 
review the management, mitigation and measurement of 
material risks within the business environment in order to 
assess the adequacy of capitalisation and to determine an 
internal capital requirement reflecting the risks of the institu-
tion. The ICAAP is a continuous process which increases 
awareness of capital requirements and exposure to material 
risks throughout the organisation, both in the business area 
and legal entity dimensions. Stress tests are important driv-
ers of risk awareness, looking at capital and risk from a firm-
wide perspective on a regular basis and on an ad-hoc basis 
for specific areas or segments. The process includes a regular 
dialogue with supervisory authorities, rating agencies and 
other external stakeholders with respect to capital manage-
ment, measurement and mitigation techniques used. Nordea 
Hypotek’s capital levels continue to be adequate to support 
the risks taken, both from an internal perspective as well as 
from the perspective of supervisors. 

Common Equity Tier 1 capital and Tier 1 capital 
The capital recognised as Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) cap-
ital holds the ultimate characteristics for loss absorbance 
defined from a going concern perspective and represents the 
most subordinated claim in the event of liquidation. The Tier 
1 capital is defined as the sum of CET 1 capital and Additional 
Tier 1 (AT1) capital, where AT1 capital is the total of 
Additional Tier 1 instruments (hybrids) issued by the bank 
that fully meet CRR criteria. 

Additional Tier 1 instruments 
Additional Tier 1 instruments cannot normally be repaid until 
five years at the earliest after the loan was issued, and only 
upon decision by the Board of Directors of Nordea Hypotek 
and with the permission of the Swedish FSA. Furthermore, 
there are restrictions related to step-up conditions, order of 
priority, and interest payments under constraint conditions. 
For the AT1 instruments, conditions specify appropriation in 
order to avoid being obliged to enter into liquidation. 

Tier 2 capital 
Tier 2 capital must be subordinated to depositors and gen-
eral creditors of the bank. It cannot be secured or covered by 
a guarantee of the issuer or related entity or include any 
other arrangement that legally or economically enhances the 
seniority of the claim vis-à-vis depositors and other bank 
creditors. 

Tier 2 instruments 
Tier 2 instruments include two different types of subordi-
nated loan capital; undated loans and dated loans. The basic 
principle for subordinated debt in own funds is the order of 
priority in case of a default or bankruptcy situation. Under 
such conditions, the holder of the subordinated loan would 
be repaid after other creditors, but before shareholders. The 
share of outstanding loan amount possible to include in the 
Tier 2 capital related to dated loans is reduced if the remain-
ing maturity is less than five years. 
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These disclosures have been prepared in accordance with Part 8 of the CRR and applicable national regulations.

Key metrics

Available own funds (amounts), SEKm 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital 34,140 34,299

Tier 1 capital 34,140 34,299

Total capital 34,148 34,338

Risk-weighted exposures amounts (REA), SEKm

Total risk-weighted exposure amount 180,509 175,114

Capital ratios (as a percentage of risk-weighted exposure amount)

Common Equity Tier 1 ratio (%) 18.9 19.6

Tier 1 ratio (%) 18.9 19.6

Total capital ratio (%) 18.9 19.6

Additional own funds requirements to address risks other than the risk of excessive leverage (as a percentage 
of risk-weighted exposure amount)

Additional own funds requirements to address risks other than the risk of excessive leverage (%) 1.6 1.6

- of which: to be made up of CET1 capital (percentage points) 0.9 0.9

- of which: to be made up of Tier 1 capital (percentage points) 1.2 1.2

Total SREP own funds requirements (%) 9.6 9.6

Combined buffer requirement (as a percentage of risk-weighted exposure amount)

Capital conservation buffer (%) 2.5 2.5

Conservation buffer due to macro-prudential or systemic risk identified at the level of a Member State (%) 0.0 0.0

Institution specific countercyclical capital buffer (%) 2.0 2.0

Systemic risk buffer (%) – –

Global Systemically Important Institution buffer (%) – –

Other Systemically Important Institution buffer 1.0 1.0

Combined buffer requirement (%) 5.5 5.5

Overall capital requirements (%) 15.1 15.1

CET1 available after meeting the total SREP own funds requirements (%) 9.3 10.0

Leverage ratio

Leverage ratio total exposure measure 827,585 785,353

Leverage ratio 4.1 4.4

Additional own funds requirements to address risks of excessive leverage (as a percentage of leverage ratio 
total exposure amount)

Additional own funds requirements to address the risk of excessive leverage (%) – –

- of which: to be made up of CET1 capital (percentage points) – –

Total SREP leverage ratio requirements (%) 3.0 3.0

Leverage ratio buffer and overall leverage ratio requirement (as a percentage of total exposure measure)

Leverage ratio buffer requirement (%) – –

Overall leverage ratio requirement (%) 3.0 3.0

Liquidity Coverage Ratio

Total high-quality liquid assets (HQLA) (Weighted value -average) 19,258 19,472

Cash outflows – Total weighted value 11,178 3,934

Cash inflows – Total weighted value 19,660 2,950

Total net cash outflows (adjusted value) 2,794 983

Liquidity coverage ratio (%) 1,201 1,980

Net Stable Funding Ratio

Total available stable funding 621,550 579,450

Total required stable funding 555,512 529,889

NSFR ratio (%) 112 109
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Note 23  Capital adequacy, cont.

Minimum Capital Requirements, Pillar 2 Requirements & Capital Buffers

Capital Buffers

Percentage
 Minimum Capital 

requirement
Pillar II 

requirement2 CCoB CCyB O-SII SRB
Capital 

Buffers total1
Total 

requirement

Common Equity Tier 1 capital 4.5 0.9 2.5 2.0 1.0 0.0 5.5 10.9

Tier 1 capital 6.0 1.2 2.5 2.0 1.0 0.0 5.5 12.7

Own funds 8.0 1.6 2.5 2.0 1.0 0.0 5.5 15.1

SEKm

Common Equity Tier 1 capital 8,123 1,625 4,513 3,594 1,805 – 9,912 19,660

Tier 1 capital 10,831 2,166 4,513 3,594 1,805 – 9,912 22,909

Own funds 14,441 2,888 4,513 3,594 1,805 – 9,912 27,241

1)  Nordea Hypotek AB is not subject to any SRB capital buffer requirements. 
2) � In the SREP, the supervisor has informed Nordea Hypotek AB (publ) of its supervisory capital assessment where Pillar 2 is 1.6% in own funds requirement and 0.9% in CET1 

requirement. 
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Note 23  Capital adequacy, cont.

Credit risk exposures for which internal models are used, split by rating grade

SEKm
On-balance  

exposure, SEKm
Off-balance  

exposure, SEKm
Exposure value 

(EAD), SEKm1
of which EAD for 

off-balance, SEKm

Exposure- 
weighted average 

risk weight, %

Corporate, of which foundation IRB: 4,210 – 4,210 – 45.4

- of which rating grades 6 – – – – –

- of which rating grades 5 – – – – –

- of which rating grades 4 4,101 – 4,101 – 45.5

- of which rating grades 3 109 – 109 – 41.7

- of which rating grades 2 – – – – – 

- of which rating grades 1 – – – – –

- unrated – – – – –

- defaulted – – – – –

Corporate, of which advanced IRB: 138,207 – 130,745 – 16.1

- of which rating grades 6 85,975 – 83,640 – 5.7

- of which rating grades 5 12,987 – 8,357 – 24.8

- of which rating grades 4 35,484 – 35,378 – 36.0

- of which rating grades 3 2,654 – 2,654 – 33.5

- of which rating grades 2 157 – 155 – 50.4

- of which rating grades 1 386 – 365 – 80.7

- unrated 517 – 148 – 31.1

- defaulted 48 – 48 – 169.5

Institutions, of which foundation IRB: 7,337 – 7,337 – 5.0

- of which rating grades 6 6,935 – 6,935 – 5.0

- of which rating grades 5 402 – 402 – 5.2

- of which rating grades 4 – – – – –

- of which rating grades 3 – – – – –

- of which rating grades 2 – – – – –

- of which rating grades 1 – – – – –

- unrated – – – – –

- defaulted – – – – –

Retail, of which secured by real estate: 573,030 61,747 529,576 3,806 9.4

- of which scoring grades A 445,356 47,879 405,042 2,951 5.2

- of which scoring grades B 52,785 5,797 50,642 357 10.7

- of which scoring grades C 54,074 5,920 53,285 365 21.5

- of which scoring grades D 15,152 1,650 14,960 102 47.6

- of which scoring grades E 3,613 393 3,605 24 80.4

- of which scoring grades F 1,012 108 1,018 7 92.1

- not scored 83 – 82 – 0.5

- defaulted 955 – 942 – 93.2

Retail, of which other retail: 44,505 – 44,502 – 11.4

- of which scoring grades A 32,237 – 32,237 – 5.8

- of which scoring grades B 4,840 – 4,840 – 11.8

- of which scoring grades C 5,312 – 5,310 – 23.9

- of which scoring grades D 1,480 – 1,480 – 52.1

- of which scoring grades E 364 – 364 – 84.8

- of which scoring grades F 91 – 91 – 100.6

- not scored 8 – 8 – 0.5

- defaulted 173 – 173 – 119.6

Other non credit-obligation assets: 6 – 6 – 100.0

1) Includes EAD for on- and off-balance exposures, derivatives and securities financing.

Nordea Hypotek does not have the following IRB exposure classes: Equities, items representing holdings in securitised credit 
structures, sovereign and central bank credits, and qualifying revolving retail exposures.
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Note 24  Classification 
of financial instruments
Assets

31 Dec 2025, SEKm
Amortised  

cost (AC)

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss (FVPL)

Fair value  
through other 

comprehensive 
income (FVOCI)

Non-financial 
assets TotalMandatorily

Loans to credit institutions 11,933 – – – 11,933

Loans to the public 782,016 – – – 782,016

Interest-bearing securities – 9,568 9,790 – 19,358

Derivatives – 4,724 – – 4,724

Fair value changes of hedged items in  
hedges of interest rate risk 242 – – – 242

Deferred tax assets – – – 1 1

Current tax assets – – – 92 92

Other assets 151 – – 6 157

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 0 – – – 0

Total 794,342 14,292 9,790 99 818,523

Liabilities

31 Dec 2025, SEKm
Amortised  

cost (AC)

Financial liabilities 
at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVPL)

Non-financial 
liabilities TotalMandatorily

Deposits by credit institutions 381,254 – – 381,254

Debt securities in issue 397,157 – – 397,157

Derivatives – 2,698 2,698

Fair value changes of hedged items in hedges of interest rate risk – – – –

Current tax liabilities – – – –

Other liabilities 2,668 – 28 2,696

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 1 – 120 121

Deferred tax liabilities – – – –

Provisions 6 – – 6

Total 781,086 2,698 148 783,932

Assets

31 Dec 2024, SEKm
Amortised  

cost (AC)

Financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit or loss (FVPL)

Fair value  
through other 

comprehensive 
income (FVOCI)

Non-financial 
assets TotalMandatorily

Loans to credit institutions 8,723 – – – 8,723

Loans to the public 739,158 – – – 739,158

Interest-bearing securities – 10,425 9,624 – 20,049

Derivatives – 5,634 – – 5,634

Fair value changes of hedged items in  
hedges of interest rate risk -316 – – – -316

Deferred tax assets – – – 1 1

Current tax assets – – – 68 68

Other assets 1,155 – – 7 1,162

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1 – – – 1

Total 748,721 16,059 9,624 76 774,480
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Note 24  Classification of financial instruments, cont.

Liabilities

31 Dec 2024, SEKm
Amortised  

cost (AC)

Financial liabilities 
at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVPL)

Non-financial 
liabilities TotalMandatorily

Deposits by credit institutions 321,845 – – 321,845

Debt securities in issue 409,928 – – 409,928

Derivatives – 4,311 – 4,311

Fair value changes of hedged items in hedges of interest rate risk – – – –

Current tax liabilities – – 37 37

Other liabilities 3,420 – 4 3,424

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 1 – 340 341

Provisions 5 – – 5

Total 735,199 4,311 381 739,891

Note 25  Fair value
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

SEKm Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Financial assets

Loans 794,191 801,205 747,565 755,363

Interest-bearing securities 19,358 19,358 20,049 20,049

Derivatives 4,724 4,724 5,634 5,634

Other assets 151 151 1,155 1,155

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 0 0 1 1

Total 818,424 825,438 774,404 782,202

Financial liabilities

Deposits and debt instruments 778,411 780,549 731,773 732,423

Derivatives 2,698 2,698 4,311 4,311

Other liabilities 2,668 2,668 3,420 3,420

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 1 1 1 1

Provisions 6 6 5 5

Total 783,784 785,921 739,510 740,160

For information about valutation of items measured at fair 
value on the balance sheet, see Note 1 and the section 
”Determination of fair value on the balance sheet”. For infor-
mation about valuation of items not measured at fair value 
on the balance sheet, see the section ”Financial assets and 
liabilities not held att fair value on the balance sheet”.
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Note 25  Fair value, cont.

Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value on the balance sheet

31 Dec 2025, SEKm

Quoted prices in 
active markets for 

the same instrument 
(Level 1)

Valuation  
technique using 
observable data 

(Level 2)

Valuation  
technique using  
non-observable  

data (Level 3) Total

Assets at fair value on the balance sheet1

Interest-bearing securities – 19,358 – 19,358

Derivatives – 4,722 2 4,724

Total – 24,081 2 24,082

Liabilities at fair value on the balance sheet1

Derivatives – 2,698 – 2,698

Total – 2,698 – 2,698

1)  All items are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at the end of each reporting period. 

31 Dec 2024, SEKm

Quoted prices in 
active markets for 

the same instrument 
(Level 1)

Valuation  
technique using 
observable data 

(Level 2)

Valuation  
technique using  
non-observable  

data (Level 3) Total

Assets at fair value on the balance sheet1

Interest-bearing securities – 20,049 – 20,049

Derivatives – 5,634 – 5,634

Total – 25,683 – 25,683

Liabilities at fair value on the balance sheet1

Derivatives – 4,311 – 4,311

Total – 4,311 – 4,311

1)  All items are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at the end of each reporting period. 

Determination of fair values for items measured 
at fair value on the balance sheet
Fair value measurements of assets and liabilities carried at 
fair value have been categorised under the three levels of 
the IFRS fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy gives 
the highest priority to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the 
lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The catego-
risation of these instruments is based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its 
entirety.

Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy consists of assets and 
liabilities valued using unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. An active market for 
the asset or liability is a market in which transactions for the

asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and vol-
ume to provide pricing information on an on-going basis. 

Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy consists of assets and 
liabilities that do not have directly quoted market prices 
available from active markets. The fair values are based on 
quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets 
or quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in 
markets that are not active. Alternatively, the fair values are 
estimated using valuation techniques based on market 
prices or inputs prevailing at the balance sheet date and 
where any unobservable inputs have had an insignificant 
impact on the fair values. 

Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy consists of those types 
of assets and liabilities for which fair values cannot be 
obtained directly from quoted market prices or indirectly 
using valuation techniques or models supported by observa-
ble marketprices or rates. 

Complex valuation techniques are generally characterised 
by the use of unobservable and model-specific inputs. All 
valuation techniques, both simple and complex models, 
make use of market prices and inputs, which comprise 

interest rates, volatilities, correlations etc. Some of these 
prices and inputs are observable while others are not. For 
most non-exotic currencies, the interest rates are all observa-
ble, and implied volatilities and the correlations of the inter-
est rates and FX rates may be observable through option 
prices up to a certain maturity.

For interest-bearing securities, the valuation can either be 
based on direct quotes in active markets or measured using 
a valuation technique. 

For OTC derivatives, valuation techniques are usually 
developed in-house and based on assumptions about the 
behaviour of the underlying asset and on statistical scenario 
analysis. Most OTC derivatives are categorised as Level 2 in 
the fair value hierarchy, implying that all significant model 
inputs are observable in active markets.

The valuation processes for fair value measurements
Financial instruments
The valuation process in Nordea Hypotek consists of several 
steps. The first step is to determine the end of day (EOD) 
marking of mid-prices. It is the responsibility of the business 
areas to determine correct prices used for the valuation pro-
cess. These prices are either internally marked prices set by a 
trading unit or externally sourced prices. The valuation prices 
and valuation approaches are then controlled and tested by 
a valuation control function within the 1st line of defence, 
which is independent from the risk taking units in the front 
office. The cornerstone in the control process is the inde-
pendent price verification (IPV). The IPV test comprises veri-
fication of the correctness of valuations by comparing the 
prices to independently sourced data. The result of the IPV is 
analysed and any findings are escalated as appropriate. The 
verification of the correctness of prices and inputs is as mini-
mum carried out on a monthly basis and is for many prod-
ucts carried out daily. 
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Note 25  Fair value, cont.

Third-party information, such as broker quotes and pricing 
services, is used as benchmark data in the verification. The 
quality of the benchmark data is assessed on a regular basis. 

The valuation adjustment at portfolio level and the defer-
rals of day 1 P/L on Level 3 trades are calculated and 
reported on a monthly basis. The actual assessment of 
instruments in the fair value hierarchy is performed on a con-
tinuous basis.

Specialised teams within the risk organisation are respon-
sible for second line of defence oversight of valuations and 
controls performed by the business areas and Group Finance 
(the first line of defence).

Loans
The fair value of ”Loans to credit institutions” and ”Loans to 
the public” have been estimated by discounting the expected 
future cash flows with an assumed customer interest rate 
that would have been used on the market if the loans had 
been issued at the time of the measurement. The assumed 
customer interest rate is calculated as the benchmark inter-
est rate plus the average margin on new lending in Personal 
Banking, Business Banking and Large Corporates & 
Institutions respectively.

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 in 
the fair value hierarchy.

Interest bearing-securities
The fair value is SEK 19,358m (SEK 20,049m) categorised in 
Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 

Other assets and prepaid expences and accrued 
income 
The balance sheet items ”Other assets” and ”Prepaid 
expenses and accrued income” consist of short receivables, 
mainly accrued interest receivables. The fair value is there-
fore considered to equal the carrying amount and is catego-
rised into Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

Deposits and debt instruments
The fair value of ”Deposits by credit institutions” and ”Debt 
securities in issue” has been calculated as the carrying 
amount adjusted for fair value changes in interest rate risk 
and in own credit risk. The fair value is categorised into Level 
3 in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value changes related to 
interest rate risk is based on changes in relevant interest rates 
compared with corresponding nominal interest rate in the 
portfolios. The fair value changes in the credit risk is calcu-
lated as the difference between the credit spread in the nom-
inal interest rate compared with the current spread that is 
observed in the market. This calculation is performed on an 
aggregated level for all long term issuances recognised in the 
balance sheet item ”Debt securities in issue”. As the contrac-
tual maturity is short for ”Deposits by credit institutions” and 
”Deposits and borrowing from the public” the changes in 
Nordea Hypotek´s own credit risk related to these items is 
assumed not to be significant. This is also the case for short 
term issuances recognised in the balance sheet item ”Debt 
securities in issue”.

Other liabilities and accrued expenses 
and prepaid income
The balance sheet items ”Other liabilities” and ”Accrued 
expenses and prepaid income” consist of short-term liabili-
ties, mainly liabilities on securities settlement. The fair value 
is therefore considered to be equal to the carrying amount 
and is categorised into Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

Financial assets and liabilities not held at fair value on the balance sheet

31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

SEKm
Carrying  
amount Fair value

Level in fair  
value hierarchy

Carrying  
amount Fair value

Level in fair  
value hierarchy

Assets not held at fair value  
on the balance sheet

Loans 794,191 801,205 3 747,565 755,363 3

Other assets 151 151 3 1,155 1,155 3

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 0 0 3 1 1 3

Total 794,342 801,356 748,721 756,519

Liabilities not held at fair value  
on the balance sheet

Deposits and debt instruments 778,411 780,549 3 731,773 732,423 3

Other liabilities 2,668 2,668 3 3,420 3,420 3

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 1 1 3 1 1 3

Provisions 6 6 3 5 5 3

Total 781,086 783,224 735,199 735,849
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Note 26  Financial instruments set off on 
balance or subject to netting agreements

31 Dec 2025, SEKm
Gross recognised  

financial assets1

Gross recognised  
financial liabilities set  

off on the balance sheet

Net carrying  
amount on  

the balance sheet

Amounts not set off  
but subject to master  

netting agreements and  
similar agreements2  

Financial instruments Net amount

Assets

Derivatives 4,724 – 4,724 -2,698 2,026

Liabilities

Derivatives 2,698 – 2,698 -2,698 0

31 Dec 2024, SEKm
Gross recognised  

financial assets1

Gross recognised  
financial liabilities set  

off on the balance sheet

Net carrying  
amount on  

the balance sheet

Amounts not set off  
but subject to master  

netting agreements and  
similar agreements2  

Financial instruments Net amount

Assets

Derivatives 5,634 – 5,634 -4,323 1,311

Liabilities

Derivatives 4,311 – 4,311 -4,323 -12

1)  All amounts are measured at fair value.
2)  There are no items related to financial collateral (including cash collateral) in the company.

Enforceable master netting agreements 
and similar arrangements
The fact that financial instruments are being accounted for 
on a gross basis on the balance sheet, would not imply that 
the financial instruments are not subject to master netting 
agreements or similar arrangements. Generally financial 
instruments (derivatives and repos), would be subject to 

master netting agreements, and as a consequesnce Nordea 
Hypotek would be allowed to benefit from netting both in 
the ordinary course of business and in the case of default 
towards its counter parties, in any calculations involving 
counterparty credit risk. In the section “Counter Party risk 
and exposures” of the director’s report, the size of counter-
party risk at 31 December 2025 is set out. 

Note 27  Assets and liabilities 
in foreign currencies
The only exposure that Nordea Hypotek has in foreign currency is in euros (EUR). Currency exposure in other currency is 
driven by issuance in foreign currency, fully hedged by derivatives. The table belos shows the exposure in EUR translated 
into SEK.	

31 Dec 2025 SEKm
EUR exposure 

recalculated to SEKm

Assets

Derivatives 4,027

Other assets 3

Total assets 4,030

Liabilities

Debt securities in issue 4,096

Derivatives -68

Other liabilities 2

Total liabilities 4,030

31 Dec 2024 SEKm
EUR exposure 

recalculated to SEKm

Assets

Derivatives 4,547

Other assets 4

Total assets 4,551

Liabilities

Debt securities in issue 4,511

Derivatives -80

Other liabilities 120

Total liabilities 4,551
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Note 28  Maturity analysis 
for assets and liabilities

 Expected to be recovered or settled

Expected maturity 31 Dec 2025, SEKm Note
Within 12 

months After 12 months Total

Loans to credit institutions 11  11,933  –  11,933 

Loans to the public 11  108,164  673,851  782,015 

Interest-bearing securities 12  6,238  13,120  19,358 

Derivatives 13  981  3,743  4,724 

Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk  242  –  242 

Deferred tax receivable  –  1  1 

Current tax assets 10  92  –  92 

Other assets 14 158  –  158 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 15 0 0 0

Total assets  127,808  690,715  818,523 

Deposits by credit institutions 16  269,571  111,682  381,253 

Debt securities in issue 17  78,064  319,093  397,157 

Derivatives 13  891  1,807  2,698 

Fair value changes of hedged items in hedges of interest rate risk  –  –  – 

Current tax liabilities  –  –  – 

Other liabilities 18  2,697  –  2,697 

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 19  121  0  121 

Deferred tax liabilities 10  –  –  – 

Provisions 20  6  –  6 

Total liabilities  351,350  432,582  783,932

 Expected to be recovered or settled

Expected maturity 31 Dec 2024, SEKm Note Within 12 months After 12 months Total

Loans to credit institutions 11 8,723 – 8,723

Loans to the public 11 101,914 637,244 739,158

Interest-bearing securities 12 6,039 14,010 20,049

Derivatives 13 656 4,978 5,634

Fair value changes of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk -316 – -316

Deferred tax receivable – 1 1

Current tax assets 10 68 – 68

Other assets 14 1,162 – 1,162

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 15 1 – 1

Total assets 118,247 656,233 774,480

Deposits by credit institutions 16 229,385 92,460 321,845

Debt securities in issue 17 82,497 327,430 409,927

Derivatives 13 1,546 2,765 4,311

Fair value changes of hedged items in hedges of interest rate risk – – –

Current tax liabilities 37 – 37

Other liabilities 18 3,425 – 3,425

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 19 340 1 341

Deferred tax liabilities 10 – – –

Provisions 20 5 – 5

Total liabilities 317,235 422,656 739,891
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Note 28  Maturity analysis for assets and liabilities, cont.

Contractual undiscounted cash flows

31 Dec 2025, SEKm < 1 month 1–3 months 3–12 months 1–2 years 2–5 years 5–10 years >10 years Total

Loans to credit institutions 10,854  –  1,090  –  –  –  – 11,944

Loans to the public 10,619 20,523 108,690 57,831 104,563 120,848 861,792 1,284,866

Interest-bearing securities 2,178 1,728 4,167 7,194 6,012  –  – 21,279

Other financial assets, other than 
derivatives  –  –  –  –  –  – 7 7

Total non-derivative financial assets 23,651 22,251 113,947 65,025 110,575 120,848 861,799 1,318,096

Deposits by credit institutions 2,426 22,838 263,751 90,342  22,598  –  – 401,955

Debt securities in issue  13 2,239 84,642 120,709 210,026 2,754 517 420,900

- of which Debt securities in issue  13 1,901 83,687 94,843 184,851 2,754 517 368,566

- of which Other  – 338 955 25,866 25,175  –  – 52,334

Other non-derrivative financial liabilities 64  –  –  –  –  –  – 64

Total non-derivative financial liabilities 2,503 25,077 348,393 211,051 232,624 2,754 517 822,919

Derivatives, cash inflow 195 2,373 10,176 7,889 8,467 2,237 117 31,454

Derivatives, cash outflow 487 3,874 6,879 6,218 6,919 2,401 123 26,901

Derivatives, net cash flows -292 -1,501 3,297 1,671 1,548 -164 -6 4,553

Exposure 20,856 -4,327 -231,149 -144,355 -120,501 117,930 861,276 499,730

Cumulative exposure 20,856 16,529 -214,620 -358,975 -479,476 -361,546 499,730  – 

31 Dec 2024, SEKm < 1 month 1–3 months 3–12 months 1–2 years 2–5 years 5–10 years >10 years Total

Loans to credit institutions 8,723 – – – – – – 8,723

Loans to the public 10,360 22,763 103,860 61,313 103,463 134,475 917,262 1,353,496

Interest-bearing securities 406 53 6,635 7,110 9,429 – – 23,633

Other financial assets, other than 
derivatives – – – – – – 8 8

Total non-derivative financial assets 19,489 22,816 110,495 68,423 112,892 134,475 917,270 1,385,860

Deposits by credit institutions 661 2,724 232,621 93,031 – – – 329,037

Debt securities in issue – 443 90,162 118,283 222,287 4,120 526 435,821

- of which Debt securities in issue – 121 89,173 90,166 197,287 4,120 526 381,393

- of which Other – 322 989 28,117 25,000 – – 54,428

Other non-derrivative financial liabilities 6 – – – – – – 6

Total non-derivative financial liabilities 667 3,167 322,783 211,314 222,287 4,120 526 764,864

Derivatives, cash inflow 334 963 10,255 10,406 10,040 2,393 126 34,517

Derivatives, cash outflow 508 2,514 9,151 10,342 9,352 2,480 199 34,546

Derivatives, net cash flows -174 -1,551 1,104 64 688 -87 -73 -29

Exposure 18,648 18,098 -211,184 -142,827 -108,707 130,268 916,671 620,967

Cumulative exposure 18,648 36,746 -174,438 -317,265 -425,972 -295,704 620,967 –

The table is based on contractual maturities for on balance 
sheet financial instruments. For derivatives, the expected 
cash inflows and outflows are disclosed for both derivative 
assets and derivative liabilities, as derivatives are managed 

on a net basis. In addition to the on balance sheet and deriv-
ative instruments. Nordea Hypotek has credit commitments 
amounting to SEK 57,941m (SEK 47,050m). For further infor-
mation see Note 22 “Commitments”. 	
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Note 29  Related-party  
transactions
The information below is presented from a Nordea Hypotek perspective, meaning that the information show the effect from 
related party transationcs on the Nordea Hypotek figures.

Balance sheet

Nordea Group companies Other related parties1

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Assets

Loans to credit institutions 10,854,027 8,722,812  – –

Loans to the public2  – –  43,470 53,154

Derivatives 4,728,130 5,642,884 – –

Other assets 150,305 1,155,325 – –

Prepaid expenses and accrued income  – 1,218 – –

Total assets 15,732,462 15,522,239  43,470 53,154

Liabilities

Deposits by credit institutions 381,253,391 321,845,275 – –

Debt securities in issue 62,728,317 61,175,003 – –

Derivatives 2,697,408 4,311,248 – –

Other liabilities 2,638,478 3,422,951 – –

Prepaid income and accrued expenses 11,309 211,755 – –

Total liabilities 449,328,903 390,966,232 – –

Off balance3 461,512,154 503,486,860 – –

1) � Other related parties comprise close family members of key management personnel, as well as companies controlled or jointly controlled by key management personnel or by close 
family members of key management personnel. This also includes associated undertakings and joint ventures of Nordea Bank Abp, and key management personnel at Nordea Bank 
Abp as well as close family members of such key management personnel, as well as pension foundations of Nordea Hypotek.		

2)  Lending divided by collateral type: Single family properties SEKt 28,433 (39,090); Tentant-owner apartments SEKt 15,037 (14,065).		
3)  Including nominal values on derivatives. 		

Income statement

Nordea Group companies Other related parties1

SEK (000s) 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Interest income 590,561 4,703,492 1,080 1,692

Interest expense -9,690,111 -20,260,552 – –

Net fee and commission income -210,000 -194,952 – –

Net result from items at fair value 790,957 962,505 – –

General administrative expenses:

- Other expenses -1,808,294 -2,145,714 – –

Profit before loan losses -10,326,887 -16,935,221 1,080 1,692

1) � Other related parties comprise close family members of key management personnel, as well as companies controlled or jointly controlled by key management personnel or by close 
family members of key management personnel.

With the exception of compensation, certain loans and other commitments to key management, all related party transactions 
are made on the same criteria and terms as those of comparable transactions with external parties of similar standing.

Compensations and loans to key mangement personell
Compensation to key management personnel are specified in Note 6 “Staff costs”. 
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Note 30  Credit risk disclosures
Allowances for credit risk

SEKm Note 31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

Loans to credit institutions 11 – –

Loans to the public 11 337 444

Interest bearing securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income or amortised cost 12 0 0

Off balance sheet items 13 6 5

Total 344 450

Maximum exposure to credit risk

31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

SEKm Note

Amortised cost and  
Fair value through other 

comprehensive income

Financial assets at  
fair value through  

profit or loss 

Amortised cost and  
Fair value through other 

comprehensive income

Financial assets at  
fair value through  

profit or loss 

Loans to credit institutions 11 11,933 – 8,723 –

Loans to the public 11 782,016 – 739,158 –

Interest bearing securities 12 – 19,358 – 10,425

Derivatives 13 – 4,724 – 5,634

FV change of the hedged item in pf 
hedge of interest rate risk 242 – -316 –

Total 794,191 24,082 747,565 16,059

Loan-to-value ratio
A common way to analyse the quality of collateral in the portfolio is to measure the Loan-to-Value (LtV), i.e. the current expo-
sure divided by the market value of the collateral pledged. In the table below, the mortgage exposures are broken down into 
different LtV ranges. In 2025 the lending volume increased in all ranges apart from 70–80% and >85% compared with 2024. 

Retail mortgage exposure1

31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

SEKbn % SEKbn % 

<30 90.0 12 85.9 12

30-40 62.3 8 61.8 9

40-50 96.7 13 92.5 13

50-60 108.7 15 104.8 15

60-70 138.9 19 132.2 19

70-80 123.1 16 124.8 17

80-85 94.1 13 80.9 11

>85 27.6 4 28.4 4

Total 741.4 100 711.3 100

1)  Lending to the public sector customer segment is not included in the table above.

Loans to corporate customers, by size of loan

Size in SEKm 31 Dec 2025 % 31 Dec 2024 %

0–10 33,258 21 32,888 22

10–50 62,361 38 58,103 40

50–100 17,330 11 15,058 10

100–250 28,301 17 24,471 17

250–500 13,121 8 10,689 7

500– 8,333 5 6,122 4

Total 162,704 100  147,331 100
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Note 30  Credit risk disclosures, cont.

Past due loans, excluding impaired loans

31 Dec 2025 31 Dec 2024

SEKm
Corporate 
customers

Household 
customer

Corporate 
customers

Household 
customer

6–30 days 319 15 224 15

31–60 days 39 361 50 400

61–90 days 15 137 0 160

>90 days 8 557 0 368

Total 381 1,071 274 943

Past due not impaired loans divided by loans to the public after allowances, % 0.23% 0.17% 0.19% 0.16%

Forbearance
Forbearance is eased terms or restructuring due to the bor-
rower experiencing or about to experience financial difficul-
ties. The intention of granting forbearance for a limited time  
period is to ensure full repayment of the outstanding debt. 
Examples of eased terms are changes in amortisation profile,  
repayment schedule, customer margin as well as ease of 
covenants. Forbearance is undertaken on a selective and 
individual basis and followed by impairment testing (corpo-
rate customers) being a credit event. Individual loan loss 
provisions are recognised if necessary. Forbearance is 
approved according to the powers to act and forborne  
exposures can be performing or non-performing.

Sensitivities
One important factor in estimating expected credit losses in 
accordance with IFRS 9 is to assess what constitutes a signifi-
cant increase in credit risk. To understand the sensitivities for 
these relative triggers Nordea Hypotek has by using models 
calculated provisions based on two different scenarios:

Triggers Scenario 1 Scenario 2

Retail portfolios

Relative threshold 200% 150% 250%

Non-retail portfolios

Relative threshold 150% 100% 200%

Absolute 12 month threshold 20 bp 15 bp 25 bp

Absolute lifetime threshold 400 bp 350 bp 450 bp

Notching1  1–6 1 less 1 more

1)  For exposures with initial recognition before the transition to IFRS 9 (1 Jan 2018), 
stage classification is decided based on changes in rating grades. The trigger in 
scenario 1 is set at one noth less than in the model actually used and in scenario 2 
the trigger is set at one noth more than in the model used. 

The provisions would have increased by SEK 0.1m in scenario 
1 and decreased by SEK 0.1m in scenario 2. 

The provisions are sensitive to rating migration ecen if 
triggers are not reached. The table below shows the impact 
on provisions from a one notch downgrade on all exposures. 
It includes both the impact of the higher risk for all expo-
sures as well as the impact of transferring from Stage 1 to 
Stage 2 for those exposures that reach the trigger. 

31 Dec 2025, SEK (000s)
Recognised 

provisions
Provisions if one 

notch downgrade

Business Banking 92,468 135,823

Personal Banking 9,234 17,321

Large Corporates & Institutions 128 271

Other 8,866 11,379

Total 110,696 164,795

31 Dec 2024, SEK (000s)
Recognised 

provisions
Provisions if one 

notch downgrade

Business Banking 121,788 173,751

Personal Banking 13,092 23,219

Large Corporates & Institutions 143 4,229

Other 9,351 9,521

Total 144,374 210,720

Forward-looking information 
Forward-looking information is used for both assessing sig-
nificant increases in credit risk and calculating expected 
credit losses. Nordea uses three macroeconomic scenarios: a 
baseline scenario, a favourable scenario and an adverse sce-
nario. During the first half of 2025, in response to escalated 
trade tensions and heightened macroeconomic uncertainty, 
Nordea temporarily applied a 100% weighting to the adverse 
scenario in its expected credit loss (ECL) calculations. As 
uncertainty diminished in the third quarter, Nordea reverted 
to its standard scenario weightings: baseline 60%, adverse 
20% and favourable 20% (the same weighting as at the end 
of 2024).

The macroeconomic scenarios are provided by Group Risk 
in Nordea, based on the Oxford Economics Model and reflect 
Nordea’s view of how the Nordic economies might develop 
in light of continued geopolitical uncertainty, evolving trade 
policies, and weak growth in major European economies. 
When developing the scenarios and determining the relative 
weighting between them, Nordea takes into account projec-
tions made by Nordic central banks, Nordea Research and 
the European Central Bank.

The baseline scenario sees moderate growth in the Nordic 
economies in 2026 supported by lower inflation and lower 
interest rates. Meanwhile, the uncertainty around foreign 
trade has receded with the conclusion of the EU-US trade 
agreement. The expansion is expected to continue in 
Denmark, Finland and Sweden in 2027 and 2028. The excep-
tion is Norway, where economic growth in the coming years 
is expected to be near zero due to falling investments in the 
off-shore sector, while growth in the mainland economy will 
continue at a modest pace.
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Note 30  Credit risk disclosures, cont.

The accelerating pace of growth is expected to drive 
unemployment lower in Finland and Sweden, while unem-
ployment in Denmark and Norway will remain largely 
unchanged. Home prices are expected to continue growing 
in the coming years, supported by lower interest rates. The 
risks around the baseline forecast are tilted to the downside, 
with the upside scenario deviating less from the baseline 
than the adverse.

Nordea’s two alternative macroeconomic scenarios cover 
a range of plausible risk factors which may cause growth to 
deviate from the baseline scenario. A further escalation of 
geopolitical tensions or a renewed surge in energy prices 
could trigger a European and Nordic recession as firms post-
pone investments, exports slow down and households cut 
spending due to weakening labour markets. Central banks 
may, in such a scenario, regard the inflationary impulse as 
temporary and continue cutting interest rates, with rates 
moving lower than in the baseline in 2026. Conversely, 

normalizing inflation and lower interest rates may lead to a 
stronger recovery than assumed in the baseline scenario. 

At the end of the year adjustments to model-based allow-
ances/provisions amounted to SEK 233m, including manage-
ment judgement allowances of SEK 229 m.

The management judgement allowance of SEK 229m is 
intended to cover excess losses from macroeconomic shocks 
and uncertainties that are regarded as extraordinary in rela-
tion to a normal contraction in the economic cycle, and are 
therefore not adequately captured by the existing IFRS 9 ECL 
modelling and known IFRS 9 model and data issues to be 
captured in later model updates. 

The uncertainties are mainly connected to geopolitical 
and macro-economic conditions. The level at the end of 2025 
compared to the end of 2024 was decreased by SEK 59m 
reflecting a continued decline in the financial and economic 
risks influencing loan losses, driven by decreased uncertainty 
and the persistence of strong credit quality.

Scenarios and provisions	

31 Dec 2025 2026 2027 2028

Unweighted 
ECL  

SEK (000s)
Probability 

weight, %

Model based 
provisions  

SEK (000s)

Adjustments 
model based- 

provisions  
SEK (000s)

Total 
provisions  

SEK (000s)

Favourable scenario GDP growth, % 3.6 3.0 2.2

Unemployment, % 8.1 7.5 7.0

Change in household 
consumption, % 3.2 2.9 2.6 105,840 20

Change in house prices, % 5.6 4.7 2.3

Base scenario GDP growth, % 2.5 2.1 2.1

Unemployment, % 8.4 7.9 7.5

Change in household 
consumption, % 2.9 2.5 2.5 108,489 60 110,696 233,285 343,981

Change in house prices, % 2.7 4.6 2.0

Adverse scenario GDP growth, % -1.5 1.6 1.6

Unemployment, % 11.4 11.1 10.6

Change in household 
consumption, % 0.8 0.9 1.6 122,171 20

Change in house prices, % -4.1 0.6 1.9

31 Dec 2024 2025 2026 2027

Unweighted 
ECL  

SEK (000s)
Probability 

weight, %

Model based 
provisions  

SEK (000s)

Adjustments 
model based- 

provisions  
SEK (000s)

Total 
provisions  

SEK (000s)

Favourable scenario GDP growth, % 3.5 2.6 1.8

Unemployment, % 8.0 7.6 7.6

Change in household 
consumption, % 3.1 3.2 3.0 139,015 20

Change in house prices, % 5.1 2.9 2.0

Base scenario GDP growth, % 2.1 2.3 1.8

Unemployment, % 8.4 8.0 8.0

Change in household 
consumption, % 2.8 2.9 2.9 141,586 60 144,374 305,872 450,246

Change in house prices, % 3.6 2.6 2.0

Adverse scenario GDP growth, % -1.8 1.3 1.8

Unemployment, % 10.7 10.6 10.4

Change in household 
consumption, % 1.1 1.5 2.3 158,098 20

Change in house prices, % -3.2 0.6 2.0
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Note 31  Proposed 
distribution of earnings
After the company paid group contributions amounting to 
SEK 2,369,915,065 the following amount is available for dis-
truibution by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders:

Other reserve 12,207,360

Retained profit 32,587,685,734

Net profit for the year 1,880,447,996

Total 34,480,341,090

The Board of Directors proposes that these earnings  
are distributed as follows:	

To be carried forward

To be carried forward to: 34,480,341,090

It is the assessment of the Board of Directors that the pro-
posed group contribution is justifiable considering the 
demands with respect to the size of the Company’s equity, 
which are imposed by the nature, scope and risks, associated 
with the business, and the Company’s need for consolidation, 
liquidity and financial position in general.

Note 32  Sustainability 
report
Nordea Hypotek is also subject to sustainability reporting 
requirements (according to Chapter 7, section 31a of the 
Annual Accounts Act 1995:1554) and in this respect refers to 
the Group’s statutory sustainability report whih is found in 
the administration report of Nordea’s 2025 annual report. 
That sustainability report covers the Parent Company 
Nordea Bank Abp and its subsidiaries.

Note 33  Material events 
after the financial period
After the end of the year, Jessica Didrikson has left the 
Company’s Board of Directors. No other major events have 
occurred since 31 December 2025. However, there are risks 
associated with the heightened geopolitical tensions around 
the world that could have adverse effects on earnings 
through lower net interest income, increased loan losses and 
reduced business activity.



 

81Nordea Hypotek AB (publ) 556091-5448 Annual Report 2025

Specifications to the Notes
Specification to Note 17: Swedish bonds, SEK 000s

Number ISIN code First sales day
Interest  
rate in %

Due dates  
for interest

Final  
payment day Currency

Outstanding nominal 
amount 2025

5536 SE0013358439 2020-09-16 FIXED 0,5000 2026-09-16 2026-09-16 SEK  71,846,000 

5537 SE0013358447 2021-06-16 FIXED 1,0000 2026-06-16 2027-06-16 SEK  80,300,000 

5703 SE0004269363 2011-10-19 FIXED 3,4600 2026-10-19 2026-10-19 SEK  3,000,000 

5705 SE0004329506 2011-12-02 FIXED 3,1250 2026-12-02 2026-12-02 SEK  1,000,000 

5716 SE0007158597 2015-06-01 FIXED 1,8375 2026-06-01 2027-06-01 SEK  500,000 

5718 SE0009414584 2016-12-15 FIXED 1,6900 2026-12-15 2026-12-15 SEK  300,000 

5720 SE0011088772 2018-05-02 FIXED 1,8430 2026-05-02 2030-05-02 SEK  1,000,000 

5724 SE0011762137 2018-10-08 FIXED 1,8000 2026-10-08 2030-10-08 SEK  250,000 

5725 SE0010599373 2018-10-15 FIXED 2,2500 2026-10-15 2048-10-15 SEK  400,000

5728 SE0013358405 2019-10-22 FIXED 0,7925 2026-10-22 2032-10-22 SEK  500,000 

5730 SE0013358454 2022-01-26 FLOAT 3m Stibor + 0.75 2026-02-26 2027-02-26 SEK  1,000,000 

5731 SE0013360856 2022-11-25 FIXED 3,3750 2026-11-25 2027-11-25 SEK  6,000,000 

5538 SE0013360864 2022-09-20 FIXED 3,5000 2026-09-20 2028-09-20 SEK  81,776,000 

5733 SE0013361177 2023-10-04 FIXED 4,0000 2026-10-27 2028-10-27 SEK  6,000,000 

5732 SE0013361136 2023-09-20 FLOAT 3m Stibor + 0.50 2026-03-20 2028-09-20 SEK  1,750,000 

5539 SE0013361284 2023-10-26 FIXED 3,5000 2026-10-26 2029-10-26 SEK  54,350,000 

5734 SE0013361912 2024-10-08 FIXED 2,2690 2026-10-08 2029-10-08 SEK  6,000,000 

5540 SE0013362084 2024-11-26 FIXED 3,0000 2026-11-26 2030-11-26 SEK  17,100,000 

5735 SE0013362563 2025-11-26 FIXED 2,8000 2026-12-11 2030-12-11 SEK  7,000,000 

MREL loan

2703 HYPMREL2703 2024-12-18 FLOAT 3m Stibor + 0.51 2026-03-18 2027-03-18 SEK  25,000,000 

2803 HYPMREL2803 2025-12-18 FLOAT 3m Stibor + 0.48 2026-03-18 2028-03-17 SEK  25,000,000 

Tap issues (applies to 5535-5540, 5732-5735)
Quarterly payment of interest, first payment date in table (applies to 5730,5732,2703,2803)

Loan 5536-5540, 5703-5725, 5728, 5731, 5733, 5734,5735: No interest rate adjustment.	

Registered Covered Bond (Loans issued in foreign currency), SEK 000s

ISIN code Issue day Final payment day Interest rate, % Currency
Outstanding nominal 

amount in currency, 20251

FI4000577184 2024-07-04 2031-07-04
3m Euribor + 

0.33% EUR 2,163,566

Total other bond issued, unlisted EUR 1,784,942

Total other bonds issued (converted to SEK) 3,948,507

1) The currency exposure and interest rate have been changed by using currency and interest rate swaps
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Signing of the Annual Report
It is hereby certified that, to the best of our knowledge, the annual report has been prepared in accordance with sound 
accounting principles. The information provided gives a true and fair account of the development of the operations, financial 
position and result, and nothing of material significance has been omitted that would affect the presentation of the company 
created by the Annual Report.

Stockholm, 20 February 2026

Anders Nicander
Chairman

Peter Dalmalm
Deputy Chair

Adam Wastå
Board member

Elisabeth Olin
Board member

Tina Sandvik
Board member

Pia Tverin
Chief Executive Officer

Our audit report was submitted on 20 February 2026

BDO Mälardalen AB

Per Fridolin
Authorised Public Accountant

Auditor in charge
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Auditor’s report

Unofficial translation

To the general meeting of the shareholders of Nordea Hypotek Aktiebolag 
(publ), corporate identity number 556091-5448

Report on the annual accounts
Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts of Nordea Hypotek 
Aktiebolag (publ) for the year 2025 except for the corporate 
governance statement on pages 22-27

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act for Credit 
Institutions and Securities Companies and present fairly, in 
all material aspects, the financial position of Nordea Hypotek 
Aktiebolag (publ) as of December 31, 2025 and its financial 
performance and cash flow for the year then ended in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act for Credit 
Institutions and Securities Companies. Our opinions do not 
cover the corporate governance statement on pages 22-27. 
The Board of Director’s report is consistent with the other 
parts of the annual accounts. 

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of 
shareholders adopts the income statement and balance 
sheet. 

Our opinions in this report on the annual accounts are 
consistent with the content of the additional report that has 
been submitted to the Board of Directors in accordance with 
the Audit Regulation (537/2014) Article 11. 

Basis for opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing 
standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those stand-
ards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibility sec-
tion. We are independent of Nordea Hypotek Aktiebolag 
(publ) in accordance with professional ethics for accountants 
in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsi-
bilities in accordance with these requirements. This includes 
that, based on the best of our knowledge and belief, no pro-
hibited services referred to in the Audit Regulation 
(537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided to the audited 
company or, where applicable, its parent company or its con-
trolled companies within the EU. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
suffcient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. 

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters of the audit are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the annual accounts of the current period. These matters 
were addressed in the context of our audit of, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, the annual accounts as a whole, but we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Provision for Expected Credit Losses 
Information on this area is provided in the annual report – 
the Board of Directors’ report, Note 1 Accounting Policies, 
Note 9 Net loan losses, and Note 11 Loans and impairment.

As of 31 December 2025, Loans to the public totals SEK 
782,015 (previous year 739,158) million, corresponding to 
96% of the company’s total assets. The provision for 
expected credit losses amounts to SEK 337 (previous year 
444) million, of which SEK 229 (previous year 288) million 
represents management’s judgement-based adjustments.

Description of the area
Loan receivables are classified into three stages, under IFRS 
9, based on the level of credit risk or change in credit risk: 
Stage 1 for loans without significant increase in credit risk 
with losses calculated for expected defaults within 12 
months; Stage 2 for loans with significant increase in credit 
risk; and Stage 3 for credit-impaired loans with losses calcu-
lated for incurred and expected defaults over the remaining 
lifetime of the loan.

Expected credit losses are calculated using assumptions 
and estimates regarding the probability of default (“PD”), 
exposure at default (“EAD”), and loss given default (“LGD”). 

Management makes critical judgements and assumptions 
regarding, among other things, criteria for identifying when 
an exposure has experienced a significant increase in credit 
risk, estimates of macroeconomic scenarios used in statistical 
models, as well as estimates of the amount and timing of 
expected cash flows from customers under different scenar-
ios, including valuation of any collateral received. The com-
plexity of the calculations, the degree of management judge-
ment and model adjustments, and the materiality of the bal-
ance sheet item mean that the provision for expected credit 
losses is considered a key audit matter.

How the area has been addressed in the audit
Our audit consisted of a combination of procedures. We 
obtained an understanding of and tested the design of key 
controls related to the lending process, such as credit deci-
sions, credit reviews, rating classification, and collateral 
valuations.

Model calculated expected credit losses were reviewed by 
evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology used, 
testing the design of key controls, and performing sample 
testing of calculation accuracy. Modelling specialists were 
involved in the review.

We evaluated the reasonableness of the management 
judgement applied to the model calculated expected credit 
losses and verified that the adjustments were approved in 
accordance with established instructions

We also reviewed the disclosures in the financial state-
ments related to expected credit losses.

Other matters
The audit of the annual accounts for the prior financial year 
was performed by another auditor and who submitted an 
Auditor’s report dated  March 7, 2025, with unmodified opin-
ions in the Report on the annual accounts

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 
responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts and 
that they give a fair presentation in accordance with the 
Annual Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities 
Companies. The Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director are also responsible for such internal control as they 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual 
accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the annual accounts, the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director are responsible for the assess-
ment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
They disclose, as applicable, matters related to going con-
cern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The 
going concern basis of accounting is however not applied if 
the Board of Directors and the Managing Director intend to 
liquidate the company, to cease operations, or has no realis-
tic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the annual accounts as a whole are free from mate-
rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and gener-
ally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to infuence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these annual accounts. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the annual accounts, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of the company’s internal control 
relevant to our audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the company’s internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director. 

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ 
[and Managing Director’s] use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in preparing the annual accounts. We also 
draw a conclusion, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
as to whether any material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we con-
clude that a material uncertainty exists, We are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclo-
sures in the annual accounts or, if such disclosures are inad-
equate, to modify our opinion about the annual accounts. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause a company to cease to con-
tinue as a going concern. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the annual accounts, including the disclosures, and 
whether the annual accounts represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other mat-
ters, the planned scope and timing of the audit. We must 
also inform of significant audit findings during our audit, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identified.

We must also provide the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our inde-
pendence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of 
Directors and the Managing Director, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
annual accounts, including the most important assessed risks 
for material misstatement, and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in the Auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes disclosure about the 
matter. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts, we have also 
audited the administration of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director of Nordea Hypotek Aktiebolag (publ) for 
the year 2025 and the proposed appropriations of the com-
pany’s profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of shareholders 
that the profit be appropriated in accordance with the pro-
posal in the statutory Board of Director’s report and that the 
members of the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director be discharged from liability for the financial year. 

Basis for opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibility section. We are independent of Nordea 
Hypotek Aktiebolag (publ) in accordance with professional 
ethics for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise 
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
suffcient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for 
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss. At the pro-
posal of a dividend, this includes an assessment of whether 
the dividend is justifiable considering the requirements 
which the company’s type of operations, size and risks place 
on the size of the company’s equity, requirements, liquidity 
and position in general. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s 
organization and the administration of the company’s affairs. 
This includes among other things continuous assessment of 
the company’s financial situation and ensuring that the com-
pany’s organization is designed so that the accounting, man-
agement of assets and the company’s financial affairs other-
wise are controlled in a reassuring manner. The Managing 
Director shall manage the ongoing administration according 
to the Board of Directors’ guidelines and instructions and 
among other matters take measures that are necessary to 
fulfill the company’s accounting in accordance with law and 
handle the management of assets in a reassuring manner.
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Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and 
thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is to 
obtain audit evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of 
assurance whether any member of the Board of Directors or 
the Managing Director in any material respect: 
•	 has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omission 

which can give rise to liability to the company, or 
•	 in any other way has acted in contravention of the Compa-

nies Act, the Banking and Financing Business Act, the 
Annual Accounts Act for Credit Institutions and Securities 
Companies or the Articles of Association. 

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appropri-
ations of the company’s profit or loss, and thereby our opin-
ion about this, is to assess with reasonable degree of assur-
ance whether the proposal is in accordance with the 
Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always 
detect actions or omissions that can give rise to liability to 
the company, or that the proposed appropriations of the 
company’s profit or loss are not in accordance with the 
Companies Act. 

As part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise professional judg-
ment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. The examination of the administration and the pro-
posed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss is based 
primarily on the audit of the accounts. Additional audit pro-
cedures performed are based on our professional judgment 
with starting point in risk and materiality. This means that we 
focus the examination on such actions, areas and relation-
ships that are material for the operations and where devia-
tions and violations would have particular importance for the 
company’s situation. We examine and test decisions under-
taken, support for decisions, actions taken and other circum-
stances that are relevant to our opinion concerning discharge 
from liability. As a basis for our opinion on the Board of 
Directors’ proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or 
loss we examined whether the proposal is in accordance 
with the Companies Act. 

The auditor’s examination of the ESEF report  
Opinion
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts, we have also 
examined that the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director have prepared the annual accounts in a format that 
enables uniform electronic reporting (the ESEF report) pur-
suant to Chapter 16, Section 4(a) of the Swedish Securities 
Market Act (2007:528) for Nordea Hypotek Aktiebolag (publ) 
for the year 2025.

Our examination and our opinion relate only to the statu-
tory requirements. 

In our opinion, the ESEF report has been prepared in a 
format that, in all material respects, enables uniform elec-
tronic reporting. 

Basis for Opinion 
We have performed the examination in accordance with 
FAR’s recommendation RevR 18 Examination of the ESEF 
report. Our responsibility under this recommendation is 
described in more detail in the Auditors’ responsibility sec-
tion. We are independent of Nordea Hypotek Aktiebolag 
(publ) in accordance with professional ethics for accountants 
in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsi-
bilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 
responsible for the preparation of the ESEF report in accord-
ance with the Chapter 16, Section 4(a) of the Swedish 
Securities Market Act (2007:528), and for such internal con-
trol that the Board of Directors and the Managing Director 
determine is necessary to prepare the ESEF report without 
material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the ESEF report is in all material respects prepared in a for-
mat that meets the requirements of Chapter 16, Section 4(a) 
of the Swedish Securities Market Act (2007:528), based on 
the procedures performed.

RevR 18 requires that we plan and execute procedures to 
achieve reasonable assurance that the ESEF report is pre-
pared in a format that meets these requirements.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is 
not a guarantee that an engagement carried out according 
to RevR 18 and generally accepted auditing standards in 
Sweden will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to infuence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the ESEF report. 

The auditing firm applies International Standard on 
Quality Management (ISQM) 1, which requires the firm to 
design, implement and operate a system of quality manage-
ment including policies or procedures regarding compliance 
with ethical requirements, professional standards and appli-
cable legal and regulatory requirements. 

The examination involves obtaining evidence, through 
various procedures, that the ESEF report has been prepared 
in a format that enables uniform electronic reporting of the 
annual accounts. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement in the report, whether due to fraud or 
error. In carrying out this risk assessment, and in order to 
design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
the auditor considers those elements of internal control that 
are relevant to the preparation of the ESEF report by the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
those internal controls. The examination also includes an 
evaluation of the appropriateness and reasonableness of 
assumptions made by the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director. 

The procedures mainly include a validation that the ESEF 
report has been prepared in a valid XHTML format and a 
reconciliation of the ESEF report with the audited annual 
accounts. 

The auditor’s examination of the 
corporate governance statement 
The Board of Directors is responsible for that the corporate 
governance statement on pages 22-27 has been prepared in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.

Our examination of the corporate governance statement is 
conducted in accordance with FAR’s recommendation RevR 
16 The auditor’s examination of the corporate governance 
statement. This means that our examination of the corporate 
governance statement is different and substantially lesser in 
scope than an audit conducted in accordance with 
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International Standards on Auditing and generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. We believe that the examina-
tion has provided us with sufficient basis for our opinions.

A corporate governance statement has been prepared. 
Disclosures in accordance with chapter 6 section 6 the sec-
ond paragraph points 2-6 of the Annual Accounts Act and 
chapter 7 section 31 the second paragraph the same law are 
consistent with the other parts of the annual accounts and 

are in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act for Credit 
Institutions and Securities Companies.

BDO Mälardalen AB, Sveavägen 53, 102 35 Stockholm, 
was appointed auditor of Nordea Hypotek Aktiebolag (publ) 
by the general meeting of the shareholders on March 12, 
2025 and has been the company’s auditor since March 12, 
2025.

Stockholm on February 20, 2026

BDO Mälardalen AB

Per Fridolin
Authorized Public Accountant

This is a translation of the Swedish language original. In the event of any differences 
between this translation and the Swedish language original, the latter shall prevail.  
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Board of Directors, Auditor and Management

Board of Directors

Chairman
Anders Nicander, b 1980
Head of Personal Banking, Sweden,
Nordea Bank Abp
Board member, Getswish AB

Members

Peter Dalmalm, b 1968
Head of Business Banking, Sweden
Nordea Bank Abp

Elisabeth Olin, b 1961
External Board member

Tina Sandvik, b 1967 
Head of Products & Development
Personal Banking
Nordea Bank Abp

Adam Wastå, b 1983
Chief Financial Officer
Personal Banking
Nordea Bank Abp

Auditor

BDO Mälardalen AB 
Per Fridolin
Authorised Public Accountant

Management

Pia Tverin, b 1976
Chief Executive Officer  
Nordea Hypotek AB (publ)

Magnus Svensson, b 1979
Chief Financial Officer
Nordea Hypotek AB (publ)

Emma Söderberg, b 1978
Chief Risk Officer
Nordea Hypotek AB (publ)

Maria Stolpe, b 1969
Chief Operating Officer
Nordea Hypotek AB (publ)

Ida Näslund, b 1991
Business Risk Manager
Nordea Hypotek AB (publ)

Malin Fransson, b 1992
Head of Credit
Nordea Hypotek AB (publ)

Sinda Lanz, b 1984
Chief Compliance Officer
Nordea Hypotek AB (publ)

Upcoming publications
Nordea Hypotek’s Half-year Financial Report for 
the first half-year 2026 will be published on 24 
August 2026 by way of a stock exchange release 
and will also be available on nordea.com. 

Addresses
Nordea Hypotek AB (publ)
Visiting address:	 Smålandsgatan 15–17
Postal address:	 L8300, 105 71 Stockholm
Telephone:	 +46 771 40 10 60
Website:		 www.nordea.se

Org.no:	 556091-5448
LEI no: 	 5493000K2HPWIF6MFO29

Design and production: Narva Communications

http://www.nordea.se


Nordea Hypotek AB (publ)
Organization number: 556091-5448
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